

#### **HSBC** Bank plc

(A company incorporated with limited liability in England with registered number 14259) as Issuer

#### DEBT ISSUANCE PROGRAMME

On 23 June 1994 HSBC Bank plc (the "Bank" or the "Issuer") established a Debt Issuance Programme (the "Programme"). This Information Memorandum supersedes any previous information memorandum and supplementary listing particulars relating thereto. Any Notes (as defined below) issued under the Programme on or after the date of this Information Memorandum are issued subject to the provisions described herein. This does not affect any Notes already in issue.

Applications have been made to admit notes (the "Notes") issued under the Programme described in this Information Memorandum during the period of twelve months after the date hereof to listing on the Official List of the Financial Services Authority (in its capacity as competent authority for the purposes of Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA"), the "UK Listing Authority") and to trading on the London Stock Exchange plc (the "London Stock Exchange"). The Programme also permits Notes to be issued on an unlisted basis or to be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by such other or further listing authorities, stock exchanges and/or quotation systems as may be agreed with the Issuer.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933 as amended (the "Securities Act") or any state securities laws and, unless so registered, may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the benefit of U.S. persons as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act except pursuant to an exemption from or in a transaction not subject to the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws. The Notes may include Notes in Bearer Form that are subject to U.S. Tax Law requirements.

Programme Arranger and Dealer

**HSBC** 

EDX COMPANIES HOUSE 29 1510 3

HSBC Bank plc accepts responsibility for the information contained in this document. To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Bank, which has taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information contained in this Information Memorandum is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such information.

This Information Memorandum comprises listing particulars issued in compliance with the listing rules made under Section 74 of the FSMA (the 'Listing Rules') for the purpose of giving information with regard to the issue of Notes under the Programme during the period of twelve months after the date hereof. Copies of the listing particulars have been delivered for registration to the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales in accordance with Section 83 of the FSMA.

This Information Memorandum is to be read and construed with any amendment or supplement hereto (this document, as amended or supplemented, the "Information Memorandum"), with, in relation to any issue of Notes, the pricing supplement (each a "Pricing Supplement") relating thereto and with all documents incorporated by reference provided always that any such amendment or supplement and any such documents incorporated by reference shall not form part of the listing particulars contained in this document.

The dealer named under "Subscription and Sale" below (the "Dealer(s)", which expression shall include any additional dealers appointed under the Programme from time to time) and The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. (the "Trustee", which expression shall include any successor to The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. as trustee under the trust deed dated 23 June 1994 between, inter alia, the Bank and the Trustee (such Trust Deed as modified and restated by a supplemental trust deed dated 30 May 2002 and as further modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Trust Deed") have not separately verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no representation, warranty or undertaking, express or implied, is made and no responsibility is accepted by the Dealers or the Trustee as to the accuracy or completeness of this Information Memorandum or any document incorporated by reference herein or any further information supplied in connection with any Notes. The Dealers and the Trustee accept no liability in relation to this Information Memorandum or any documents incorporated by reference herein or their distribution or with regard to any other information supplied by or on behalf of the Bank.

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Information Memorandum or any documents incorporated by reference herein and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Bank, the Trustee or any of the Dealers.

Neither this Information Memorandum nor any documents incorporated by reference herein are intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by the Bank, the Trustee or any of the Dealers that any recipient of this Information Memorandum or any document incorporated by reference herein should purchase any of the Notes. Each investor contemplating purchasing Notes should make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs, and its own appraisal of the creditworthiness, of the Bank. No part of this Information Memorandum nor of any documents incorporated by reference herein constitutes an offer or invitation by or on behalf of the Bank, the Trustee or the Dealers or any of them to any person to subscribe for or to purchase any of the Notes.

Neither the delivery of this Information Memorandum or any documents incorporated by reference herein or any Pricing Supplement nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Notes shall, in any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Bank since the date hereof, or that the information contained in the Information Memorandum is correct at any time subsequent to the date hereof or that any other written information delivered in connection herewith or therewith is correct as of any time subsequent to the date indicated in such document. The Dealers and the Trustee expressly do not undertake to review the financial condition or affairs of the Bank or its subsidiary undertakings during the life of the Programme. Investors should review, inter alia, the most recent financial statements of the Bank when evaluating the Notes or an investment therein.

The distribution of this Information Memorandum and any document incorporated by reference herein and the offer or sale of the Notes may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons into whose possession this Information Memorandum or any document incorporated by reference herein or any Notes come must inform themselves about, and observe, any such restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of this Information Memorandum or any document incorporated herein by reference, see "Subscription and Sale" below. The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and include Notes in bearer form that are subject to United States tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, the Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in "Subscription and Sale" below).

In this Information Memorandum and in relation to any Notes, references to the "relevant Dealers" are to whichever of the Dealers enters into an agreement for the issue of such Notes as described in "Subscription and Sale" below and references to the "relevant Pricing Supplement" are to the Pricing Supplement relating to such Notes.

To New Hampshire residents: neither the fact that a Registration Statement or an application for a licence has been filed under Chapter 421-B of the New Hampshire Revised Statutes with the State of New Hampshire nor the fact that a security is effectively registered or a person is licensed in the State of New Hampshire constitutes a finding by the Secretary of State of New Hampshire that any document filed under RSA 421-B is true, complete and not misleading. Neither any such fact nor the fact that an exemption or exception is available for a security or a transaction means that the Secretary of State has passed in any way upon the merits or qualifications of, or recommended or given approval to, any person, security, or transaction. It is unlawful to make, or cause to be made, to any prospective purchaser, customer or client any representation inconsistent with the provisions of this paragraph.

For so long as any Note remains outstanding and is a "restricted security" within the meaning of Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act, the Issuer will, during any period in which it is neither subject to the reporting requirements of Sections 13 or 15(d) under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") nor exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Exchange Act furnish to any holder of, or beneficial owner of an interest in, such Note, or to any prospective purchaser thereof, upon request of such holder, such information as is required to be provided pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act in order to permit compliance with Rule 144A in connection with the resale of such Note.

Notwithstanding any provision herein, every person (and each employee, representative or other agent of such person) may disclose to any and all other persons, without limitation of any kind, any information provided to him by or on behalf of the Issuer relating to the U.S. tax treatment and U.S. tax structure of transactions under the Programme and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided by or on behalf of the Issuer to that person relating to such U.S. tax treatment and U.S. tax structure.

All references in this Information Memorandum to "£", "pounds", "Pounds Sterling" and "Sterling" are to the lawful currency of the United Kingdom, all references to "\$", "dollars", "US\$", "USD" and "U.S. dollars" are to the lawful currency of the United States of America, all references to "€", "euro" and "EUR", are to the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that have adopted or adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended and all references to "Japanese Yen" and "¥" are to the lawful currency of Japan.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes under the Programme, the Dealer (if any) which is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the Stabilising Manager (or any person acting for the Stabilising Manager) may over-allot or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail for a limited period. However, there may be no obligation on the Stabilising Manager (or any agent of the Stabilising Manager) to do this. Such stabilising, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time and must be brought to an end after a limited period. Such stabilising shall be in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations and rules.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

|  | Page |
|--|------|
| Documents Incorporated by Reference  | 3    |
| Summary of the Programme   | 4    |
| Forms of Notes; Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form | 10   |
| Clearing and Settlement  | 16   |
| Pro Forma Pricing Supplement   | 19   |
| Terms and Conditions of the Notes  | 26   |
| Use of Proceeds  | 47   |
| HSBC Bank plc and its Subsidiary Undertakings                                    | 48   |
| Directors of HSBC Bank plc   | 61   |
| Consolidated Capitalisation and Indebtedness of HSBC Bank plc                    | 62   |
| United Kingdom Taxation  | 64   |
| United States Taxation   | 66   |
| Notice to Purchasers of 144A Notes and Transfer Restrictions                     | 74   |
| Subscription and Sale  | 76   |
| General Information  | 79   |

#### DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Information Memorandum:

- (1) the most recent Annual Report and Accounts and Statement of Interim Results of the Bank and its subsidiary and associated undertakings published by the Bank; and
- (2) all amendments and supplements to this Information Memorandum prepared from time to time by the Bank,

save that (i) any statement contained herein or in any Annual Report and Accounts or Statement of Interim Results of the Bank and its subsidiary and associated undertakings shall be deemed to be modified or superseded for the purpose of this Information Memorandum to the extent that a statement contained in any subsequently published Annual Report and Accounts or Statement of Interim Results expressly or impliedly modifies or supersedes such earlier statement provided that any modifying or superseding statement does not form part of the listing particulars as contained in this document and (ii) any documents incorporated by reference do not form part of the listing particulars as contained in this document, in each case prepared in compliance with the Listing Rules.

Any reference in this Information Memorandum to listing particulars means this Information Memorandum excluding all information incorporated by reference. The Issuer has confirmed that any information incorporated by reference, including any such information to which readers of this Information Memorandum are expressly referred, has not been and does not need to be included in the listing particulars to satisfy the requirements of the FSMA or the Listing Rules. The Issuer believes that none of the information incorporated herein by reference conflicts in any material respect with the information included in the listing particulars.

#### SUMMARY OF THE PROGRAMME

| The following summary is qualified in its entirety by | the remainder of this Information Memorandum |
|---|--|
|---|--|

Issuer: HSBC Bank plc

Arranger: HSBC Bank plc

Dealers: HSBC Bank plc and any other dealer appointed from time to time

by the Issuer either generally in respect of the Programme or in

relation to a particular Tranche (as defined below) of Notes.

Trustee: The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.

Principal Paying Agent: HSBC Bank plc

Agent Bank: HSBC Bank plc

Registrar: HSBC Bank plc

Authorised Adviser: HSBC Bank plc

Size: The Notes will be issued on a continuous basis without limit as to

the maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes from time to

time outstanding.

Currencies: Notes may be denominated in any currency or currencies as may be

set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, subject to all applicable consents being obtained and compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements. Payments in respect of Notes may, subject in each case to compliance as aforesaid, be made in and/or linked to any currency or currencies other than the currency in

which such Notes are denominated.

Maturities: No minimum or maximum maturity subject, in relation to specific

currencies, to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory

requirements.

Offering and Sale: Subject to compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory

requirements, Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act. Notes will be offered either outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S") or in the United States to certain qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act ("Rule 144A"), as more fully described in "Subscription and Sale". See also

"Notice to Purchasers of 144A Notes and Transfer Restrictions".

Issue Price: Notes may be issued at par or at a premium or a discount to par and

either on a fully or partly paid basis.

Forms of Notes: Notes may, subject to all applicable legal and regulatory

Notes in bearer form or Notes in registered form. No single Tranche or Series of Notes offered in reliance on Rule 144A may comprise both Notes in bearer form and Notes in registered form. Unless otherwise specified, defined terms used in this paragraph and the paragraphs below entitled "Bearer Notes" and "Registered Notes"

requirements, be issued in Tranches and Series comprising either

have the meanings given to them in "Forms of Notes; Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form".

Bearer Notes:

Notes in bearer form will be issued in accordance with the provisions of United States Treasury Regulations 1.163-5(c)(1)(ii) and 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) ("TEFRA D"), unless the relevant Pricing Supplement provides that such Notes will be issued in accordance with the provisions of United States Treasury Regulations 1.163-5(c)(1)(ii) and 1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) ("TEFRA C").

In respect of each Tranche of Notes issued in bearer form, the Issuer will deliver a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note which will be deposited with a common depositary for the relevant clearing systems.

- (i) Temporary Global Notes issued in accordance with TEFRA C: Interests in any Temporary Global Note issued in accordance with TEFRA C will be exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes, at any time and without any requirement for certification, in accordance with its terms and as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- (ii) Temporary Global Notes issued in accordance with TEFRA D: Interests in any Temporary Global Note issued in accordance with TEFRA D will be exchangeable for interests in a Permanent Global Note or Definitive Bearer Notes, on or after the date which is 40 days after the date on which such Temporary Global Note is issued and upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership thereof or otherwise as required by U.S. Treasury Regulations, in accordance with its terms and as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- (iii) Exchange of Permanent Global Note for Definitive Bearer Notes: Interests in any Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable for Definitive Bearer Notes, in the limited circumstances mentioned in its terms and as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Definitive Bearer Notes will, if interest-bearing and if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, have interest coupons ("Coupons") and, if applicable, a talon for further Coupons attached. All Definitive Bearer Notes will, if the principal thereof is repayable by instalments, have endorsed thereon a grid for recording the payment of principal.

In respect of each Tranche of Notes issued in registered form, the Issuer will deliver:

- (i) Regulation S: in the case of a Tranche of Registered Notes offered and sold solely outside the United States (as defined in Regulation S) pursuant to Regulation S, a Regulation S Global Registered Note. Interests in any Regulation S Global Registered Note will be exchangeable only for Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes and only in the limited circumstances specified in the Regulation S Global Registered Note and as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;
- (ii) Rule 144A: in the case of a Tranche of Registered Notes offered and sold solely in the United States (as defined in Regulation S) in reliance on Rule 144A, a Rule 144A Global Registered Note. Interests in any Rule 144A Global Registered

Registered Notes:

Note will be exchangeable only for U.S. Definitive Registered Notes and only in the limited circumstances specified in the relevant Rule 144A Global Registered Note and as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; and

- (iii) Regulation S and Rule 144A: in the case of a Tranche of Registered Notes offered and sold both pursuant to Regulation S and in reliance on Rule 144A:
  - (a) an Unrestricted Global Registered Note; and
  - (b) a Restricted Global Registered Note.

Interests in any Unrestricted Global Registered Note will be:

- (1) exchangeable for, or transferable to a person wanting to take delivery thereof in the form of, interests in a Restricted Global Registered Note; or
- (2) exchangeable for Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes;

Interests in any Restricted Global Registered Note will be:

- (1) exchangeable for, or transferable to a person wanting to take delivery thereof in the form of, interests in an Unrestricted Global Registered Note or Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes; or
- (2) exchangeable for U.S. Definitive Registered Notes;

in each case, in compliance with and subject to the provisions of the Agency Agreement (as defined herein), in accordance with their respective terms and as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes may be exchangeable for, or transferable to a person wanting to take delivery thereof in the form of, interests in a Restricted Global Registered Note; and U.S. Definitive Registered Notes may be transferable to a person wanting to take delivery thereof in the form of interests in an Unrestricted Global Registered Note, in each case, in compliance with and subject to the provisions of the Agency Agreement, in accordance with their respective terms and as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

All Definitive Registered Notes will, if the principal thereof is repayable by instalments, have endorsed thereon a grid for recording the payment of principal.

For a more detailed description of the forms of Notes and of certain restrictions on the exchange and transfer of Notes, see "Forms of Notes; Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form" and "Notice to Purchasers of 144A Notes and Transfer Restrictions".

Status of Notes other than Subordinated Notes and Undated Subordinated Notes: The Notes of each Series (other than Subordinated Notes and Undated Subordinated Notes) will constitute direct, unsecured obligations of the Bank and will, at their date of issue, rank pari passu without any preference amongst themselves and with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Bank other than obligations preferred by law.

Status of Subordinated Notes:

The Notes of each Series of Subordinated Notes will constitute direct, unsecured obligations of the Bank and will rank pari passu without any preference amongst themselves. The rights of holders of Subordinated Notes will, in the event of the winding up of the Bank, be subordinated in right of payment to the claims of depositors and all other creditors of the Bank other than claimants in respect of Subordinated Indebtedness (as defined in the Trust Deed) in the manner provided in the Trust Deed.

In certain circumstances, payments of principal and interest in respect of Subordinated Notes may be deferred.

Status of Undated Subordinated Notes:

The Notes of each Series of Undated Subordinated Notes will constitute direct, unsecured obligations of the Bank and will rank pari passu without any preference amongst themselves. The rights of holders of Undated Subordinated Notes will, in the event of the winding up of the Bank, be subordinated in right of payment to the claims of Prior Creditors (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Bank in the manner provided in the Trust Deed.

In the event of the winding up of the Bank, Undated Subordinated Notes will be treated as if at the close of business on the business day preceding the commencement of the winding up of the Bank the principal amount payable in respect of such Notes together with Arrears of Interest and accrued interest had been converted into preference shares of £1 each in the capital of the Bank.

The Bank's obligation to make any payment of principal or interest in respect of Undated Subordinated Notes is conditional upon the Bank being able to make such payment and remain Solvent (as defined in the Trust Deed) immediately thereafter.

In certain circumstances payments of interest in respect of Undated Subordinated Notes may be deferred.

Notes may bear interest on a fixed rate basis ("Fixed Rate Notes"), a floating rate basis ("Floating Rate Notes"), a variable basis ("Variable Coupon Amount Notes") or may be non-interest bearing ("Zero Coupon Notes").

Interest on Fixed Rate Notes will be payable in arrear on such date or dates in each year as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

The basis on which interest shall be calculated on Fixed Rate Notes will be as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest calculated by reference to the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") or such other benchmark as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

The margin over or under LIBOR or such other benchmark will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Except as otherwise set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, interest on Floating Rate Notes will be payable in arrear on the Interest Payment Dates specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement; Interest Periods will be of a duration of one, two, three, six or twelve months or such other duration as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Interest:

Fixed Rate Notes:

Floating Rate Notes:

The basis on which interest shall be calculated on Floating Rate Notes will be as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Floating Rate Notes may, if so set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, bear interest at a minimum rate and/or a maximum rate.

Variable Coupon Amount Notes:

The Pricing Supplement relating to an issue of Variable Coupon Amount Notes will set out the basis for calculating the amounts of interest payable in respect of such Notes, which may be by reference to a stock or commodity index, a currency exchange rate or any other index or formula or as otherwise set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Zero Coupon Notes:

Zero Coupon Notes may be offered and sold at a discount to their principal amount and will not bear interest except in the case of late payment.

Dual Currency Notes:

Payments in respect of dual currency Notes ("Dual Currency Notes") will be made in such currencies, and based on such rates of exchange, as is set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Other Notes:

Terms applicable to any other type of Note which the Issuer may issue under the Programme will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The term "Note" when used herein includes debt instruments, by whatever name called, issued by the Issuer under the Programme.

Issuance in Series:

Notes will be issued in series (each, a "Series"). Each Series may comprise one or more tranches (each, a "Tranche") issued on different issue dates. The Notes of each Series will all be subject to identical terms whether as to currency, interest, maturity or otherwise, or terms which are identical except that the issue date and the amount of the first payment of interest and/or the denominations may be different. The Notes of each Tranche will all be subject to identical terms in all respects save that a Tranche may comprise Notes of different denominations.

Redemption:

Notes may be redeemable at par or at such other redemption amount (detailed in a formula or otherwise) as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement or may have no stated maturity date.

Early Redemption:

If so set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement relating to any Series of Notes, such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity at the option of the Issuer and/or the Holders of such Notes subject to all applicable legal and regulatory requirements (including, in the case of Notes that are part of the regulatory capital of the Bank, the consent of the Financial Services Authority (or any successor authority in its function as supervisor of authorised institutions)). All Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer prior to their stated maturity for taxation reasons. The amount payable on redemption may be fixed or variable, as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Denominations:

Notes will be issued in such denominations as are set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement subject to redenomination in accordance with Condition 9 and compliance with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Redenomination:

If so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Issuer may, on giving at least 30 days' prior notice to the Noteholders, elect that any Notes denominated in a National Currency Unit (as defined in Condition 9) be redenominated into euro with effect from the Redenomination Date.

Payments in respect of Global Notes:

For so long as any Note is represented by a Global Note, payments of principal and interest in respect thereof will be made through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other clearing system or depositary as is set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Payments in respect of Registered Notes:

Registered Notes will be issued without Coupons or Talons. Payments of principal and interest will be made to the registered Holder (or the first named thereof in the case of joint Holders) of a Registered Note.

Taxation:

Unless otherwise set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, payments of principal and interest in respect of Notes will be made without deduction for or on account of United Kingdom withholding taxes, except as may be required by law, in which case additional amounts will be paid subject as mentioned in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes".

Listing:

Each Series of Notes may be admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange and/or admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any other listing authority, stock exchange or exchanges and/or quotation system as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement ("Listed Notes") or may be unlisted ("Unlisted Notes").

Terms and Conditions:

A Pricing Supplement will be prepared in respect of each Tranche of Notes. A copy of such Pricing Supplement will, in the case of Notes admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and to trading on the London Stock Exchange, be delivered to the UK Listing Authority and the London Stock Exchange on or before the date of issue of such Notes. The terms and conditions applicable to each Tranche will be those set out herein under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" as supplemented, modified or replaced by the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Clearing Systems:

Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC and/or any other clearing system as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement and/or approved by the Trustee.

Selling Restrictions:

There are restrictions on the sale of Notes and the distribution of offering material in certain jurisdictions including the United States and the United Kingdom – see "Subscription and Sale" below. Further restrictions, including restrictions on transfer, may be required in connection with any particular Tranche of Notes and will be set out in the documentation relating to such Tranche.

Governing Law:

The Trust Deed, the Notes, the Coupons (if any) and all related contractual documentation will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, English law.

# FORMS OF NOTES; SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

Notes may, subject to all applicable legal and regulatory requirements, be issued in Tranches or Series comprising either Notes in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or Notes in registered form ("Registered Notes"), as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. No single Tranche or Series of Notes offered in reliance on Rule 144A may comprise both Bearer Notes and Registered Notes.

#### Registered Notes

In the case of Registered Notes, the relevant Pricing Supplement may specify that the Notes will be issued in global form ("Global Registered Notes") held in specified clearing systems, as described below, or in definitive form ("Definitive Registered Notes").

#### Global Registered Notes

If Notes are to be issued in the form of Global Registered Notes, the Issuer will deliver:

(as each such term is defined below), as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

- (a) a Regulation S Global Registered Note; or
- (b) a Rule 144A Global Registered Note; or
- (c) an Unrestricted Global Registered Note and a Restricted Global Registered Note

### Regulation S Global Registered Notes

In the case of a Tranche of Registered Notes sold solely outside the United States (as defined in Regulation S) in reliance on Regulation S, such Tranche of Registered Notes may be represented by a Global Registered Note without interest coupons (a "Regulation S Global Registered Note"), which will be deposited on or about the closing date (the "Closing Date") for the relevant Tranche with HSBC Bank plc as common depositary for Euroclear Bank S.A./N.V. as operator of the Euroclear System ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking, société anonyme ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") and registered in the name of HSBC Issuer Services Common Depositary Nominee (UK) Limited as nominee for such common depositary. Interests in any Regulation S Global Registered Note will be exchangeable (in circumstances described below under "Exchange and Transfer of Global Registered Notes for Definitive Registered Notes") for Definitive Registered Notes ("Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes") in the relevant form scheduled to the Trust Deed.

#### Rule 144A Global Registered Notes

In the case of a Tranche of Registered Notes sold solely in the United States in reliance on Rule 144A, such Tranche of Registered Notes may be represented by a Global Registered Note without interest coupons (a "Rule 144A Global Registered Note"), which will be deposited on or about the Closing Date for the relevant Tranche with a custodian for DTC and registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for DTC. Interests in any Rule 144A Global Registered Note will be exchangeable (in the circumstances described below under "Exchange and Transfer of Global Registered Notes for Definitive Registered Notes") for Definitive Registered Notes ("U.S. Definitive Registered Notes") in the relevant form scheduled to the Trust Deed. Rule 144A Global Registered Notes (and any U.S. Definitive Registered Notes issued in exchange therefor) will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer contained in a legend appearing on the face of such Note as set out under "Notice to Purchasers of 144A Notes and Transfer Restrictions".

#### Unrestricted and Restricted Global Registered Notes

In the case of a Tranche of Registered Notes offered and sold both pursuant to Regulation S and in reliance on Rule 144A such Tranche of Registered Notes may be represented by two Global Registered Notes, each without interest coupons, (in the case of Registered Notes forming part of such Tranche which are sold pursuant to Regulation S, an "Unrestricted Global Registered Note" and, in the case of

Registered Notes forming part of such Tranche which are sold in reliance on Rule 144A, a "Restricted Global Registered Note".

The Unrestricted Global Registered Note will be deposited on or about the issue date for the relevant Tranche with, and registered in the name of HSBC Issuer Services Common Depositary Nominee (UK) Limited as nominee for, HSBC Bank plc, as common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. A beneficial interest in the Unrestricted Global Registered Note may at all times be held only through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The Restricted Global Registered Note will be deposited on or about the issue date for the relevant Tranche with HSBC Bank plc as custodian (the "Custodian") for, and registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee for, DTC. In the circumstances described below under "Exchange and Transfer of Global Registered Notes for Definitive Registered Notes", interests in any Unrestricted Global Registered Note will be exchangeable for Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes and interests in any Restricted Global Registered Notes, in each case in the relevant form scheduled to the Trust Deed. Restricted Global Registered Notes (and any U.S. Definitive Registered Notes issued in exchange therefor) will be subject to certain restrictions on transfer contained in a legend appearing on the face of such Notes as set out under "Notice to Purchasers of 144A Notes and Transfer Restrictions".

Each Unrestricted Global Registered Note will have an ISIN number and each Restricted Global Registered Note will have a CUSIP number.

# Exchange of Interests in Unrestricted and Restricted Global Registered Notes; Transfers within and between DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear

On or prior to the 40th day after the later of the commencement of the offering of the relevant Tranche and the issue date for that Tranche, a beneficial interest in the relevant Unrestricted Global Registered Note may be transferred to a person who wishes to take delivery of such beneficial interest through the relevant Restricted Global Registered Note only upon receipt by the Registerar (as defined in the Agency Agreement) of a written certification from the transferor (in the applicable form provided in the Agency Agreement) to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a qualified institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A, in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction. After such 40th day, such certification requirements will no longer apply to such transfers, but such transfers will continue to be subject to the transfer restrictions contained in the legend appearing on the face of such Restricted Global Registered Note, as set out under "Notice to Purchasers of 144A Notes and Transfer Restrictions".

Beneficial interests in a Restricted Global Registered Note may be transferred to a person who wishes to take delivery of such beneficial interest through the relevant Unrestricted Global Registered Note, whether before, on or after such 40th day, only upon receipt by the Registrar of a written certification from the transferor (in the applicable form provided in the Agency Agreement) to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Regulation S or Rule 144 under the Securities Act (if available) or to the Issuer or its affiliates.

Any beneficial interest in either the Restricted Global Registered Note or the Unrestricted Global Registered Note relating to any Series that is transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of a beneficial interest in the other Global Registered Note relating to such Series will, upon transfer, cease to be a beneficial interest in such Global Registered Note and become a beneficial interest in the other Global Registered Note and, accordingly, will thereafter be subject to all transfer restrictions and other procedures applicable to a beneficial interest in such other Global Registered Note for as long as it remains such an interest.

#### Owner of Global Registered Notes and Payments

Subject to certain provisions of the Trust Deed relating to directions, sanctions and consents of Holders of Registered Notes and to meetings of Holders of Notes, so long as DTC or its nominee or Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the nominee of their common depositary is the registered owner or holder

of a Global Registered Note, DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such nominee, as the case may be, will be considered the sole owner or holder of the Notes represented by such Global Registered Note for all purposes under the Agency Agreement, the Trust Deed and the Notes. Payments of principal, interest and additional amounts, if any, pursuant to Condition 7, on Global Registered Notes will be made to DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or such nominee, as the case may be, as the registered holder thereof. None of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Registrar, or any Paying Agent or any affiliate of any of the above or any person by whom any of the above is controlled for the purposes of the Securities Act will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in Global Registered Notes or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

#### Exchange and Transfer of Global Registered Notes for Definitive Registered Notes

Beneficial interests in a Rule 144A Global Registered Note or a Restricted Global Registered Note will be exchangeable for U.S. Definitive Registered Notes: (i) if DTC notifies the Issuer that it is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depositary with respect to the relevant Restricted Global Registered Note or ceases to be a "clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act, or is at any time no longer eligible to act as such, and the Issuer is unable to locate a qualified successor within 90 days of receiving notice of such ineligibility on the part of such depositary; or (ii) if the Issuer, at its option, elects to terminate the book-entry system through DTC; or (iii) if an Enforcement Event occurs as set out in Condition 10; or (iv) if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, if the holder of the relevant Rule 144A Global Registered Note or Restricted Global Registered Note requests that such interest be exchanged for U.S. Definitive Registered Notes; or (v) at the option of the Issuer, if the Issuer, any Paying Agent or the Registrar, by reason of any change in, or amendment to, the laws of the United Kingdom, is or will be required to make any deduction or withholding from any payment under the Notes which would not be required if such Notes were in definitive form.

Beneficial interests in a Regulation S Global Registered Note or an Unrestricted Global Registered Note will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes: (i) if Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business; or (ii) if an Enforcement Event occurs as set out in Condition 10; or (iii) if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, if the holder of the relevant Regulation S Global Registered Note or Unrestricted Global Registered Note requests that such interest be exchanged for Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes; or (iv) at the option of the Issuer, if the Issuer, any Paying Agent or the Registrar, by reason of any change in, or amendment to, the laws of the United Kingdom, is or will be required to make any deduction or withholding from any payment under the Notes which would not be required if such Notes were in definitive form.

In such circumstances, (a) the Registrar will be required to notify all Holders of interests in the relevant Global Registered Notes registered in the name of DTC or its nominee or Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or the nominee of their common depositary, as the case may be, of the availability of Definitive Registered Notes and (b) the Issuer will, at the cost of the Issuer, cause sufficient Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes and/or U.S. Definitive Registered Notes, as the case may be, to be executed and delivered to the Registrar for completion, authentication and dispatch to the relevant Holders. A person having an interest in the relevant Global Registered Note must provide the Registrar with:

- (i) a written order containing instructions and such other information as the Issuer and the Registrar may require to complete, execute and deliver the relevant Definitive Registered Note; and
- (ii) in the case of a Rule 144A Global Registered Note or a Restricted Global Registered Note only, a fully completed, signed certification substantially to the effect that the exchanging holder is not transferring its interest at the time of such exchange or, in the case of simultaneous sale pursuant to Rule 144A, a certification that the transfer is being made in

compliance with the provisions of Rule 144A. U.S. Definitive Registered Notes issued in exchange for a beneficial interest in a Rule 144A Global Registered Note or a Restricted Global Registered Note will bear the legends applicable to transfers pursuant to Rule 144A (as set out under "Notice to Purchasers of 144A Notes and Transfer Restrictions").

If an Unrestricted Global Registered Note relating to a Series or (if issued in Tranches) Tranche of Notes of which the Restricted Global Registered Note forms a part has, pursuant to its terms, been exchanged in whole, but not in part, for Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes, beneficial interests in the Restricted Global Registered Note may be transferred to a person who wishes to take delivery thereof in the form of a Regulation S Definitive Registered Note. Such Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes shall be registered in such name(s) as DTC shall direct in writing.

Upon (i) notification to the Registrar by the Custodian that the appropriate debit entry has been made in the account of the relevant participant of DTC and (ii) receipt by the Registrar of a certificate, in the form scheduled to the Agency Agreement, given by the transferee of the beneficial interest in the Restricted Global Registered Note and stating that the transfer of such interest has been made in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Notes, and pursuant to and in accordance with Regulation S under the Securities Act, the Issuer shall procure that the Registrar will (against presentation by DTC or HSBC Bank plc, as custodian, of the Restricted Global Registered Note at the specified office of the Registrar or the Transfer Agent, all in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement and, in particular, the regulations concerning the transfer, exchange and registration of Notes set out in Schedule 4 thereto) decrease the aggregate principal amount of Notes registered in the name of the holder of, and represented by, the Restricted Global Registered Note and shall, without charge, procure, in exchange therefor, the delivery, within five Banking Days of the receipt by the Registrar of the Restricted Global Registered Note of the notification and certification referred to in paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, and registration information required to authenticate and deliver such Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes, of an equal aggregate principal amount of duly authenticated and completed Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes substantially in the form (subject to completion) scheduled to the Agency Agreement.

The holder of a Registered Note may transfer such Registered Note in accordance with the provisions of Condition 1 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes.

The holder of a Definitive Registered Note may transfer such Note by surrendering it at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, together with the completed form of transfer thereon. Upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of U.S. Definitive Registered Notes issued in exchange for beneficial interests in a Rule 144A Global Registered Note or a Restricted Global Registered Note bearing the legend referred to under "Notice to Purchasers of 144A Notes and Transfer Restrictions", or upon specific request for removal of the legend on a U.S. Definitive Registered Note, the Issuer will only deliver U.S. Definitive Registered Notes that bear such legend, or will refuse to remove such legend, as the case may be, unless there is delivered to the Issuer and the Registrar such satisfactory evidence, which may include an opinion of counsel, as may reasonably be required by the Issuer, that neither the legend nor the restriction on transfer set forth therein are required to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Securities Act.

The Registrar will not register the transfer of or exchange of interests in a Global Registered Note for Definitive Registered Notes for a period of 15 calendar days preceding the due date for any payment in respect of the Notes.

With respect to the registration of transfer of any U.S. Definitive Registered Notes, the Registrar will register the transfer of any such U.S. Definitive Registered Notes if the transferor, in the form of transfer on such U.S. Definitive Registered Notes, has certified to the effect that such transfer is (i) to persons whom the transferor reasonably believes to be qualified institutional buyers within the meaning of Rule 144A, in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction, (ii) in accordance with Regulation S, (iii) pursuant to an exemption from Rule 144 under the Securities Act (if available) or (iv) to the Issuer or its affiliates.

Regulation S Definitive Registered Notes may be exchangeable for or transferable to a person wanting to take delivery thereof in the form of interests in a Restricted Global Registered Note; and U.S. Definitive Registered Notes may be transferable to a person wanting to take delivery thereof in the form of interests in an Unrestricted Global Registered Note; in each case, upon receipt by the Registrar of a duly completed certificate in the form of Schedule 4 to the Agency Agreement and in accordance with the requirements of the Agency Agreement.

#### **Bearer Notes**

Bearer Notes will be issued in accordance with TEFRA D, unless the relevant Pricing Supplement provides that such Notes will be issued in accordance with TEFRA C. Bearer Notes issued in accordance with TEFRA D will be represented upon issue by a temporary global note in bearer form without interest coupons (a "Temporary Global Note"). Bearer Notes issued in accordance with TEFRA C will be represented upon issue by a permanent global note in bearer form without interest coupons (a "Permanent Global Note") or by a Temporary Global Note. Each Temporary Global Note and Permanent Global Note will be deposited on or about the issue date for the relevant Tranche with a common depositary or depositories for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Beneficial interests in a Temporary Global Note issued in accordance with TEFRA C will be exchangeable at any time for Bearer Notes in definitive form ("Definitive Bearer Notes"), in accordance with the terms of such Temporary Global Note and as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Interests in a Temporary Global Note issued in accordance with TEFRA D will be exchangeable either for Definitive Bearer Notes or for interests in a Permanent Global Note, on or after the date which is 40 days after the date on which such Temporary Global Note is issued and upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership thereof or otherwise as required by U.S. Treasury Regulations, in accordance with the terms of such Temporary Global Note and as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Any Permanent Global Note will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Definitive Bearer Notes, against presentation and (in the case of final exchange) surrender of such Permanent Global Note at the specified office from time to time of the Principal Paying Agent (i) if either of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing system by which the Notes have been accepted for clearing is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention to cease business permanently, (ii) if an Enforcement Event occurs as set out in Condition 10, (iii) if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, upon the bearer's request or (iv) if the Issuer or any Paying Agent, by reason of any change in, or amendment to, the laws of the United Kingdom, is or will be required to make any deduction or withholding from any payment under the Notes which would not be required if such Notes were in definitive form.

#### Payments in respect of Bearer Notes

All payments, if any, in respect of the Bearer Notes when represented by a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note will be made against presentation and surrender or, as the case may be, presentation of the relevant Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note at the specified office of any of the Paying Agents. A record of each payment so made in respect of Notes when represented by a Permanent Global Note will be endorsed on the relevant schedule to such Permanent Global Note by or on behalf of the Principal Paying Agent, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence that such payment has been made.

If any date on which a payment of interest is due on the Notes of a Series issued in accordance with TEFRA D occurs while any of the Notes of that Series are represented by a Temporary Global Note, the relevant interest payment will be made on such Temporary Global Note only to the extent that certification has been received by Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg as to the beneficial ownership thereof, as required by U.S. Treasury Regulations, in accordance with the terms of such Temporary Global Note.

#### **Notices**

(i) So long as any Bearer Notes are represented by a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note, notices to holders of Bearer Notes may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear,

Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing system (an "Alternative Clearing System") for communication by them to entitled accountholders in substitution for publication as required by the Conditions, and (ii) so long as any Regulation S Global Registered Note or Unrestricted Global Registered Note is held on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or an Alternative Clearing System, notices to holders of Notes represented by a beneficial interest in such Global Registered Note may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or, as the case may be, such Alternative Clearing System, and (iii) so long as any Rule 144A Global Registered Note or Restricted Global Registered Note is held on behalf of DTC or an Alternative Clearing System, notices to holders of Notes represented by a beneficial interest in such Global Registered Note may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to DTC or, as the case may be, such Alternative Clearing System; except that in the case of (i), (ii) and (iii) above, so long as any Notes are listed on any stock exchange, notices will also be published as required by the rules and regulations of such stock exchange.

#### Meetings

The provisions for meetings of Holders of Notes scheduled to the Trust Deed provide that, where all the Notes of the relevant Series are held by one person, the quorum in respect of the relevant meeting will be one person present (being, in the case of an individual, present in person or, being, in the case of a corporation, present by a representative) holding all the outstanding Notes of the relevant Series or holding voting certificates or being a proxy in respect of such Notes.

#### **Purchase and Cancellation**

Cancellation of any Note surrendered for cancellation following its purchase will be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the relevant Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note or, as the case may be, Global Registered Note and, in the case of a Global Registered Note, will be recorded in the Register by the Registrar.

#### Issuer's Option to Redeem in Part

No drawing of Bearer Notes or redemption pro rata of Registered Notes will be required under Condition 6(c) in the event that the Issuer exercises any option to redeem such Notes in part while all such Notes which are outstanding are represented by a Temporary Global Note, Permanent Global Note or, as the case may be, Global Registered Note. In such event, the standard procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC or, as the case may be, the Alternative Clearing System shall operate to determine which interests in such Global Notes are to be subject to such option.

# Early Redemption at the option of the Holder – Provisions relating to Registered Notes held in Clearing Systems

Condition 6(d) allows for early redemption of Notes at the option of the Holder of such Notes if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Such option is exercisable by the Holder of the relevant Notes by depositing such Notes, together with a notice of exercise of such option (an "Option Notice"), duly completed and signed in accordance with Condition 6(d), at the specified office of any Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes, outside the United States). In respect of any Registered Notes of the relevant Series of which either HSBC Issuer Services Common Depositary Nominee (UK) Limited as nominee for HSBC Bank plc, as common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, or Cede & Co. as nominee for DTC, as the case may be, is the registered Holder, such Option Notice will be deemed to have been duly completed and signed by the Holder of the relevant Notes if it has been completed and signed by or on behalf of a person in respect of whom notification has been given by Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, to the Registrar that such person is a person who is shown in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, as having relevant Registered Notes of a specified principal amount standing to the credit of its account with Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, or delivered from its account with Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, for the purpose of exercising such option.

#### CLEARING AND SETTLEMENT

Custodial and depositary links have been established with Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC to facilitate the initial issuance of Notes and cross-market transfers of Notes between investors associated with secondary market trading. Transfers within Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC will be in accordance with the usual rules and operating procedures of the relevant system.

#### Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg each holds securities for participating organisations and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between their respective participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of such participants. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg provide to their respective participants, among other things, services for safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally-traded securities and securities lending and borrowing. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg participants are financial institutions throughout the world, including underwriters, securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organisations. Indirect access to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies which clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg participant, either directly or indirectly.

Distributions of principal and interest with respect to book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be credited, to the extent received by the Principal Paying Agent, to the cash accounts of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg participants in accordance with the relevant system's rules and procedures.

#### DTC

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organised under the laws of the State of New York and a "banking organisation" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC holds securities for DTC participants and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between DTC participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of DTC participants. DTC participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations and certain other organisations. Indirect access to DTC is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies which clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a DTC participant, either directly or indirectly.

Holders of book-entry interests in the Notes holding through DTC will receive, to the extent received by the Principal Paying Agent, all distributions of principal and interest with respect to book-entry interests in the Notes from the Principal Paying Agent through DTC. Distributions in the United States will be subject to relevant U.S. tax laws and regulations.

The laws of some states of the United States require that certain persons take physical delivery of securities in definitive form. Consequently, the ability to transfer interests in a Global Registered Note to such persons may be limited. Because DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg can only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect participants, the ability of a person having an interest in a Global Registered Note to pledge such interest to persons or entities which do not participate in the relevant clearing system, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate in respect of such interest.

The aggregate holdings of book-entry interests in the Notes in Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC will be reflected in the book-entry accounts of each such institution. As necessary, the Registrar will adjust the amounts of Notes on the Register for the accounts of (i) Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and (ii) DTC to reflect the amounts of Notes held through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC, respectively. Beneficial ownership in Notes will be held through financial institutions as direct and indirect participants in Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and

DTC. Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, and every other intermediate holder in the chain to the beneficial owner of book-entry interests in the Notes will be responsible for establishing and maintaining accounts for their participants and customers having interests in the book-entry interests in the Notes. The Registrar will be responsible for maintaining a record of the aggregate holdings of Notes registered in the name of a nominee for the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, a nominee for DTC and/or Holders of Notes represented by Definitive Registered Notes. The Principal Paying Agent will be responsible for ensuring that payments received by it from the Issuer for Holders of interests in the Notes holding through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg are credited to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, and the Principal Paying Agent will also be responsible for ensuring that payments received by the Principal Paying Agent from the Issuer for Holders of interests in the Notes holding through DTC are credited to DTC.

The Issuer will not impose any fees in respect of the Notes; however, Holders of book-entry interests in the Notes may incur fees normally payable in respect of the maintenance and operation of accounts in Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC.

Interests in an Unrestricted Global Registered Note and a Restricted Global Registered Note will be in uncertificated book-entry form. Purchasers electing to hold book-entry interests in the Notes through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg accounts will follow the settlement procedures applicable to conventional eurobonds. Book-entry interests in the Global Registered Notes will be credited to Euroclear participants' securities clearance accounts on the business day following the relevant issue date against payment (value such issue date), and to Clearstream, Luxembourg participants' securities custody accounts on the relevant issue date against payment in same day funds. DTC participants acting on behalf of purchasers electing to hold book-entry interests in the Notes through DTC will follow the delivery practices applicable to securities eligible for DTC's Same-Day Funds Settlement ("SDFS") system. DTC participant securities accounts will be credited with book-entry interests in the Notes following confirmation of receipt of payment to the Issuer on the relevant issue date.

#### Secondary Market Trading in relation to Global Registered Notes

Trading between Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg participants: Secondary market sales of book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg to purchasers of book-entry interests in the Notes through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will be conducted in accordance with the normal rules and operating procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and will be settled using the procedures applicable to conventional eurobonds.

Trading between DTC participants: Secondary market sales of book-entry interests in the Notes between DTC participants will occur in the ordinary way in accordance with DTC rules and will be settled using the procedures applicable to United States corporate debt obligations in DTC's SDFS system in same-day funds, if payment is effected in U.S. dollars, or free of payment, if payment is not effected in U.S. dollars, separate payment arrangements outside DTC are required to be made between the DTC participants.

Trading between DTC seller and Euroclear/Clearstream, Luxembourg purchaser: When book-entry interests in Notes are to be transferred from the account of a DTC participant holding a beneficial interest in a Restricted Global Registered Note to the account of a Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholder wishing to purchase a beneficial interest in an Unrestricted Global Registered Note (subject to the certification procedures provided in the Agency Agreement), the DTC participant will deliver instructions for delivery to the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholder to DTC by 12 noon, New York time, on the settlement date. Separate payment arrangements are required to be made between the DTC participant and the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg participant. On the settlement date, the Custodian will instruct the Registrar to (i) decrease the amount of Notes registered in the name of Cede & Co. and evidenced by the Restricted Global Registered Note and (ii) increase the amount of Notes registered in the name of the nominee of the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and evidenced by the Unrestricted Global Registered Note. Book-entry interests will be delivered free of payment to

Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, for credit to the relevant accountholder on the first business day following the settlement date.

Trading between Euroclear/Clearstream, Luxembourg seller and DTC purchaser: When book-entry interests in the Notes are to be transferred from the account of a Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholder to the account of a DTC participant wishing to purchase a beneficial interest in the Restricted Global Registered Note (subject to the certification procedures provided in the Agency Agreement), the Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg participant must send to Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg delivery free of payment instructions by 7.45 p.m., Brussels or Luxembourg time, one business day prior to the settlement date. Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, will in turn transmit appropriate instructions to the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and the Registrar to arrange delivery to the DTC participant on the settlement date. Separate payment arrangements are required to be made between the DTC participant and the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholder, as the case may be. On the settlement date, the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will (a) transmit appropriate instructions to the Custodian who will in turn deliver such book-entry interests in the Notes free of payment to the relevant account of the DTC participant and (b) instruct the Registrar to (i) decrease the amount of Notes registered in the name of the nominee of the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and evidenced by the Unrestricted Global Registered Note and (ii) increase the amount of Notes registered in the name of Cede & Co. and evidenced by the Restricted Global Registered Note.

Although the foregoing sets out the procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC in order to facilitate the transfers of interests in the Notes among participants of DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear, none of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC is under any obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of the Issuer, the Trustee, the Principal Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Paying Agent, any Transfer Agent, any Dealer or any affiliate of any of the above, or any person by whom any of the above is controlled for the purposes of the Securities Act, will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or their respective direct or indirect participants or accountholders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations or for the sufficiency for any purpose of the arrangements described above.

### PRO FORMA PRICING SUPPLEMENT

### PRICING SUPPLEMENT

| Pricin   | ng Suppl  | lement dated [   |   |   |
|--|---|--|---|---|
| Serie  | s No.: [  | ]  |   |   |
| Tranc  | he No.:   | [ ]  |   |   |
|  |   | HS   | BC Ban  | ık pic  |
|  |   | Debt Issu  | uance P   | rogramme  |
|  |   |  | Issue o   | of  |
|  |   | [Aggregate Prin  | cipal A   | mount of Tranche  |
|  |   | [Ti  | itle of N   | Notes]  |
| descriction Conduction | ribed he ditions solementa unction  Issuer a lude who | rein. Terms used herein shall be<br>tet forth in the Information Men<br>I Information Memorandum dates<br>with such Information Memoran<br>ccepts responsibility for the info-<br>tichever of the following apply or | e deemed<br>norandured [<br>dum [as<br>ermation<br>or specify | relating to the issue of the Tranche of Notes of the defined as such for the purposes of the m in relation to the above Programme [and the ]. [This Pricing Supplement must be read in so supplemented]].  contained in this Pricing Supplement.  as "Not Applicable". Note that the numbering cable" is indicated for individual paragraphs of |
| <i>sub-</i> ,  | paragra <sub>l</sub><br>Issuer                        | phs. Italics denote directions for: :  | -   | ting the Pricing Supplement.]  C Bank plc   |
| 2.   | (i)   | Series number:   | [   | ]   |
|  | (ii)  | [Tranche number:<br>(If fungible with an existing<br>Series, details of that Series,<br>including the date on which the<br>Notes become fungible).]  | [   | ]   |
| 3.   | Arrar   | nger(s):   | [HSI  | BC Bank plc]  |
| 4.   | Curre   | ency or currencies:  |   |   |
|  | (i)   | of denomination:   | [   | 1   |
|  | (ii)  | of payment:  | [   | ]   |
| 5.   | Aggr  | regate Principal Amount:   |   |   |
|  | [(i)]   | Series:  | [   | 1   |
|  | [(ii)   | Tranche:]  | ]   | ]   |
| 6.   | (i)   | Issue Price:   | [ins  | ] per cent of the Aggregate Principal Amount s accrued interest from ert date] (in the case of fungible issues only, opplicable)]   |
|  | (ii)  | Commission payable:  | ]]  | ] per cent/None]  |
|  | (iii)   | Selling concession:  | ŢŢ  | l per cent/Nonel  |

|     | (iv)                                    | Expenses – specify any expenses payable by Issuer: | [   | ]   |
|-----|---|--|---|---|
|     | [(v)                                    | Net proceeds:                                      | ]   | ] (Required only for listed issues)]  |
| 7.  |   | omination(s):  dition 1(f))                        | [   | ]   |
| 8.  | (i)                                     | Issue Date:  | [   | ]   |
|     | (ii)                                    | Interest Commencement Date:                        | [   | ]   |
| 9.  |   | urity Date: edition 6(a))                          | Payment .   | date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest<br>Date falling in the relevant month and year.<br>f undated Notes specify undated.] |
| 10. |   | est basis:<br>ditions 3 to 5)                      | [Floating [Variable [Zero Con [Other (sp                        | ate Notes] Rate Notes] Coupon Amount Notes] upon Notes] pecify)] articulars specified below]                                    |
| 11. |   | emption basis:<br>dition 6)                        | [Redempt<br>[Index Li<br>[Partly Pa<br>[Instalmer<br>[Other (sp | uid]<br>nt]   |
| 12. | Change of interest or redemption basis: |  |   | letails of any provision for convertibility of another interest or redemption/payment   |
| 13. | Put/Call options:                       |  | [Condition  | n 6[(c)][(d)] will apply as specified below]  |
| 14. | (i)                                     | Status of the Notes: (Condition 2)                 |   | ordinated Notes/Subordinated Notes/<br>Subordinated Notes]  |
|     | (ii)                                    | Subordinated Notes:                                | applicable  | of Payments, Condition 2(d) [is/is not]<br>e [Deferral will generally be required in the<br>ier 3 capital]                      |
| 15. | Listir                                  | ng:  | [London/I   | Luxembourg/other (specify)/None]  |
| 16. | Method of distribution:                 |  | [Syndicate  | ed/Non-syndicated]  |
| PRO | VISIO                                   | ONS RELATING TO INTEREST                           | (IF ANY)  | PAYABLE   |
| 17. |   | Rate Note provisions:  dition 3)                   | (If not ap  | le/Not applicable]<br>plicable, delete the remaining sub-<br>us of this paragraph)  |
|     | (i)                                     | Rate of Interest:                                  |   | r cent per annum [payable [annually/<br>ally/quarterly/monthly] in arrear]  |
|     | (ii)                                    | Fixed Interest Payment Date(s):                    | [   | ] in each year  |
|     | (iii)                                   | Day count fraction:                                | [   | ]   |

| 18.   | Floating Rate Note provisions: (Condition 4) |                                      | [Applicable/Not applicable] (If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph.) |  |   |  |  |  |
|---|--|--------------------------------------|---|--|---|--|--|--|
|   | (i)  | (i) Interest Payment Dates:          |   | [specify dates] [If Business Day Convention embedded in Condition 4(b)is not to apply, specify alternative convention] |   |  |  |  |
|   | (ii)   | Benchmark:                           | [spec   | eify 1   | LIBOR or other]   |  |  |  |
|   | (iii)  | Relevant Rate of Benchmark:          | [Offe   | red  | rate/Bid rate/Mean rate/other specify]  |  |  |  |
|   | (iv)   | Relevant screen page:                | [   |  | 1   |  |  |  |
|   | (v)  | Interest Determination Date:         | [   |  | 1   |  |  |  |
|   | (vi)   | Margin:                              | [+/]  | ] [  | ] per cent per annum  |  |  |  |
|   | (vii)  | Fallback Rate:                       | appl<br>two<br>or w   | icabi<br>rates<br>here   | method of calculating interest rate if<br>le screen rate not available or fewer than<br>s appear (where arithmetic mean is required,<br>e rate is not available for period of duration<br>Interest Period)] |  |  |  |
|   | (viii)                                       | Day count fraction:                  | [   |  | 1   |  |  |  |
|   | (ix)   | Relevant time:                       | Į   |  | ]   |  |  |  |
|   | (x)  | Minimum Interest Rate:               | Ţ   | ] p  | per cent per annum  |  |  |  |
|   | (xi)   | Maximum Interest Rate:               | [   | ] p  | per cent per annum  |  |  |  |
|   | (xii)  | Business Day: (Condition 4(b))       |   |  | relevant place(s) for the purpose of on in Condition 4(b)]  |  |  |  |
| 19. Variable Coupon Amo provisions: (Condition 5) |  |                                      | (If i   | not a  | able/Not applicable]<br>applicable, delete the remaining<br>agraphs of this paragraph)  |  |  |  |
|   | (i)  | Interest payment dates:              | [   |  | 1   |  |  |  |
|   | (ii)   | Method of calculating interest:      | [   |  | ]   |  |  |  |
| 20.   |  | o Coupon Note provisions: ndition 5) | (If   | not e  | cable/Not applicable] applicable, delete the remaining ragraphs of this paragraph)  |  |  |  |
|   | (i)  | Amortisation Yield:                  | [   | ]  | per cent per annum  |  |  |  |
|   | (ii)   | Rate of interest on overdue amounts: | [   |  | 1   |  |  |  |
|   | (iii)  | Redemption formula:                  | [   |  | 1   |  |  |  |
| 21  | . Dua  | al Currency Note provisions:         | (If   | not  | cable/Not applicable] applicable, delete the remaining ragraphs of this paragraph)  |  |  |  |
|   | (i)  | Currencies:                          | [   |  | 1   |  |  |  |
|   | (ii)   | Exchange rate(s):                    | [   |  | ]   |  |  |  |

## PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

| 22. | Issuer's optional redemption (Call): (Condition 6(c)) |   | [Yes/No]               |  |
|-----|---|---|------------------------|--|
|     | (i)   | Redemption amount (Call):   | [specify -<br>formula] | - if not par, also specify details of any  |
|     | (ii)  | Series redeemable in part:  |                        | - otherwise redemption will only be<br>l of entire Series}                       |
|     | (iii)   | Call option date(s)/Call option period:   | [specify]              |  |
| 23. | (Put)   | holder's optional redemption<br>:<br>dition 6(d))                               | [Yes/No]               |  |
|     | (i)   | Redemption amount (Put):  | [specify -<br>formula] | - if not par, also specify details of any  |
|     | (ii)  | Put option date(s)/Put option period:   | [specify]              |  |
| 24. |   | redemption amount:  dition 6(a))  | [specify -<br>formula] | - if not par, also specify details of any  |
| 25. | Instalment Notes: (Condition 6(a))                    |   | [specify]              |  |
|     | (a)   | Instalment Amounts:   | [                      | ]  |
|     | (b)   | Dates for payment of Instalments:   | [                      | ]  |
| 26. | Early   | redemption amount:  | Yes                    |  |
|     | (i)   | Early redemption amount (upon redemption for taxation reasons) (Condition 6(b)) | [specify -<br>formula] | - if not par, also specify details of any  |
|     | (ii)  | Early redemption amount upon enforcement: (Condition 10)                        | [specify -<br>formula] | - if not par, also specify details of any  |
|     | (iii)   | Other redemption provisions (Condition 6(h))                                    | [specify]              |  |
| GEN | ERAL  | PROVISIONS APPLICABLE   | го тне м               | NOTES  |
| 27. | Form of Notes: (Condition 1(a))                       |   | [                      | ]  |
|     | (a)   | Form of Notes:  | [Bearer/R              | legistered]  |
|     | (b)   | Bearer Notes exchangeable for Registered Notes:                                 |                        | [Answer will be no where no Registered where the issue is wholly or partly a se] |

#### 28. If issued in bearer form:

(i) Initially represented by a Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note:

[specify] [Notes may only be represented initially by a Permanent Global Note if this Pricing Supplement specifies that TEFRA C rules apply]

(ii) Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Permanent Global Note and/or Definitive Notes and/or Registered Notes: (Condition 1(a))

Yes [specify]

(iii) Permanent Global Note exchangeable at the option of the bearer for Definitive Notes and/or Registered Notes:

[Yes - specify/No]

(iv) Coupons to be attached to Definitive Notes:

[Yes/No/Not applicable]

[N.B. This will need to be considered even if Permanent Global Notes are not exchangeable at the bearer's option into Definitive Notes because of exchangeability upon "melt down" of clearing systems - see provisions contained in Permanent

Global Note]

(v) Talons for future Coupons to be attached to Definitive Notes:

[Yes/No/Not applicable]

[N.B. The above comment also applies here]

(a) Definitive Notes to be (vi) security printed:

[N.B. The above comment also applies here]

(b) If the answer to (a) is yes, whether steel engraved plates will be used:

[Yes/No/Not applicable]

(vii) Definitive Notes to be in ISMA or successor's format:

[Yes/No]

[N.B. The above comment also applies here]

of security printing:

(viii) Issuer or Noteholder to pay costs [Issuer/Noteholder/Not applicable]

29. Exchange Date for exchange of Temporary Global Note:

[specify]

30. Payments: (Condition 8)

> Method of payment: (i)

[specify if other than by cheque or transfer to a

designated account]

Relevant Financial Centre Day: (ii)

[specify any additional places]

| 31. | Partly Paid Notes: (Condition 1)  |  | [Yes/No]  |  |  |
|-----|---|--|---|--|--|
|     | If yes, specify number, amounts and dates for, and method of, payment of instalments of subscription monies and any further additional provisions (including forfeiture dates in respect of late payments of partly paid instalments) |  | [specify]   |  |  |
| 32. |   | enomination:<br>adition 9)                               |   |  |  |
|     | (i)   | Redenomination:  | [Applica  | ble/Not applicable]  |  |
|     | (ii)  | Exchange:  | [Applica  | ble/Not applicable]  |  |
| DIS | FRIBU   | UTION  |   |  |  |
| 33. | (i)   | If syndicated, names of Relevant Dealer/Lead Manager:    | [Not app  | licable/HSBC Bank plc/other - specify]   |  |
|     | (ii)  | If syndicated, names of other Dealers/Managers (if any): | [Not app  | licable/specify]   |  |
|     | (iii)   | Stabilising Manager (if any):                            | [Not app  | licable/specify]   |  |
| 34. | If no<br>Deal   | on-syndicated, name of Relevant er:                      | [Not app  | licable/specify]   |  |
| 35. | Sellin  | ng restrictions:   | [TEFRA  | C Rule/TEFRA D Rule]   |  |
|     | Unite   | ed States of America:                                    | N.B. sign   | e 144A eligible/Rule 144A eligible –<br>nificant additional provisions will be<br>in order to permit 144A eligibility]   |  |
| 36. | Othe  | r:   |   | any modifications of, or additions to, selling ns contained in Dealer Agreement]   |  |
| 37. | Stab  | ilisation:   | Manager with a v Notes at otherwise there may Manager Commen must be Such sta | ection with this issue, the Stabilising r or any person acting for the Stabilising r, may over-allot or effect transactions iew to supporting the market price of the a level higher than that which might e prevail for a limited period. However, by be no obligation on the Stabilising c (or any agent of the Stabilising r) to do this. Such stabilising, if ced, may be discontinued at any time and brought to an end after a limited period. bilising shall be in compliance with all le laws, regulations and rules.] |  |
| OPE | RATI  | ONAL INFORMATION   |   |  |  |
| 38. | ISIN  | Code:  | [   | 1  |  |
| 39. | Com   | mon Code:  | [   | ]  |  |

| 40.   | Any clearing system(s) other than Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and the relevant identification number(s): | [None/specify]  |
|-------|--|---|
| 41.   | Settlement procedures:   | [Eurobond/Medium Term Note/other - specify]   |
| 42.   | Additional Paying Agent(s) (if any):   | [None/specify]  |
| 43.   | Common Depositary:   | [specify]   |
| 44.   | Agent Bank/Calculation Agent:  | [HSBC Bank plc]   |
|       | - is Agent Bank to make calculations?  | [Yes/No]  |
|       | - if not, identify calculation agent:  | [N.B. Calculation agent appointment letter required]  |
| 45.   | Notices: (Condition 14)  | [specify any other means of effecting communication]  |
| 46.   | City in which specified office of Registrar to be maintained: (Condition 12)                                       | [specify]   |
| 47.   | Other relevant Terms and Conditions:   | [ ]   |
| LIS   | TING APPLICATION   |   |
| to th |  | s required for the Notes described herein to be admitted y and admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange Programme of HSBC Bank plc. |
|       | NFIRMED<br>BC BANK PLC   |   |
| Ву:   | Authorised Signatory   |   |
| Dat   | e:   | <del></del>   |

#### TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following (disregarding any sentences in italics) is the text of the terms and conditions applicable to the Notes, which, as supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement(s), will be incorporated by reference into each Global Note and which will be endorsed on the Notes in definitive form (if any) issued in exchange for Global Notes representing each Tranche, details of the relevant Tranche being as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The Pricing Supplement in relation to any Tranche may specify other terms and conditions which shall, to the extent so specified or to the extent inconsistent with such terms and conditions, replace or modify the following terms and conditions for the purpose of such Tranche.

This Note is one of a Series of Notes (the "Notes") issued pursuant to the debt issuance programme (the "Programme") established by HSBC Bank plc (the "Bank" or the "Issuer") and is constituted by and issued subject to and with the benefit of an amended and restated Trust Deed dated 23 June 1994 (such Trust Deed as modified and restated by a Supplemental Trust Deed dated 30 May 2002 and as further modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Trust Deed") each made between the Bank and The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c. (the "Trustee" which expression shall wherever the context so admits include its successors) and has the benefit of an Agency Agreement dated 23 June 1994 (such Agency Agreement as modified and restated by a Supplemental Agency Agreement dated 30 May 2002 and as further modified and/or supplemented and/or restated from time to time, the "Agency Agreement") each made between, amongst others, the Bank, the Principal Paying Agent (the "Principal Paying Agent" which expression shall wherever the context so admits include its successors as such, and, together with any successor or additional paying agent appointed in respect of the Notes, the "Paying Agents", which expression shall wherever the context so admits include any additional and/or successor paying agents), the Registrar (the "Registrar" which expression shall wherever the context so admits include any successor or additional person appointed as such in respect of the Notes), the Transfer Agent (the "Transfer Agent", which expression shall wherever the context so admits include any successor or additional person appointed as such in respect of the Notes), the Agent Bank (the "Agent Bank" which expression shall wherever the context so admits include any successor or additional person appointed as such in respect of the Notes) each named therein and the Trustee. The initial Principal Paying Agent, the initial Registrar and the initial Agent Bank are named below. The Trustee shall exercise the duties, power, trusts, authorities and discretions vested in it by the Trust Deed separately in relation to each Series of Notes in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed. Copies of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement are available for inspection during normal business hours at the principal office for the time being of the Trustee and at the specified office of each of the Principal Paying Agent and the other Paying Agents (if any), appointed from time to time pursuant to the terms of the Agency Agreement. The Holders (as defined below) for the time being of Notes (the "Noteholders") and of any coupons ("Coupons") or talons ("Talons") (the "Couponholders") are entitled to the benefit of, are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Trust Deed and the Agency Agreement applicable to them.

References in these terms and conditions (the "Conditions") to "Notes" shall, where the context so requires include the temporary global Notes, the permanent global Notes, subordinated Notes ("Subordinated Notes"), undated subordinated Notes ("Undated Subordinated Notes"), Notes which are not subordinated and such other Notes as may from time to time be issued under the Programme, as the case may be, and the term "Notes" includes debt instruments, by whatever name called, issued under the Programme. References to the "Bank" or the "Issuer" means the Bank in its capacity as issuer of Notes under the Programme. All Notes will be issued in series (each, a "Series") and each Series may comprise one or more tranches (each, a "Tranche") of Notes. Each Tranche will be the subject of a pricing supplement (each, a "Pricing Supplement"), a copy of which will be attached to or incorporated by reference in each Note of such Tranche. Subject as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, all Notes issued pursuant to the Programme on the same date, denominated in the same currency, having the same maturity date, bearing interest, if any, on the same basis and issued on identical terms will constitute one Tranche of Notes.

#### 1. Form, Denomination and Title

#### (a) Form

Notes are issued in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or in registered form ("Registered Notes") as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

#### (b) Form of Bearer Notes

Bearer Notes will be in substantially the relevant form (subject to amendment and completion) scheduled to the Trust Deed or in such other form as from time to time may be agreed. Interest-bearing Bearer Notes will, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, have attached at the time of their initial delivery Coupons, presentation of which will be a prerequisite to the payment of interest in certain circumstances specified below. Interest-bearing Bearer Notes will also, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, have attached at the time of their initial delivery a Talon exchangeable for further Coupons and the expression "Coupons" shall, where the context so requires, include Talons.

#### (c) Form of Registered Notes

Registered Notes will be in substantially the relevant form (subject to amendment and completion) scheduled to the Trust Deed or in such other form as may from time to time be agreed.

#### (d) Instalment Notes

Notes the principal amount of which is repayable by instalments ("Instalment Notes") which are Definitive Notes will have endorsed thereon a grid for recording the repayment of principal or will, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, have attached thereto at the time of their initial delivery, payment receipts ("Receipts") in respect of the instalments of principal.

#### (e) Partly Paid Notes

Notes may be issued on a partly paid basis ("Partly Paid Notes") if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and any further or alternative terms applicable thereto shall be as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

#### (f) Denomination

Subject to Condition 9, Bearer Notes will be in the denomination(s) (each of which denominations must be integrally, divisible by each smaller denomination) set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement. Bearer Notes of one denomination will not be exchangeable after their initial delivery for Notes of any other denomination. Registered Notes will be in the denomination(s) and multiples set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

#### (g) Title

Title to Bearer Notes, Coupons and Talons will pass by delivery. Title to Registered Notes passes by registration in the register which is kept by the Registrar. References herein to the "Holders" of Bearer Notes or of Coupons are to the bearers of such Bearer Notes or such Coupons and references herein to the "Holders" of Registered Notes are to the persons in whose names such Registered Notes are so registered in the register.

To the extent permitted by law and subject to the provisions of the fourth paragraph of Condition 14(a) while the Notes of any Series are represented by a Note or Notes in global form, the Bank, the Principal Paying Agent, any other Paying Agents, the Transfer Agents, the Agent Bank and the Registrar may deem and treat the Holder of any Bearer Note or of any Coupon and the person in whose name any Registered Note is registered (and, if more than one, the first named thereof) as the absolute owner thereof (whether or not such Note shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership or writing thereon or notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) for the purpose of receiving payment on account thereof and for all other purposes.

#### (h) Transfer of Registered Notes

Subject as provided in the final sentence of this Condition 1(h), a Registered Note may, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Agency Agreement, be transferred in whole or in part only (provided that each of such part transferred and the balance not transferred is, or is an integral multiple of, the minimum denomination specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) upon the surrender of the Registered Note to be transferred, together with the form of transfer (including, without limitation, any certification as to compliance with restrictions on transfer included in such form of transfer) endorsed on it duly completed and executed, at the specified office of the Registrar or any of the Transfer Agents together with such evidence as the Registrar, or as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent may reasonably require to prove the title of the transferor and the authority of the persons who have executed the form of transfer. A new Registered Note will be issued to the transferee and, in the case of a transfer of part only of a Registered Note, a new Registered Note in respect of the balance not transferred will be issued to the transferor. No Holder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered during the period of 15 calendar days ending on the due date for any payment (whether of principal, redemption amount, interest or otherwise) in respect of such Note.

### (i) Delivery

Each new Registered Note to be issued upon the transfer of a Registered Note will, within five Relevant Banking Days (as defined in Condition 13) of the transfer date (as defined in Condition 13), be available for delivery at the specified office of the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent or (at the request and risk of the Holder of such Registered Note) be mailed by uninsured post to such address as may be specified by such Holder. For these purposes, a form of transfer received by the Registrar or any of the Transfer Agents after the Record Date (as defined in Condition 8(b)) in respect of any payment due in respect of Registered Notes shall be deemed not to be effectively received by the Registrar or such Transfer Agent until the day following the due date for such payment.

#### (i) No charge

The issue of new Registered Notes on transfer will be effected without charge to the Holder or the transferee by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent, but upon payment by the applicant of (or the giving by the applicant of such indemnity as the Registrar or, as the case may be, the relevant Transfer Agent may require in respect of) any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such transfers or exchanges.

#### (k) Regulations concerning transfer and registration of Registered Notes

All transfers of Registered Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations (the "Regulations") concerning exchange and transfer of Registered Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The Regulations may be amended, supplemented or replaced by the Issuer with the prior written approval of the Registrar but without the consent of the Holders of any Notes. A copy of the current Regulations are available for inspection during usual business hours at the specified office of the Registrar and the Transfer Agents.

#### (l) Rule 144A Legend

Upon the transfer, exchange or replacement of Registered Notes bearing the private placement legend (the "Rule 144A Legend") for the purpose of Rule 144A under the United States Securities Act of 1933 (the "Securities Act") set forth in the form of Registered Note scheduled to the Trust Deed, the Registrar shall deliver only Registered Notes that also bear such legend unless there is delivered to the Issuer and to the Registrar such satisfactory evidence, which may include an opinion, reasonably satisfactory to the Issuer, of counsel experienced in giving opinions with respect to questions arising under the securities laws of the United States, that neither the Rule 144A Legend nor the restrictions on transfer set forth therein are required to ensure that transfers thereof comply with the provisions of Rule 144A, Rule 144 or Regulation S under the Securities Act or that such Registered Notes are not "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act. The Issuer has covenanted and agreed in the Trust Deed that it will not acquire any beneficial interest, and will cause

its affiliates not to acquire any beneficial interest, in any Registered Note bearing the Rule 144A Legend unless it notifies the Registrar in writing of such acquisition. The Registrar and all Holders shall be entitled to rely without further investigation on any such notification (or lack thereof).

#### 2. Status

#### (a) Claims in Respect of Notes

The Notes of each Series (other than Subordinated Notes and Undated Subordinated Notes) constitute direct, unsecured obligations of the Issuer, ranking pari passu without any preference among themselves and, at their date of issue, ranking pari passu with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer other than any such obligations preferred by law.

The Notes of each Series of Subordinated Notes constitute direct, unsecured obligations of the Bank ranking *pari passu* without any preference among themselves. The rights of Holders of Subordinated Notes will, in the event of the winding up of the Bank, be subordinated in right of payment to the claims of depositors and all other creditors of the Bank other than claimants in respect of Subordinated Indebtedness (as defined in the Trust Deed) in the manner provided in the Trust Deed.

The Notes of each Series of Undated Subordinated Notes constitute direct, unsecured obligations of the Bank ranking pari passu without any preference among themselves. The rights of Holders of Undated Subordinated Notes will, in the event of the winding up of the Bank, be subordinated in right of payment to the claims of Prior Creditors (as defined in the Trust Deed) of the Bank. In the event of the winding up of the Bank in England, such Notes shall be treated as if at the close of business on the business day in London preceding the commencement of the winding up of the Bank the principal amount payable in respect of the Notes together with Arrears of Interest and accrued interest had been converted into Preference Shares, where appropriate, at the rate of exchange ruling on such preceding business day according to the terms set out in Condition 10.

"Preference Shares" means preference shares of £1 each in the capital of the Bank having a preferential right to a return of assets and to participate in the profits of the Bank in the winding up over the rights of the holders of all issued shares for the time being in the capital of the Bank and having such other rights and privileges and being subject to the restrictions set out in the Trust Deed.

Claims in respect of any Notes or Coupons may not be set off, or be the subject of a counterclaim, by the Holder against or in respect of any obligations of his to the Issuer, the Trustee or any other person.

#### (b) Undated Subordinated Notes: Condition of Payment

The Bank's obligation to make any payment of interest and, where applicable, any repayment of principal in respect of any Undated Subordinated Notes is conditional upon the Bank being able to make such payment and remain Solvent (as defined in the Trust Deed) immediately thereafter.

NB: If the Bank would not otherwise be Solvent (including liabilities to certain creditors who are not senior creditors) principal and interest on the Undated Subordinated Notes may be used to absorb further losses.

#### (c) Undated Subordinated Notes: Deferral of Interest

Where during the twelve months preceding a date on which interest is due to be paid in respect of any Series of Undated Subordinated Notes no dividend has been declared or paid on any class of share capital of the Bank, such due date shall be referred to as an "Optional Interest Payment Date".

The Bank may if it so elects, but shall not be obliged to, pay on any Optional Interest Payment Date the interest that is due to be paid on such date in respect of the relevant Undated Subordinated Notes and any failure to pay shall not constitute a default by the Bank for any purpose. Any interest not paid on an Optional Interest Payment Date shall (except to the extent such interest shall subsequently have been paid) constitute "Arrears of Interest".

In relation to any Series of Undated Subordinated Notes, Arrears of Interest may, prior to the commencement of the winding up of the Bank, be paid in whole or in part upon the expiration of not

less than seven days' notice to such effect given to the Holders of the Notes of such Series in accordance with Condition 14, but payment in respect of interest periods during which Arrears of Interest have accrued shall be made taking the earliest interest period first. Arrears of Interest shall otherwise only become payable, subject to Condition 2(b), on (i) the due date for repayment of the Notes to which such Arrears of Interest relate or (ii) the date on which any declaration or payment of any dividend on any class of share capital of the Bank is made. If notice is given by the Bank of its intention to pay any Arrears of Interest, the Bank shall be obliged, subject to Condition 2(b), to do so upon the expiration of such notice. Arrears of Interest shall not themselves bear interest.

The Bank shall give notice in accordance with Condition 14:

- (i) not more than 14 days nor less than 7 days prior to any Optional Interest Payment Date on which it elects not to make any payment of interest, of such election; and
- (ii) of any date on which Arrears of Interest shall have become payable.

#### (d) Subordinated Notes: Deferral of Payments

In the case of Subordinated Notes in relation to which this Condition 2(d) is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as applying, the Bank shall be entitled, by notice in writing to the Trustee (a "Deferral Notice"), to defer the due date for payment of any repayment of principal or payment of interest in respect of such Notes, and, accordingly, on the giving of such Notice the due date for payment of the relevant repayment or payment (the "Deferred Payment") shall be so deferred and the Bank shall not be obliged to make payment thereof on the date the same would otherwise have become due and payable, and such deferral of payment shall not constitute a default by the Bank. The Bank may only give a Deferral Notice in circumstances where if it were to make payment of the Deferred Payment it would not be in compliance with the capital adequacy requirements applied to it by the Financial Services Authority (or any successor authority in its function as supervisor of authorised institutions). Interest will accrue on principal deferred as aforesaid in accordance with the provisions of these Conditions and the Trust Deed, save that such interest shall only become due and payable at such time as the principal in respect of which it has accrued becomes due and payable under the following sentence. Promptly upon being satisfied that the Bank may make payment of the Deferred Payment or a part of it and be in compliance with the capital adequacy requirements applied to it by the Financial Services Authority (or any successor authority in its function as supervisor of authorised institutions) the Bank shall give to the Trustee written notice thereof (the "Payment Notice") and the relevant Deferred Payment (or the appropriate part of it) and any accrued interest as aforesaid shall become due and payable on the seventh day after the date of such notice to the Trustee. The Bank shall promptly give notice to the Holders of the relevant Series of Notes in accordance with Condition 14 of any Deferral Notice or Payment Notice.

NB: In the case of Notes which constitute Tier 3 capital, the Financial Services Authority requires to be notified by the Bank if its total eligible capital falls below its target capital requirement and deferral of payment of principal and interest in respect of such Notes may be required in order to comply with capital adequacy requirements in such circumstances.

#### 3. Interest on Fixed Rate Notes

Notes bearing interest at a fixed rate (each a "Fixed Rate Note") will bear interest on the principal amount (or, in the case of Partly Paid Notes, the principal amount paid up in respect thereof) of each Note as at its date of issue (less, in the case of any Instalment Note, any principal amount on which interest shall have ceased to accrue in accordance with the following paragraph) at the applicable fixed rate or rates per annum specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the rates of interest (each a "Rate of Interest") from the date specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the interest commencement date (the "Interest Commencement Date"). Interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates in each year specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement (each a "Fixed Interest Payment Date") and on the date specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as the date on which such Notes are to be redeemed (the "Maturity Date"). The first payment of interest will be made on the first Fixed Interest Payment Date following the Interest Commencement Date.

Interest will cease to accrue on each Fixed Rate Note on the due date for redemption thereof (or, in the case of an Instalment Note, in respect of each instalment of principal, on the due date for payment of the relevant Instalment Amount, as defined in Condition 6) unless, upon due presentation thereof or, in the case of a Registered Note, upon such due date, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue (as well after as before any judgment) up to and including the date on which, in the case of a Bearer Note, upon further presentation thereof, payment in full of the principal amount due in respect of such Fixed Rate Note is made or (if earlier) the date upon which notice is duly given to the Holder of such Fixed Rate Note that sufficient funds for payment of the principal amount due in respect of it, together with accrued interest, have been received by the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee or, in the case of a Registered Note, the date on which payment in full is made.

In respect of Fixed Rate Notes, the basis on which interest is calculated is as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

#### 4. Interest on Floating Rate Notes

#### (a) Accrual of Interest

Notes bearing interest at a floating rate (each a "Floating Rate Note") bear interest on the principal amount (or, in the case of Partly Paid Notes, the principal amount paid up in respect thereof) of each Note as at its date of issue (less, in the case of any Instalment Note, any principal amount on which interest shall have ceased to accrue in accordance with the following paragraph) from the Interest Commencement Date specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Interest will cease to accrue on each Floating Rate Note on the due date for redemption thereof (or, in the case of an Instalment Note, in respect of each instalment of principal, on the due date for payment of the relevant Instalment Amount) unless, upon due presentation thereof or, in the case of a Registered Note, upon such due date, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event, interest will continue to accrue (as well after as before any judgment) up to and including the date on which, in the case of a Bearer Note, upon further presentation thereof, payment in full of the principal amount due in respect of such Note is made or (if earlier) the date upon which notice is duly given to the Holder of such Note that sufficient funds for payment of the principal amount due in respect of it, together with accrued interest, have been received by the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee or, in the case of a Registered Note, the date on which payment in full is made.

In respect of Floating Rate Notes, the basis on which interest is calculated is as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

#### (b) Interest Payment Dates and Interest Periods

Interest on each Floating Rate Note will be payable in arrear on such dates as are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement for such purpose and on the due date for redemption of such Note (each, an "Interest Payment Date") provided that, unless otherwise set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, it shall be postponed to the next Business Day unless it would thereby fall in the next calendar month, in which event the Interest Payment Date shall be the immediately preceding Business Day. The first payment of interest will be made on the first Interest Payment Date following the Interest Commencement Date.

The period from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date up to (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each period thereafter from (and including) an Interest Payment Date to (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date is referred to herein as an "Interest Period" and the expression "Business Day", as used in this Condition 4(b), shall mean a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the place(s) specified for this purpose in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

#### (c) Rate of Interest

The rate at which Floating Rate Notes will bear interest (the "Rate of Interest") shall be determined by the Agent Bank on the basis of the following provisions:

- (i) the Rate of Interest in respect of an Interest Period shall, subject as provided below, be the Relevant Rate of the Benchmark (where such Relevant Rate is a composite quotation or interest rate per annum or is customarily supplied by one entity) or the arithmetic mean rounded upwards, if necessary, to the nearest 0.00001 per cent of the Relevant Rates of the Benchmark for the Interest Period which appear on the appropriate page of the Reuters Screen, Moneyline Telerate (as defined below) or such other information vending service as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement as at 11.00 a.m. (London time) or such other time as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement on the Interest Determination Date (as defined below) plus or minus (as appropriate) the percentage rate per annum (if any) over or under the Relevant Rate or, as the case may be, arithmetic mean of the Relevant Rates of the Benchmark by which the Rate of Interest is to be determined as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement (the "Margin"), all as determined by the Agent Bank;
- (ii) if the Reuters Screen, Moneyline Telerate or such other information vending service as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement does not contain an appropriate page in respect of the specified currency, or if fewer than two of the Relevant Rates appear at such time (other than where such Relevant Rate is a composite quotation or rate or is customarily supplied by one entity), or if the rates which appear as at such time do not apply to a period of a duration equal to the relevant Interest Period, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement (the "Fallback Rate");
- (iii) In this Condition 4(c) and in Condition 4(d) below only:
  - (a) the "Benchmark" means LIBOR or such other benchmark as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement;
  - (b) "Relevant Rate" means:
    - (A) an offered rate in the case of a Note the Benchmark for which relates to an offered rate; or
    - (B) a bid rate in the case of a Note the Benchmark for which relates to a bid rate; or
    - (C) the mean of an offered and bid rate in the case of a Note the Benchmark for which relates to the mean of an offered and bid rate,

as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement;

- (c) the expression "Interest Determination Date" means the day determined by the Agent Bank to be customary for fixing the Benchmark rate applicable to deposits in the relevant currency for the relevant Interest Period; and
- (d) the expression "the appropriate page of the Reuters Screen, Moneyline Telerate" means such page, whatever its designation, on which the Benchmark rates for deposits in the relevant currency of prime banks are for the time being displayed on the Reuters Monitor Money Rates Services or the Associated Press Dow Jones Moneyline Telerate Service.

#### (d) Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amount

The Agent Bank will, as soon as practicable after 11.00 a.m. (London time) or such other time as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement on each Interest Determination Date, determine the Rate of Interest and calculate the amount of interest payable in respect of each denomination of the relevant Floating Rate Notes (the "Interest Amount") for the relevant Interest Period.

The Interest Amount will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period to the principal amount (or, in the case of a Partly Paid Note, the principal amount paid up in respect thereof) of the relevant Note of each denomination, multiplying the product by the day count fraction set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement and rounding the resulting figure to the nearest applicable sub-unit of the currency in which such Note is denominated or, as the case may be, in which such interest is payable (one half of any such sub-unit being rounded upwards).

#### (e) Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amount

The Agent Bank will cause the Rate of Interest, the Interest Amount for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, the Principal Paying Agent, (in the case of Listed Notes) each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which such Notes have for the time being been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and, for as long as such Notes are represented by Global Notes, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other clearing system or depositary as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement as soon as possible after the determination thereof but in any event no later than the fourth business day thereafter. In respect of Floating Rate Notes which are Definitive Notes, the Agent Bank will give notice to the Noteholders of the Rate of Interest, the Interest Amount and the relevant Interest Payment Date in accordance with the provisions of Condition 14. The Interest Amount and the Interest Payment Date so notified in respect of any Notes may subsequently be amended (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without prior notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period. Any such amendment will be promptly notified to each stock exchange on which such Notes are for the time being listed.

#### (f) Determination or Calculation by the Trustee

If the Agent Bank does not at any time for any reason determine the Rate of Interest or calculate the Interest Amount, the Trustee shall do so and such determination or calculation shall be deemed to have been made by the Agent Bank. In doing so, the Trustee shall apply the foregoing provisions of this Condition 4, with any necessary consequential amendments, to the extent that, in its opinion, it can do so, and in all other respects it shall do so in such manner as it shall deem fair and reasonable in all the circumstances.

#### (g) Certificates, etc. to be Final

All certificates, communications, opinions, determinations, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purpose of the provisions of this Condition 4 whether by the Agent Bank or the Trustee shall (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Trustee, the Paying Agents, (where appropriate) the Registrar and the Holders of Notes and of the Coupons appertaining thereto. No Holder of Notes or of the Coupons appertaining thereto shall be entitled to proceed against the Agent Bank, the Trustee, the Paying Agents, the Registrar or any of them in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by them of their powers, duties and discretions hereunder.

#### 5. Variable Coupon Amount Notes and Zero Coupon Notes

In the case of Notes which bear interest at a variable rate or rates ("Variable Coupon Amount Notes"), the dates on which interest shall be payable and the method of calculation of the interest payable on each such date shall be as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

If any amount in respect of any Note which is non-interest bearing (a "Zero Coupon Note") is not paid when due, interest shall accrue on the overdue amount at a rate determined in accordance with the provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement.

#### 6. Redemption and Purchase

#### (a) Final Redemption

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled and subject as otherwise set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, Notes will be redeemed at their principal amount or such other redemption amount as may be set out in or determined in accordance with the relevant Pricing Supplement on the Maturity Date specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement (or, in the case of Instalment Notes, in such number of instalments and in such amounts ("Instalment Amounts") as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the relevant Pricing Supplement). In the case of Notes specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being undated, such Notes shall have no Maturity Date and shall be redeemed only in accordance with this Condition 6 or Condition 10.

#### (b) Redemption for Taxation Reasons

If the Issuer satisfies the Trustee immediately prior to the giving of the notice referred to below that:

- (i) on a subsequent date for the payment of interest on any Series of Notes the Issuer would be required to pay any additional amounts in accordance with the provisions of Condition 7; or
- (ii) if the Issuer were to seek to redeem the Notes (for which purpose no regard shall be had as to whether or not the Issuer would otherwise be entitled to redeem such Notes), the Issuer would (notwithstanding its having made such endeavours as the Trustee shall consider reasonable) be required to pay any additional amounts in accordance with the provisions of Condition 7,

the Issuer may, having given not less than 30 nor more than 45 days' notice (ending, in the case of Floating Rate Notes, on an Interest Payment Date) to the Noteholders in respect of such Series of Notes, redeem all, but not some only, of the Notes, at their principal amount or such other redemption amount as may be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement together with interest accrued and unpaid, if any, to the date fixed for redemption provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days (or in the case of Floating Rate Notes or Variable Coupon Amount Notes a number of days which is equal to the aggregate of the number of days in the then current Interest Period plus 60 days provided that such aggregate number of days shall not be greater than 90 days) prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts were a payment in respect of the Notes then due.

The Issuer may exercise such option in respect of any Note notwithstanding the prior exercise by the Holder thereof of its option to require the redemption of such Note under paragraph (d) below, if the due date for redemption under this paragraph (b) would occur prior to that under paragraph (d) but not otherwise and, in such circumstances, the exercise of the option under paragraph (d) shall be rendered ineffective.

Subject only to the obligation of the Issuer to use such endeavours as aforesaid, it shall be sufficient, to establish the circumstances required to be established pursuant to this Condition 6(b), if the Issuer shall deliver to the Trustee a certificate of an independent legal adviser or accountant satisfactory to the Trustee to the effect either that such circumstances do exist or that, upon a change in or amendment to the laws (including any regulations pursuant thereto), or in the interpretation or administration thereof, of the United Kingdom, which at the date of such certificate is proposed and in the opinion of such legal adviser or accountant is reasonably expected to become effective on or prior to the date on which the relevant payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes would otherwise be made, becoming so effective, such circumstances would exist.

#### (c) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

Where so set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, Notes shall be redeemable at the option of the Issuer. In such case, the Issuer may at any time (in the case of Fixed Rate Notes or Zero Coupon Notes), on any Interest Payment Date (in the case of Floating Rate Notes or Variable Coupon Amount Notes) or otherwise as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, on giving (in accordance with Condition 14) not less than 30 nor more than 60 days' notice (or such other period as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement) to the Noteholders (such notice being irrevocable) specifying the date fixed for such redemption, on the date so fixed, redeem all of such Notes (or, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and subject as therein specified, some only of the Notes) at their principal

amount or such other amount as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement together with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

If the Notes of a Series are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with this paragraph (c):

- in the case of Bearer Notes (other than a temporary global Note or permanent global Note),
   the Notes to be redeemed shall be drawn by lot in such European city as the Principal Paying Agent may specify, or identified in such other manner or in such other place as the Principal Paying Agent and the Trustee may approve and deem appropriate and fair; and
- in the case of Registered Notes, the Notes shall be redeemed (so far as may be practicable) pro rata to their principal amounts, provided always that the amount redeemed in respect of each Note shall be equal to the minimum denomination thereof or an appropriate multiple thereof.

subject always to compliance with all applicable laws and the requirements of each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the relevant Notes may have been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation.

In the case of the redemption of part only of a Registered Note, a new Registered Note in respect of the unredeemed balance shall be issued in accordance with Condition 13 which shall apply as in the case of a transfer of Registered Notes as if such new Registered Note were in respect of the untransferred balance.

#### (d) Redemption at the Option of the Noteholders

Where so set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, Notes shall be redeemable at the option of the Noteholders. In such case, upon any Noteholder giving to the Issuer notice of redemption (such notice being irrevocable) the Issuer will, in accordance with the provisions set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, redeem in whole (but not in part) the Note(s) specified in such notice at their principal amount or such other amount as may be set out in or determined in accordance with the relevant Pricing Supplement together with interest accrued thereon to the date fixed for redemption.

In order to give such notice, the Holder must, not less than 45 days before the date for redemption as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement (or such other period as may be set out in the Pricing Supplement), deposit the relevant Note (together, in the case of an interest-bearing Definitive Note, with any unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto) with, in the case of a Bearer Note, any Paying Agent, or, in the case of a Registered Note, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent together with a duly completed redemption notice in the form which is available from the specified office of any of the Paying Agents or, as the case may be, the Registrar or any Transfer Agent. The Holder of a Note may not exercise such option in respect of any Note which is the subject of an exercise by the Issuer of its option to redeem such Note under Condition 6(b) or (c).

#### (e) Purchases

The Bank or any holding or subsidiary company of it or any subsidiary of any such holding company may at any time purchase Notes at any price in the open market or otherwise and may resell the same.

#### (f) Cancellation

All Notes redeemed pursuant to paragraph (a), (b), (c) or (d) of this Condition 6 shall, and all Notes purchased pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Condition 6 may, at the option of the Issuer, be cancelled forthwith (together with, in the case of Definitive Bearer Notes, all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons attached thereto or surrendered therewith) by the Paying Agent through which they are redeemed or by the Principal Paying Agent to which they are surrendered. All Notes redeemed or purchased and cancelled as aforesaid may not be re-issued or resold.

#### (g) Zero Coupon Notes

Where Zero Coupon Notes are redeemed by the Issuer prior to the Maturity Date set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, they shall be redeemed at a redemption amount determined in accordance with the provisions set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

#### (h) Other Redemption Provisions

The relevant Pricing Supplement may provide for other circumstances in which Notes may or shall be redeemed, the amount payable on such redemption in respect of principal only, principal and interest or interest only and whether or not Notes so redeemed shall or may be cancelled pursuant to paragraph (f) of this Condition 6.

#### 7. Taxation

Except as otherwise set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, all payments by the Bank of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature, present or future, as are imposed or levied by or on behalf of the United Kingdom (or any authority or political subdivision therein or thereof having power to tax) unless the Bank is required by law to withhold or deduct any such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges.

In that event, the Bank will pay such additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts received by the Noteholders or Couponholders, as the case may be, after such withholding or deduction shall equal the respective amounts of principal and interest which would have been received in respect of the Notes and/or, as the case may be, Coupons in the absence of such withholding or deduction; except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon:

- (a) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Holder of a Note or Coupon who is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the United Kingdom other than the mere holding of such Note or Coupon; or
- (b) unless it is proved, in the case of Bearer Notes, to the satisfaction of the Principal Paying Agent or the Paying Agent to whom the same is presented, or, in the case of Registered Notes, to the satisfaction of the Registrar, that the Holder is unable to avoid such withholding or deduction by satisfying any statutory requirement or by making a declaration of non-residence or other similar claim for exemption to a Paying Agent or the relevant tax authorities (as applicable) or by notifying (and/or presenting evidence of such notification) any tax authorities of such payment of principal or interest or by presenting the relevant Note or Coupon at the specified office of another Paying Agent (whether within or outside the European Union); or
- (c) more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (defined below) except, in the case of Bearer Notes, to the extent that the Holder thereof would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting the same for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days; or
- (d) in the case of Registered Notes, unless the Holder, immediately upon becoming the Holder, (i) is eligible for the benefits of a tax treaty with the United Kingdom that provides for a complete exemption from withholding taxes on payments under the Notes, or (ii) is otherwise entitled to a complete exemption from withholding taxes on payments under the Notes; or
- (e) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a Holder who is not the sole beneficial owner of the Note or any Coupon, or a portion of either, or that is a fiduciary or partnership, but only to the extent that a beneficiary or settlor with respect to the fiduciary, a beneficial owner or member of the partnership would not have been entitled to the payment of an additional amount had the beneficiary, settlor, beneficial owner or member received directly its beneficial or distributive share of the payment; or

(f) where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a payment to an individual and is required to be made pursuant to any European Union Directive (the "Directive") on the taxation of savings implementing the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26th – 27th November 2000 or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, the Directive.

As used herein the "Relevant Date" means the date on which such payment first becomes due but, in the case of Bearer Notes, if the full amount of the money payable has not been received by the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee on or prior to such due date, it means the date on which, the full amount of such money having been so received, notice to that effect shall have been duly given to the relevant Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

Any reference in these Conditions to principal or interest or both in respect of the relevant Notes shall be deemed to include, as applicable:

- (i) any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition 7 or pursuant to any undertakings given in addition thereto or in substitution therefor pursuant to the Trust Deed;
- (ii) the principal amount payable on the relevant Notes on the Maturity Date specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement;
- (iii) the principal amount payable on redemption of the relevant Notes prior to such Maturity Date; and
- (iv) any premium and any other amounts which may be payable under or in respect of the relevant Notes.

#### 8. Payments

# (a) Bearer Notes

Payments of principal and interest (if any) in respect of Bearer Notes will (subject as provided below) be made against presentation and (save in the case of partial payment or payment of an Instalment Amount (other than the final Instalment Amount)) surrender of the relevant Note or, in the case of payments of interest, surrender of the relevant Coupon at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (subject to the next paragraph).

Payments of amounts due in respect of interest on Bearer Notes and exchanges of Talons for Coupon sheets will not be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in the United States (as defined in the United States Internal Revenue Code and Regulations thereunder) unless (a) payment in full of amounts due in respect of interest on such Notes when due or, as the case may be, the exchange of Talons at all the specified offices of the Paying Agents outside the United States is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions and (b) such payment or exchange is permitted by applicable United States law, in which case the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a further Paying Agent with a specified office in New York City.

If the due date for payment of any amount due in respect of any Bearer Note is not both a Relevant Financial Centre Day and a Local Banking Day (each as defined below), then the Holder thereof will not be entitled to payment thereof until the next day which is such a day and no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of such postponed payment unless there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Conditions in which event interest shall continue to accrue as provided in Condition 3, 4 or 5, as appropriate.

Payment of Instalment Amounts (other than the final Instalment Amount) in respect of an Instalment Note which is a Definitive Note with Receipts will be made against presentation of the Note together with the relevant Receipt and surrender of such Receipt.

The Receipts are not and shall not in any circumstances be deemed to be documents of title and if separated from the Note to which they appertain will not represent any obligation of the Issuer. Accordingly, the presentation of a Note without the relative Receipt or the presentation of a Receipt

without the Note to which it appertains shall not entitle the Holder to any payment in respect of the relevant Instalment Amount.

Upon the due date for redemption of any Definitive Bearer Note other than a Fixed Rate Note all unmatured Coupons and Talons (if any) relating to such Definitive Bearer Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of them. Definitive Bearer Notes which are Fixed Rate Notes should be presented for payment with all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto, failing which the face value of any missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that portion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total amount of principal due) will be deducted from the sum due for payment. Any amount of principal so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of the relevant missing Coupon within a period of ten years from the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7) for the payment of such principal, whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 11 or, if later, five years from the date on which such Coupon would have become due.

Notwithstanding the above, if any Definitive Bearer Notes should be issued with a Maturity Date and an interest rate or rates such that, on the presentation for payment of any such Definitive Bearer Note without any unmatured Coupons attached thereto or surrendered therewith, the amount required to be deducted would be greater than the amount otherwise due for payment, then, upon the due date for redemption, such unmatured Coupons (whether or not attached) shall become void (and no payment shall be made in respect thereof) as shall be required so that the amount required to be deducted would not be greater than the amount otherwise due for payment. Where the application of the foregoing sentence requires some but not all of the unmatured Coupons relating to a Definitive Bearer Note to become void, the relevant Paying Agent shall determine which unmatured Coupons are to become void, and shall select for such purpose Coupons maturing on later dates in preference to Coupons maturing on earlier dates. Upon any Definitive Bearer Notes becoming due and repayable prior to their Maturity Date, all unmatured Talons (if any) appertaining thereto will become void and no further Coupons will be issued in respect thereof.

In relation to Definitive Bearer Notes initially delivered with Talons attached thereto, on or after the due date for the payment of interest on which the final Coupon comprised in any Coupon sheet matures, the Talon comprised in the Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (save as provided above) in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (including any appropriate further Talon), subject to the provisions of Condition 11. Each Talon shall, for the purpose of these Conditions, be deemed to mature on the due date for the payment of interest on which the final Coupon comprised in the relative Coupon sheet matures.

If (otherwise than by reason of the application of the above) the due date for redemption of any Definitive Bearer Note is not the due date for the payment of a Coupon appertaining thereto, interest accrued in respect of such Note from (and including) the last preceding due date for the payment of a Coupon (or from the Issue Date or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be) will be paid only against surrender of such Bearer Note and all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto.

# (b) Registered Notes

Payment of the amount due on final redemption (the "Redemption Amount") in respect of Registered Notes will be made against presentation and, save in the case of partial payment of the Redemption Amount, surrender of the relevant Registered Notes at the specified office of the Registrar. If the due date for payment of the Redemption Amount of any Registered Note is not both a Relevant Financial Centre Day and a Local Banking Day (each as defined below), then the Holder thereof will not be entitled to payment thereof until the next day which is such a day and no further payment on account of interest or otherwise shall be due in respect of such postponed payment unless there is a subsequent failure to pay in accordance with these Conditions in which event interest shall continue to accrue as provided in Condition 3, 4 or 5, as appropriate.

Payment of amounts (whether principal, interest or otherwise) due (other than the Redemption Amount) in respect of Registered Notes will be paid to the Holder thereof (or, in the case of joint Holders, the first-named) as appearing in the register kept by the Registrar at the close of business (local time in the place of the specified office of the Registrar) on the fifteenth day prior to the due date for such payment (the "Record Date").

Payment will be made in the currency in which such amount is due either by cheque posted to the Noteholder's registered address (or, in the case of joint Holders, the first-named) not later than the relevant due date for payment unless prior to the relevant Record Date the Holder thereof (or, in the case of joint Holders, the first named) has applied to the Registrar and the Registrar has acknowledged such application for payment to be made to a designated account denominated in the relevant currency, in each case as specified in paragraph (c) below.

# (c) General Provisions

The following provisions apply to both Bearer Notes and Registered Notes. Payments of amounts due (whether principal, interest or otherwise) in respect of Notes will be made in the currency in which such amount is due either (a) by cheque, or (b) at the option of the payee, by transfer to an account denominated in the relevant currency specified by the payee.

Payments of principal, interest and other amounts (if any) in respect of Notes are subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws and regulations applicable in the place of payment but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 7.

For the purposes of these Conditions:

- (i) "Relevant Financial Centre Day" means a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the principal financial centre or centres for the currency in which payment falls to be made (or, in the case of payments which fall to be made in euro, a Euro Business Day or, where such currency is a National Currency Unit (as defined in Condition 9) and the Notes have been redenominated into euro pursuant to Condition 9, the former principal financial centre or centres) and in any other place set out in the Pricing Supplement;
- (ii) "Local Banking Day" means a day (other than a Saturday or Sunday) on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the city in which the Paying Agent to which the relevant Note or Coupon is presented for payment, or the Registrar is located; and
- (iii) "ISDA Definitions" means the 2000 ISDA Definitions (as amended and supplemented as at the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series) as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (formerly the International Swap Dealers Association, Inc.).

Without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the Bank reserves the right to require any person receiving payment of principal, interest and/or other sums with respect to any Note or Coupon to provide a Paying Agent with such certification or information as may be required to enable the Bank to comply with the requirements of the United States Federal Income Tax laws or such other laws as the Bank may be required to comply with.

#### 9. Redenomination

# (a) General

Where redenomination is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, and in respect of Notes denominated in a National Currency Unit (as defined below) (the "Relevant Currency") the Issuer may, without the consent of the Trustee or the Noteholders, on giving at least 30 days' prior notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14, designate a Redenomination Date in respect of such Notes.

#### With effect from the Redenomination Date:

- (i) each Note shall (unless already so provided by mandatory provisions of applicable law) be deemed to be redenominated into an amount of euro in the denomination of euro 0.01 with a principal amount for each Note equal to the principal amount of that Note in the Relevant Currency converted into euro at the rate for the conversion of the Relevant Currency into euro established by the Council of the European Union pursuant to the Treaty (including compliance with rules relating to roundings in accordance with EC regulations); Provided, however, that, if the Issuer determines, with the prior approval of the Trustee, that the market practice in respect of the redenomination into euro 0.01 of internationally offered securities is different from that specified above, such provisions shall be deemed to be amended so as to comply with such market practice and the Issuer shall promptly notify the Noteholders, each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and the Paying Agents of such deemed amendments;
- (ii) if Notes are in definitive form:
  - (A) all unmatured Coupons denominated in the Relevant Currency (whether or not attached to the Notes) will become void with effect from the date (the "Euro Exchange Date") on which the Issuer gives notice (the "Euro Exchange Notice") to the Noteholders that replacement Notes and Coupons denominated in euro are available for exchange (provided that such Notes and Coupons are available) and no payments will be made in respect thereof;
  - (B) the payment obligations contained in all Notes denominated in the Relevant Currency will become void on the Euro Exchange Date but all other obligations of the Issuer thereunder (including the obligation to exchange such Notes in accordance with this Condition 9(a)(ii)) shall remain in full force and effect; and
  - (C) new Notes and Coupons denominated in euro will be issued in exchange for Notes and Coupons denominated in the Relevant Currency in such manner as the Principal Paying Agent may specify and as shall be notified to the Noteholders in the Euro Exchange Notice;
- (iii) all payments in respect of the Notes (other than, unless the Redenomination Date is on or after such date as the Relevant Currency ceases to be a sub-division of the euro, payments of interest in respect of periods commencing before the Redenomination Date) will be made solely in euro, as though references in the Notes to the Relevant Currency were to euro. Such payments will be made in euro by credit or transfer to a euro account (or any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) maintained by the payee with a bank in the principal financial centre of any member state of the European Communities; and
- (iv) such other changes will be made to the Programme as the Issuer may decide, with the prior written approval of the Trustee, to conform such Notes to conventions then applicable to instruments denominated in euro. Any such other changes will not take effect until after they have been notified to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

None of the Issuer, the Trustee, or any Paying Agent will be liable to any Noteholder or other person for any commissions, costs, losses or expenses in relation to or resulting from any credit or transfer of euro or any currency conversion or rounding effected in connection therewith.

# (b) Interest

Following redenomination of the Notes pursuant to Condition 9(a) above:

(i) where Notes are in definitive form, the amount of interest due in respect of the Notes will be calculated by reference to the aggregate principal amount of the Notes presented (or, as the case may be, in respect of which Coupons are presented) for payment by the relevant holder and the amount of such payment shall be rounded down to the nearest euro 0.01;

- (ii) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes where interest is payable annually, any interest required to be calculated for a period of less than one year in respect of the Notes shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed divided by 365 (or, if any of the days elapsed falls in a leap year, the sum of (a) the number of those days falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (b) the number of those days falling in a non-leap year divided by 365); Provided, however, that, if the Issuer determines, with the prior agreement of the Trustee, that the market practice in respect of internationally offered euro denominated securities is different from that specified above, the above shall be deemed to be amended so as to comply with such market practice and the Issuer shall promptly notify the Noteholders, each stock exchange (if any) on which the Notes are then listed and the Paying Agents of such deemed amendment;
- (iii) in respect of Fixed Rate Notes where interest is payable quarterly or semi-annually, the amount of interest payable in respect of each Note on any Fixed Interest Payment Date shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the principal amount of such Note, dividing the product by four or two (as the case may be) and rounding the figure down to the nearest euro 0.01. If interest is required to be calculated for any other period, it shall be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed divided by 365 (or, if any of the days elapsed falls in a leap year, the sum of (a) the number of those days falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (b) the number of those days falling in a non-leap year divided by 365); Provided, however, that, if the issuer determines, with the prior agreement of the Trustee, that the market practice in respect of such internationally offered euro denominated securities is different from that specified above, the above shall be deemed to be amended so as to comply with such market practice and the Issuer shall promptly notify the Noteholders, each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and the Paying Agents of such deemed amendment;
- (iv) in respect of Floating Rate Notes, the Interest Amount payable in respect of the Notes for each Interest Period will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period to the principal amount of such Note multiplying the product by the actual number of days in such Interest Period divided by 360 and rounding the resulting figure down to the nearest euro 0.01; and
- (v) in respect of Floating Rate Notes, the Rate of Interest for any subsequent Interest Period shall be determined by the Agent Bank on the basis of provisions which it determines, in its sole and absolute discretion, reflect the market practice in respect of such internationally offered euro denominated securities.

# (c) Definitions

As used in these Conditions:

- "euro" and "EUR" means the lawful currency of the member states of the European Union that have adopted or adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty;
- "Euro Business Day" means a day on which the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET) System is open;
- "National Currency Unit" means the national currency unit of any Participating Member State that becomes a denomination of the euro by reason of Council Regulation (EC) No. 1103/97, Council Regulation (EC) No. 974/98 or any other applicable laws;
- "Participating Member State" means any member state of the European Union that has adopted or adopts the single currency in accordance with the Treaty;
- "Redenomination Date" means a date which:
- (i) in relation to interest-bearing Notes, shall be a date on which interest in respect of such Notes is payable;

- (ii) is specified by the Issuer in the notice given to the Noteholders pursuant to Condition 9(a);
- (iii) falls on or after such date as the country of the Relevant Currency becomes a Participating Member State; and
- "Treaty" means the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended.

#### 10. Enforcement

(a) In the case of any Series of Notes other than Subordinated Notes and Undated Subordinated Notes, if default is made for a period of 14 days or more in the repayment of any principal due on the Notes of such Series or any of them or in the payment of any interest due in respect of the Notes of such Series or any of them, then the Trustee may at its discretion, and if so requested by the Holders of at least one-fifth in principal amount of such Notes then outstanding or if so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Holders of such Notes (subject in each case to being indemnified to its satisfaction) shall, give written notice to the Issuer that the Notes of such Series are immediately due and repayable, whereupon the principal amount of such Notes or such other amount as set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement shall become immediately due and repayable together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date of actual repayment;

Provided that it shall not be such a default to withhold or refuse any such payment (1) in order to comply with any fiscal or other law or regulation or with the order of any court of competent jurisdiction, in each case applicable to such payment or (2) in cases of doubt as to the validity or applicability of any such law, regulation or order, in accordance with advice given at any time during the said period of 14 days by independent legal advisers acceptable to the Trustee as to such validity or applicability.

- (b) In the case of any Series of Subordinated Notes or Undated Subordinated Notes:
  - (i) subject to Conditions 2(c) and 2(d), if default is made for a period of 7 days or more in the repayment of any principal due on the Notes of such Series or any of them or for a period of 14 days or more in the payment of any interest due in respect of the Notes of such Series or any of them, then the Trustee may, in order to enforce payment, at its discretion and without further notice, in the case of a Series of Subordinated Notes or Undated Subordinated Notes, institute proceedings for the winding up of the Bank in England,
    - Provided that it shall not be such a default to withhold or refuse any such payment (1) in order to comply with any fiscal or other law or regulation or with the order of any court of competent jurisdiction, in each case applicable to such payment or (2) in cases of doubt as to the validity or applicability of any such law, regulation or order, in accordance with advice given at any time during the said period of 7 or 14 days, as the case may be, by independent legal advisers acceptable to the Trustee as to such validity or applicability;
  - (ii) the Trustee may at its discretion and without further notice institute such proceedings against the Bank as it may think fit and may, subject as hereinafter provided, institute proceedings for the winding up of the Bank in England to enforce any obligation, condition or provision binding on the Bank under the Trust Deed in relation to such Series of Subordinated Notes or Undated Subordinated Notes or under such Notes or the Coupons appertaining thereto (other than any obligation for the payment of any principal or interest in respect of such Notes or Coupons) provided that the Bank shall not by virtue of the institution of any such proceedings other than proceedings for the winding up of the Bank be obliged to pay any sum or sums (whether in respect of principal or interest or other sums in respect of the relevant Notes or the Coupons appertaining thereto or by way of damages in respect of any breach of any such obligation, condition or provision or otherwise howsoever). The Trustee may only institute proceedings for the winding up of the Bank to enforce the obligations above referred to in this paragraph if a default by the Bank thereunder is not remedied to the satisfaction of the Trustee within 60 days (or such longer

period as the Trustee may permit) after notice of such default has been given to the Bank by the Trustee requiring such default to be remedied.

NB: The restriction on the payment of damages would have the effect of limiting the remedies available to the Trustee in the event of a breach of certain covenants by the Bank.

- (c) In the case of any Series of Notes, in the event of an order being made or an effective resolution being passed for the winding up of the Bank in England (otherwise than in connection with a scheme of reconstruction or amalgamation the terms of which shall previously have been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Holders of the relevant Series of Notes) the Trustee may declare the Notes of the relevant Series to be due and redeemable immediately (and such Notes shall thereby become so due and redeemable) at their principal amount together with accrued interest as provided in the Trust Deed and the relevant Pricing Supplement (or, in the case of Undated Subordinated Notes, at the amount calculated pursuant to Condition 10(cc) below) or at such other amount, or at such amount calculated in accordance with such other formula, as is set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- (cc) In the event of the winding up of the Bank in England (otherwise than in connection with a scheme of reconstruction or amalgamation the terms of which shall previously have been approved in writing by the Trustee or by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Holders of the relevant Series of Notes), each Series of Undated Subordinated Notes then outstanding shall be treated as if at the close of business on the business day in London preceding the commencement of the winding up of the Bank the principal payable in respect of such Notes and accrued interest had been converted into Preference Shares credited as fully paid according to the following formula:

$$N = \frac{P}{R}$$

where

- N = the number of Preference Shares into which each such Note is deemed to be converted, rounded down to the nearest whole number;
- P = the principal amount of such Note and, in respect of such Note, all Arrears of Interest and accrued interest; and
- R = the equivalent in the currency in which the principal amount of such Note is denominated of one pound sterling as determined as at 11.00 a.m. on such preceding business day in London by the Trustee by reference to market rates;

whereupon, the entitlement of the Holders of such Undated Subordinated Notes in respect of the principal repayable and interest payable in respect of such Notes shall be in lieu of the repayments and payments herein before provided (and subject to Condition 2), to be paid only such sums as would have been payable in respect of such Preference Shares exclusive of any tax credit given in relation to dividends payable thereon.

- (d) The Trustee shall not in any event be bound to take any of the actions referred to in Condition 10(b)(i) or (ii) or Condition 10(c) above in respect of any Series of Notes unless (i) it shall have been so requested in writing by the Holders of at least one-fifth of the principal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series then outstanding or it shall have been so directed by an Extraordinary Resolution of the Holders of the Notes of the relevant Series and (ii) it shall have been indemnified to its satisfaction.
- (e) No remedy against the Bank other than as specifically provided by this Condition 10 or the Trust Deed shall be available to the Trustee, the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of any Series of Notes whether for the recovery of amounts owing in respect of such Notes or the Coupons appertaining thereto or under the Trust Deed or in respect of any breach by the Bank of any obligation, condition or provision under the Trust Deed or such Notes or Coupons or otherwise, and no Noteholder or Couponholder shall be entitled to proceed directly against the Bank unless

the Trustee, having become bound to proceed, fails to do so within a reasonable period and such failure shall be continuing in which case any such Holder may, upon giving an indemnity satisfactory to the Trustee, in the name of the Trustee (but not otherwise), himself institute proceedings against the Bank for the relevant remedy to the same extent (but not further or otherwise) that the Trustee would have been entitled to do so.

# 11. Prescription

Notes and Coupons will become void unless presented for payment within a period of 10 years and five years, respectively, from the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 7) in respect thereof. Any monies paid by the Issuer to the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee for the payment of the principal or interest in respect of any Notes or Coupons and remaining unclaimed when such Notes or Coupons become void will then revert to the Issuer and all liability of the Principal Paying Agent or the Trustee with respect thereto will thereupon cease.

There shall not be included in any Coupon sheet issued in exchange for a Talon any Coupon the claim for payment in respect of which would be void pursuant to this Condition 11 or Condition 8.

# 12. Paying Agents, Transfer Agents, Agent Bank and Registrar

The Agency Agreement contains provisions indemnifying the Principal Paying Agent, the Paying Agents and Transfer Agents (if any), the Agent Bank and the Registrar and absolving them from responsibility in connection with certain matters. The Agency Agreement may be amended by the parties thereto in relation to any Series of Notes if, in the opinion of the Issuer and the Trustee, the amendment will not materially adversely affect the interests of the relevant Holders.

The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Principal Paying Agent, any Paying Agent or Transfer Agent, the Agent Bank or the Registrar and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents and/or Transfer Agents or a substitute Agent Bank or a substitute Registrar, provided that it will, so long as any Notes are outstanding, maintain (i) an Agent Bank, (ii) a Paying Agent having a specified office in a city approved by the Trustee (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) in Europe which, so long as any Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, shall be the place required by such listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, (iii) in the case of any Registered Notes, a Registrar with a specified office in England or such City as may be specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement and (iv) if the conclusions of the ECOFIN Council meeting of 26-27 November 2000 are implemented, there will at all times be a Paying Agent with a specified office outside the European Union. Notice of all changes in the identities or specified offices of any Paying Agent, Agent Bank or Registrar will be given by the Issuer to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 14.

#### 13. Replacement, Exchange and Transfer

Should any Note or Coupon be lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the specified office (in the case of a Bearer Note or Coupon) of the Principal Paying Agent or such other Paying Agent or office as the Trustee may approve or (in the case of Registered Notes) of the Registrar upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection therewith and on such terms as to evidence and indemnity as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Agency Agreement and the relevant Pricing Supplement, a Registered Note may be exchanged for a Registered Note or Notes of equal aggregate principal amount in such different authorised denominations as may be requested by the Noteholder by surrender of such Registered Note at the specified office of the Registrar, together with a written request for the exchange.

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Agency Agreement, a Registered Note may be transferred in whole or in part only (provided that such part is, or is an appropriate multiple of, the minimum denomination set out in the Pricing Supplement) by the Holder or Holders surrendering the Registered Note for registration of transfer at the office of the Registrar, duly endorsed by, or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Issuer and the Registrar, duly executed by the Holder or Holders thereof or his or their attorney duly authorised in writing. A new Registered Note will be issued to the transferee and, in the case of a transfer of part only of a Registered Note, a new Registered Note in respect of the balance not transferred will be issued to the transferor.

If so set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement, the Holder of Bearer Notes may exchange the same for the same aggregate principal amount of Registered Notes upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Agency Agreement. In order to exchange a Bearer Note for a Registered Note, the Holder thereof shall surrender such Bearer Note at the specified office outside the United States of the Principal Paying Agent or of the Registrar together with a written request for the exchange. Each Bearer Note so surrendered must be accompanied by all unmatured Coupons appertaining thereto other than the Coupon in respect of the next payment of interest falling due after the Exchange Date (as defined below) where the Exchange Date would, but for the provisions of this paragraph, occur between the Record Date (as defined in Condition 8(b)) for such payment of interest and the date on which such payment of interest falls due.

Each new Registered Note to be issued upon the transfer of a Registered Note or the exchange of a Bearer Note for a Registered Note will, within three Relevant Banking Days of the Transfer Date or, as the case may be, the Exchange Date be available for delivery at the specified office of the Registrar or, at the option of the Holder requesting such exchange or transfer be mailed (by uninsured post at the risk of the Holder(s) entitled thereto) to such address(es) as may be specified by such Holder. As used herein:

- (i) "Relevant Banking Day" means a day on which commercial banks are open for business (including dealings in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in the place where the specified office of the Registrar is located and, in the case only of an exchange of a Bearer Note for a Registered Note where such request for exchange is made to the Principal Paying Agent, in the place where the specified office of the Principal Paying Agent is located:
- (ii) the "Exchange Date" shall be the Relevant Banking Day following the day on which the relevant Bearer Note shall have been surrendered for exchange in accordance with the foregoing provision; and
- (iii) the "Transfer Date" shall be the Relevant Banking Day following the day on which the relevant Registered Note shall have been surrendered for transfer in accordance with the foregoing provisions.

The costs and expenses of effecting any exchange or registration of transfer pursuant to the foregoing provisions, except for the expenses of delivery by other than regular mail or insurance charges that may be imposed in relation thereto, shall be borne by the Issuer.

The Registrar shall not be required to register the transfer of or exchange Registered Notes for a period of 15 days preceding the due date for any payment of principal of or interest in respect of such Notes.

# 14. Notices

(a) All notices to the Holders of Notes or the Coupons appertaining thereto will be valid if published in one leading daily newspaper with general circulation in London (which is expected to be the *Financial Times*) or if such publication is not practicable, if published in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once, on the date of the first such publication (or, if required to be published in more than one newspaper, on the first date on which publication shall have been made in all the required newspapers).

Holders of any Coupons appertaining to Bearer Notes will be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Holders of such Bearer Notes in accordance herewith.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any notices to Holders of Registered Notes will be deemed to have been validly given if mailed to their registered addresses (as advised by the Registrar) or to that of the first named of them in the case of joint Holders.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, while the Notes of any Series are represented by a Note or Notes in global form ("Global Notes") and such Global Notes are deposited with, or with a depositary for or on behalf of, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other clearing system or depositary, each person who has for the time being a particular principal amount of the Notes credited to his securities account in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or such other clearing system or depositary shall be treated as the Holder in respect of that principal amount of the Notes for all purposes other than for the purposes of payment of principal and interest on such Notes, and in such case notices to the Holders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to the relevant clearing system or depositary and such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Holders holding through the relevant clearing system or depositary on the date of delivery to the relevant clearing system or depositary.

- (b) Notices given by any Noteholder shall be in writing and given by lodging the same, together with the relative Note or Notes, with the Principal Paying Agent or other Paying Agent (if any) at its specified office.
- (c) For so long as any Registered Notes remain outstanding and are "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act, the Issuer has agreed under the Trust Deed that it shall, during any period in which it is neither subject to Section 13 or 15(d) under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") nor exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Exchange Act, furnish to any Holder of, or beneficial owner of an interest in, such Registered Notes, or to any prospective purchaser thereof, upon request of such Holder, such information as is required to be provided pursuant to Rule 144A(d)(4) under the Securities Act in order to permit compliance with Rule 144A in connection with the resale of such restricted securities.

# 15. Modification of Terms, Waiver and Substitution

The Trust Deed contains provisions for convening meetings of the Holders of the Notes of any Series to consider any matter affecting their interests, including, subject to the agreement of the Issuer, the modification by Extraordinary Resolution of the terms and conditions of such Notes or the provisions of the Trust Deed with respect to such Notes except, *inter alia*, certain terms concerning the amount and currency and the postponement of the due date of payment of the Notes and the Coupons appertaining thereto or interest or other amount payable in respect thereof, the modification of which may only be effected if passed at a meeting the quorum at which is persons holding or representing not less than two thirds, or at any adjourned such meeting not less that one third, in principal amount of the Notes of such Series for the time being outstanding.

An Extraordinary Resolution passed at any meeting of the Holders of the Notes of any Series will be binding on all Holders of Notes of that Series, whether or not they are present at the meeting, and on the Holders of Coupons appertaining to the Notes of that Series.

Subject to certain exceptions, the Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Holders of Notes of any Series or the Holders of the Coupons appertaining thereto (if any) to:

- (i) any modification of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed; and
- (ii) any waiver or authorisation of any breach or proposed breach of any of the provisions of the Trust Deed,

which, in either case, is not in the opinion of the Trustee materially prejudicial to the interests of the Holders of Notes of that Series. Any such modification, waiver or authorisation shall be binding on the Holders of Notes of that Series and the Holders of the Coupons appertaining thereto and, unless the Trustee agrees otherwise, shall be notified to the Holders of Notes of that Series as soon as practicable thereafter.

Subject to such amendment of the Trust Deed and such other conditions as the Trustee may require, but without the consent of the Holders of Notes of any Series or the Holders of the Coupons appertaining thereto (if any), the Trustee may also agree, subject to such Notes and the Coupons appertaining thereto being irrevocably guaranteed by the Bank (on a subordinated basis in the case of Subordinated Notes or Undated Subordinated Notes), to the substitution of a subsidiary or holding company of the Bank or any subsidiary of any such holding company in place of the Bank as principal debtor under such Notes and the Coupons appertaining thereto (if any) and the Trust Deed insofar as it relates to such Notes.

In connection with the exercise of its powers, trusts, authorities or discretions (including, but not limited to those in relation to any proposed modification, waiver, authorisation, or substitution as aforesaid) the Trustee shall have regard to the interests of the Holders of the Notes of the relevant Series as a class and in particular, but without limitation, shall not have regard to the consequences of such exercise for individual Noteholders or Couponholders resulting from the individual Noteholders or Couponholders being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Noteholder or Couponholder be entitled to claim, from the Bank any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequence of any such exercise upon individual Noteholders or Couponholders.

#### 16. Further Issues

The Issuer shall be at liberty from time to time without the consent of the Holders of Notes of any Series or Holders of the Coupons appertaining thereto (if any) to create and issue further notes ranking equally in all respects (or in all respects save as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) with the Notes of such Series so that the same shall be consolidated and form a single series with such Notes for the time being outstanding.

#### 17. Law and Jurisdiction

The Trust Deed, the Notes and the Coupons (if any) and all related matters are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law. The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute arising from or connected with the Notes.

In the case of a substitution under Condition 15, the Trustee may agree, without the consent of the Holders of the Notes of any Series or of the Coupons appertaining thereto, to a change of the law governing the Notes of any Series or the Coupons appertaining thereto and/or the Trust Deed insofar as it relates to such Series of Notes provided that such change would not in the opinion of the Trustee be materially prejudicial to the interests of the Holders of the Notes of such Series, but the Trustee shall, in giving such agreement, have regard to the interests of the Holders of the Notes of such Series as a class and in particular, but without limitation, shall not have regard to the consequences of such change for individual Noteholders or Couponholders resulting from their being for any purpose domiciled or resident in, or otherwise connected with, or subject to the jurisdiction of, any particular territory, and the Trustee shall not be entitled to require, nor shall any Holders of the Notes of any Series or of the Coupons appertaining thereto be entitled to claim, from the Bank any indemnification or payment in respect of any tax consequences of any such substitution upon individual Holders of the Notes of any Series or of the Coupons appertaining thereto.

# 18. Third Party Rights

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes or the Trust Deed under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.

# **USE OF PROCEEDS**

The net proceeds of the issue of each Series of Notes issued by the Bank will be used in the conduct of the business of the Bank.

# HSBC BANK PLC AND ITS SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKINGS

The following information (except for the information under the heading "Recent Developments") has been extracted from the Bank's Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2002.

# Introduction

HSBC Bank plc and its subsidiaries form a UK-based financial services group providing a wide range of banking, treasury and financial services to personal, commercial and corporate customers, mainly in the United Kingdom and continental Europe. The Bank's strategy is to build long-term relationships and reward customers through value-for-money products and high-quality service.

HSBC Bank plc (formerly Midland Bank plc) was formed in England in 1836 and subsequently registered as a limited company in 1880. In 1923, the company adopted the name of Midland Bank Limited which it held until 1982 when the name was changed to Midland Bank plc.

During the year ended 31 December 1992, Midland Bank plc became a wholly owned subsidiary undertaking of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC Holdings"), whose Group Head Office is at 8 Canada Square, London E14 5HQ. HSBC Bank plc adopted its current name, changing from Midland Bank plc, in the year ended 31 December 1999.

HSBC Holdings, together with its subsidiary undertakings, joint ventures and associates, is referred to as the "HSBC Group". The HSBC Group is one of the largest banking and financial services organisations in the world, with over 8,000 offices in 80 countries and territories in Europe, the Asia-Pacific region, the Americas, the Middle East and Africa. Its total assets at 31 December 2002 were £471 billion. The Bank is the HSBC Group's principal operating subsidiary undertaking in Europe.

Since 1999, the Bank has been following the HSBC Group's "Managing for Value" strategy, which focuses on the delivery of wealth management services to personal customers, aligning its corporate and investment banking businesses, and growing its commercial business. As part of the HSBC Group's key initiative to align corporate and investment banking, the activities of HSBC Investment Bank plc were transferred to the Bank in November 2002.

As at 31 December 2002, the Bank's principal subsidiary undertakings and their main geographical areas of activity were:

| • | CCF S.A. (formerly Crédit Commercial de France S.A.) | France         |
|---|--|----------------|
| • | HSBC Asset Finance (UK) Limited                      | United Kingdom |
| • | HSBC Bank A.S.                                       | Turkey         |
| • | HSBC Bank International Limited                      | Jersey         |
| • | HSBC Bank Malta p.l.c.                               | Malta          |
| • | HSBC Guyerzeller Bank AG                             | Switzerland    |
| • | HSBC Invoice Finance (UK) Limited                    | United Kingdom |
| • | HSBC Life (UK) Limited                               | United Kingdom |
| • | HSBC Rail (UK) Limited                               | United Kingdom |
| • | HSBC Republic Bank (Guernsey) Limited                | Guernsey       |
| • | HSBC Republic Bank (Suisse) SA                       | Switzerland    |
| • | HSBC Republic Bank (UK) Limited                      | United Kingdom |
| • | HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt KGaA                       | Germany        |
| • | HSBC Trust Company (UK) Limited                      | United Kingdom |

On 28 June 2002, Merrill Lynch HSBC Holdings Limited ("MLHSBC") became a 100 per cent owned subsidiary of the HSBC Group. On 1 November 2002, Merrill Lynch HSBC Limited was transferred to the Bank. MLHSBC was formed as a 50:50 joint venture between the HSBC Group and Merrill Lynch in April 2000 to provide direct investment and banking services, primarily over the

internet, to "mass affluent" investors outside the United States. MLHSBC has a licence to continue to use Merrill Lynch as part of its name and for clients to have access to Merrill Lynch research for up to two and a half years from 28 June 2002.

On 1 July 2002, the Bank acquired a 73.47 per cent interest in HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt KGaA, as part of the HSBC Group's strategic restructuring to align its corporate and investment banking activities.

On 1 July 2002, the Bank acquired 97.82 per cent of HSBC Republic Bank (UK) Limited, as part of the HSBC Group's continued restructuring of its Private Banking activities.

On 19 September 2002, HSBC Bank A.S. in Turkey purchased 100 per cent of Benkar Tuketici Finansmani ve Kart Hizmetleri A.S. ("Benkar") a consumer finance and card services company, from Boyner Holding A.S.

On 30 November 2002, the investment banking activities of HSBC Investment Bank plc were transferred to the Bank.

The Bank's strategy centres on building long-term customer relationships by listening to customers, understanding their needs and delivering the most effective solutions. In accordance with this strategy, the Bank continues to invest in improving customer relationship management systems, creating more convenient channels, developing innovative and flexible products and building a reputation for fair pricing.

In line with the HSBC Group, the Bank commenced a communication programme in the UK during 2002, designed to give the HSBC brand a strongly differentiated image in the minds of customers, with the ultimate aim of increasing business. The results at the end of 2002 were encouraging, with a marked improvement in the level of awareness of the HSBC brand.

While the Bank continues to develop telephone and internet propositions, it remains committed to community banking and its most important delivery channel, the branch network where it has 1,633 branches, including 42 outlets in supermarkets. Experienced managers are located in local branches with authority to provide a timely, efficient and flexible service to both personal and business customers. Developments in the branch network continue to focus on creating more time for branch staff to serve customers by removing back office work to central processing sites.

The Bank has an extensive network of cash, pay-in and statement machines and provides some 3,000 Automated Teller Machines (ATMs) for use by customers. Customers also have access to over 42,000 cash machines through the UK LINK network and over 835,000 ATMs worldwide.

Global processing, through the establishment of Group Service Centres (GSCs), continues to play an important role in the HSBC Group's strategic aim of pursuing economies of scale in order to increase productivity and achieve a competitive and economic advantage. Since their introduction in 1996, the GSCs have progressively fulfilled more of the back office functions previously undertaken by the HSBC Group's principal members across the world, in the UK, the Hong Kong SAR, the UAE, the United States and Canada. The centres provide a wide range of activities for a growing number of business areas, including cards, mortgage processing, investment products and retail banking.

The Bank continues to seek synergies to maximise long-term value. Two outsourcing projects have now been completed: cash processing to Securitas Cash Management Limited and cheque and credit clearing services to Intelligent Processing Solutions Limited. The Bank works closely with its new partners to improve processes and systems for the benefit of customers, as well as increasing efficiency.

# **Business Segments**

The Bank divides its activities into the following business segments: UK Personal Banking, UK Commercial Banking, UK Corporate and Institutional Banking, and UK Treasury and Capital Markets; Investment Banking; International Banking; CCF; Private Banking (formerly HSBC Republic); and HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt.

# UK Personal Banking

The Bank's personal banking activities comprise current accounts, savings, personal lending, mortgages, cards and wealth management services. These are delivered to customers through a number of channels under the HSBC and First Direct brands.

The personal banking market has seen further growth by "direct" (especially internet) providers and aggressive pricing competition by mortgage-based banks. The Bank continues its strategy to broaden and deepen its personal customer relationships. In surveys, 93 per cent of the Bank's personal customers state they were satisfied or very satisfied with the service they received. In a survey completed in December 2002, the percentage of customers saying that they were very satisfied was 52 per cent, while the average for the main competitors, Barclays, Lloyds TSB, NatWest, Halifax and Abbey National, was 47 per cent.

Customer demand for remote services continued to grow and the Bank responded with further investment in internet banking, TV banking and self-service machines. Some 1.2 million customers are now registered for personal internet banking (www.hsbc.co.uk) with a further 177,000 customers registered for TV banking. These customers access their bank account details around one million times weekly via personal internet banking and TV banking and over 50 per cent of the payments on demand are being made online.

The number of quality screen-based "Individual Solutions" sales contacts increased to over nine million. "Individual Solutions" accounted for 33 per cent of all customer contacts in 2002.

The number of individual service reviews or face-to-face discussions with customers increased from 234,000 in 2001 to 485,000 in 2002.

Customers continue to seek easy access to banking services and five million calls per month are now answered across the HSBC group call centres (excluding First Direct). Over 50 per cent of all calls to the telephone banking service are handled through the automated interactive voice recognition system, providing an efficient service for the customer and cost-effective delivery for the Bank.

In response to growth in call volumes 200,000 calls per month are now answered in a call centre in Hyderabad, in India, leveraging the Bank's international infrastructure. Customers' desire to buy financial products and services over the telephone continues to grow. Over 780,000 sales were made by Direct Financial Services in 2002, an increase of over 57 per cent on 2001. More than £740 million was advanced on personal loans agreed by the centralised telephone operation. Automated dialler technology has been employed to increase the efficiency of outbound telephone contacts.

The Bank introduced "intelligent" call routing to direct callers, using the automated telephone banking service, to a customer service representative when it may be of benefit to the customer.

The Customer Relationship Management ("CRM") system, developed in recent years, has been further enhanced. Regarded as class-leading among UK financial institutions, this system makes relevant customer information available to all customer-facing staff and facilitates highly personalised marketing. The CRM system now helps offer tailored solutions to internet banking customers.

A new service, "Your Personal Financial Summary", was introduced providing over six million personal customers with a single document summarising all their products and services with the Bank. It has also led directly to an additional 216,000 contact opportunities, through customer requests for products and services.

Current accounts – the Bank's research shows that four out of five customers move their accounts for reasons other than price. In 2002, the Bank increased its current account base by 3.9 per cent. The Bank operates a very effective account switching service that comfortably meets the recommendations made by the Banking Services Consumer Codes Review Group. In 2002, HSBC Bank plc was the first major bank to significantly reduce overdraft interest rates for unauthorised borrowing. The Bank has chosen to improve overdraft pricing as customer research suggests it is what most customers would like to see changed.

The HSBC *Premier* customer base grew by 44 per cent compared with 2001 and these customers have an average of over five Bank products. The *Premier* telephone service now enables the opening of personal loans, credit cards and savings accounts. Twenty-two per cent of *Premier* customers are registered for personal internet banking. HSBC *Premier* International Services was launched during the year to meet the needs of customers who require financial services in more than one country.

Savings – the Bank offers an extensive range of savings accounts including Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs), high interest savings (60-day notice), instant access savings and young savers accounts. Average balances increased by 19 per cent over the last year and by 51 per cent over the last two years. According to a *MORI* report in June 2002, the Bank was a top five provider of cash ISAs in the UK.

Personal lending – the Bank has outperformed the market in personal loan volumes, achieved through enhanced customer contact programmes. Market share increased from 5.2 per cent in 2001 to 6.3 per cent in 2002 without sacrificing credit quality. More than 127,000 personal loans were arranged by telephone or over the internet.

Mortgages – in 2002, the Bank advanced over 130,000 mortgages, twice as many as in 1999 before the introduction of the Bank's "new deal for customers". The Bank's market share of net new lending increased from 2.5 per cent in 1999 to nearly 5.8 per cent in 2002 and total mortgage balances nearly doubled in the last five years. The Bank was again the winner of the *What Mortgage*? award for Best National Bank over two, five and 10 years and the *Your Mortgage* magazine winner for the first time with the Editor's Special Award for its price promise. A "Buy to Let" mortgage was launched in May 2002.

Cards – the Bank issues a comprehensive range of credit cards under the Mastercard and Visa brand labels and develops high value customer relationships by providing tailored credit cards as an integral part of the Bank's customer relationship strategy. Thirty per cent of new customers are now offered premium cards. The HSBC *Premier* credit card has one of the best interest rates in the market with no annual fee.

The Bank continues to work closely within the industry to counter card fraud. During 2002, the Bank rolled out more cards, incorporating smart card technology and has contained its costs of card fraud below industry averages.

Wealth management – this includes pensions, loan protection, investments, general insurance, private client services, estate planning, executorships and stockbroking activities.

The Bank's combined market share for its principal investment products, Open Ended Investment Companies and ISAs, was maintained at over 5 per cent during 2002.

Net sales to personal customers of the Bank's life, protection and investment products (through its tied sales force) were 7 per cent higher than 2001, despite a difficult investment market. The Bank is well placed to grow wealth management business as a result of "depolarisation", a series of changes to the regulations governing the way investment and protection products are distributed that will allow the Bank to supply third party products as well as its own. The Bank's strategy will be to give customers more choice.

The cross-sales opportunities arising from increased mortgage sales have resulted in an increased market share for mortgage term life policies, from 5.4 per cent in the final quarter of 2001 to 5.8 per cent in the third quarter of 2002. Market share for all individual regular premium life insurance policies has increased from 3.8 per cent in the final quarter of 2001 to 4.7 per cent in the third quarter of 2002. The Bank is one of the leading providers of individual income protection policies with market share increasing strongly from 14.5 per cent in the final quarter of 2001 to 19.3 per cent in the third quarter of 2002. The Individual Income Protection Plan was awarded a "best buy" in Which? magazine in 2002.

Private client services offer discretionary portfolio management services and independent financial advice to high net worth individuals. Despite the impact of adverse stock markets, new funds increased

by 8 per cent over 2001. Over the last three years, the Bank has increased new funds by 59 per cent and increased sales of broked insurance and investment products by over 80 per cent. HSBC Trust Company (UK) Limited was ranked second in a survey of the top 50 independent financial advisers by *Investment Advisor* magazine.

The Bank launched two new general insurance products in 2002: "Home Emergency" and "Legal Assistance". For the second year running "Home Cover" received Which? "best buy" recommendations for both buildings and contents cover.

Merrill Lynch HSBC Limited has now been integrated into the personal banking business, providing banking and investment services to self-directed investors, who can transact through its web site (www.mlhsbc.com) or client contact centres.

First Direct – provides personal 24-hour banking, mortgage and wealth management services, 365 days a year by telephone and the internet.

First Direct's pre-tax profit increased by 51 per cent in 2002 to £49.5 million as a result of strong customer demand, increased use of the internet and product innovation. It has maintained its lead as the UK's most recommended bank according to MORI.

Asset balances grew by 35 per cent during the year, predominantly due to the launch of the "smartmortgage" product in July 2001. Mortgage balances grew from £1.6 billion in June 2001 to £3.6 billion by the end of 2002.

The launch of the Bonus Savings Account in October 2002 has attracted balances of over £1.3 billion to date, contributing to a 23 per cent growth in customer deposit balances during the year.

First Direct attracted 88,900 new customers during 2002. It remains Britain's most recommended bank having consistently the most satisfied banking customers in Britain. Only 5 per cent of customers recorded a complaint in the last year, lower than any other bank, and 74 per cent were very satisfied with the way the complaint was handled, considerably ahead of any other bank. First Direct customers hold an average of 2.93 products each, more than any other UK bank.

First Direct continues to win awards. During 2002, these included the top ranking for "understanding customer needs" by Reader's Digest, providing "best customer service" by Personal Finance magazine, "best current account provider" awarded by Guardian Observer Consumer Finance and "best direct sharedealing service" by Your Money Direct. First Direct also received awards from What Mortgage magazine for "Best Overall National Lender over 10 years" for the fourth successive year and for "Best Centralised Lender over 10 years" for the ninth successive year. In addition, First Direct was recognised as being in the "Top 100 Companies to work for" in a report issued by the Sunday Times.

First Direct continued to grow its independent life, pensions and investments business, offering products from leading providers, coupled with a telephone-based advice service. Commission income in 2002 was 30 per cent higher than in 2001.

The growth in First Direct's e-channel services has continued with 54 per cent of customers now using the internet (www.firstdirect.com), mobile phone or WAP banking. Sixty per cent of customer contacts with First Direct are now made electronically. Sales from internet banking and mobile phone banking sources have increased, with 12 per cent of all product sales now attributable to e-channels.

#### UK Commercial Banking

The Bank's commercial banking business focuses on providing products and services to a broad range of commercial organisations, from sole proprietors to major companies. The Bank remains committed to serving local business communities through its extensive network of branches. This commitment was further strengthened in January 2002, when a number of specialist sales forces were integrated into the branch network. Working with relationship managers, this facilitates a "one-stop shop" for business financial services.

The Bank is also committed to increasing customer choice and, during 2002, invested in the development of alternative sales channels. Dedicated business telephone banking centres have been set up in Swansea, Edinburgh and Hyderabad in India and handled inbound calls from approximately 134,000 registered users in 2002. A business outbound telephone centre was established in Leicester during 2002 and made over 38,000 referrals to branches and product managers, 60 per cent of which resulted in a sale.

In January 2002, the Bank launched "Business Internet Banking" (www.bib.hsbc.com). This service extends electronic banking to the Bank's smaller business customers and 35,000 customers registered in its first full year of operation. Significant growth in this channel is anticipated in 2003, once active marketing commences.

HSBC Bank plc has recently been named "Best High Street Clearing Bank for Small Businesses" in the prestigious biennial survey of their membership undertaken by the Forum of Private Business (FPB). Their survey of over 6,500 members ranked the Bank the best of the major banks in terms of customer satisfaction, competence of managers and friendliness of staff, least cause to complain, speed of service, closeness of relationship to customers and fairness of bank charges.

In a separate survey, the UK 200 Group, the country's largest national group of accountancy firms, also voted HSBC Bank plc the "Best Bank for Business" for the third year running.

The members of Factors Chain International ("FCI") voted the Bank the "Best Factor in the UK". FCI is a chain of correspondent debt factors who offer export services in countries where the exporting factor has no representation. Each member of FCI is able to vote on the service it receives from correspondents.

By focusing on customer needs, employing product specialists, investing in new sales channels and effective marketing, the Bank has increased its share of the business start-up market and seen a strong net increase in customers switching between banks. During 2002, over 87,000 start-up accounts were opened, an increase of more than one third over 2001. The number of customers moving accounts from competitors to the Bank has also grown, contributing to an increase in the customer base of more than 6 per cent.

The year has also seen a good performance on customer retention. Attrition levels for the Bank's customer base are well below those of its peers, due to the quality of service and the effective delivery of relationship management. This is supported by the FPB survey referred to above, which showed the Bank to have the lowest proportion of customers who considered switching banks.

During the year, discussions took place with the Office of Fair Trading (OFT) following the completion of the Competition Commission's report on the provision of banking services to small and medium-sized businesses. The Bank has developed a package of initiatives estimated to be worth £80 million per annum to its customers. With effect from 1 January 2003, interest on current accounts is paid automatically to all qualifying customers. Further initiatives include the introduction of a new instant access savings account and better terms for start-up businesses. In its report, the Competition Commission placed HSBC Bank plc ahead of its high street competitors. Their survey showed that the Bank's customers are the most satisfied with their bank overall, the Bank is top-ranked for both business account services and relationship management, and the Bank's customers are the most satisfied with pricing.

Payments and cash management – the Bank provides a full range of account services to small and medium market commercial banking customers including the payment of supplier invoices, staff-related expenses and the collection of customers' receivables. Core services are cheque and cash processing, money transmission and electronic payments designed to meet all domestic and international needs. Customers can access these services via a full range of channels including branch, telephone, internet or other electronic services. The Bank is one of the largest users of both BACS and CHAPS payment systems and is fully involved in all updates and enhancements. The Bank promotes cross-border solutions to its growing commercial customer base with pan-European needs, utilising the Bank's presence in Europe, in particular CCF in France and HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt in Germany.

Business current and deposit accounts – the Bank offers an extensive range of business current and deposit accounts. Deposit balances increased by 9 per cent on 2001, influenced by a widespread movement away from equity investments during the year. Products and services are reviewed regularly to ensure they reflect changing market requirements and, accordingly, the "Business Money Manager" account will be launched in 2003 as the Bank's primary commercial savings product. This account has the flexibility of a sight deposit and also rewards the customer for the length of time money is deposited.

Trade services – with experience going back 138 years, trade services are a core strength of the HSBC Group. A strong presence in Europe, Asia-Pacific, the Americas and the Middle East has resulted in the HSBC Group being recognised as one of the world's largest trade services organisations. In this context, the Bank offers a range of services and expert advice to both experienced importers and exporters, and those considering trading internationally for the first time. The HSBC Group's local knowledge and international expertise help to simplify the processes and reduce the risks associated with trading overseas.

Following the recent weakness in the global economy, it is now more important than ever for customers to seek the type of tailored trading solutions afforded by the Bank's blend of traditional and specialised products. As well as helping with the terms of trade, the Bank can finance international business, offer foreign exchange facilities, establish guarantees and make and receive payments on behalf of customers. The Bank has successfully implemented an internet-based documentary credit advisory service and will continue to look at ways of utilising modern technology. The Bank acquired an export services business in 2002 and now offers a complete range of export administrative services covering document preparation, data provision, freight and credit management.

Despite the weakness of international trade, especially exports, customer numbers increased 5 per cent in 2002, resulting in a significant increase in new business over the previous year.

Lending – business lending remains a core activity for the Bank. A range of specialist products such as invoice finance, leasing and hire purchase complement overdrafts and term loans. Medium-term lending grew by 9.3 per cent during the year, driven by a customer-focused approach to structured lending and improved pricing tools. However, the Bank continues to adopt a prudent credit management policy.

HSBC Vehicle Finance is one of the UK's largest providers of contract hire to businesses. It offers a range of propositions to meet customer needs for the acquisition and management of vehicles across all customer segments: personal, commercial and corporate fleet customers. Total fleet size has grown to 79,000 vehicles and volumes of new business acquired from Bank relationships are up 22 per cent, reflecting the benefits of integration with the branch network.

The "HSBC DriverQuote" product, an online fleet contract hire quotation system, was launched during the year. The system is a market leader in its field and, as a result, won "The Fleet Innovation Gold Award" by the fleet and business car magazine *Fleet Week*.

In 2002, there was significant growth within invoice finance, 10 per cent in the client base and 3 per cent in client invoices factored. This included a 13 per cent growth in the number of clients taking the credit protection product and supports the 11 per cent income growth seen by the business. Recognising the impact of a deteriorating economic environment, particularly for manufacturing, this represents significant underlying growth in the business. Integration of the sales force within the network continues to improve introductions and new business income grew by 25 per cent in the year.

Business wealth management – the Bank offers a wide range of expertise to help business owners and directors manage their business and personal wealth efficiently through to retirement. For business protection, the Bank offers products such as key person insurance and partnership protection. Sales of products such as these have grown significantly, up by 11 per cent on 2001. The Bank is now one of the top providers of regular premium stakeholder pensions in the UK market, with a 6.3 per cent market share. Investment income has performed well, despite the performance of equities during the year.

# Corporate, Investment Banking and Markets

The HSBC Group is ideally placed to serve the international operations of its corporate and institutional clients, whose needs are increasingly complex. The Bank is committed to tailoring its services to meet the demands of these large clients where it already has a very strong position, enjoying relationships with many of the FTSE 250 corporates and financial institutions. Consequently, resources have been organised to support a pan-European proposition within the global context, to meet the needs of multi-banked clients who want to concentrate their relationships with a smaller number of core global banks.

Building on its capability here, the Bank has integrated its wholesale banking activities bringing together the corporate, treasury and investment banking skills required to service these important clients.

# UK Corporate and Institutional Banking (CIB)

The Bank's UK corporate and institutional banking team comprises over 100 relationship managers, based in London, providing dedicated relationship management to corporate and financial institutional clients.

These relationship managers are organised into pan-European specialist industry groups to enable the Bank to better understand and respond to the needs of customers, providing "one-stop shop" sourcing of a wide range of products and services from across the HSBC Group. In this way, the Bank has been able to support clients seeking to develop globally and needing a range of different financial services. These services include products offered by the Bank's Treasury and Capital Markets division.

Payments and cash management – the HSBC Group is a major provider of global payments and cash management services.

Amongst major corporates, the Bank is recognised as a leading supplier of domestic and international money transmission and payments services. The *Euromoney* 2002 survey reported the Bank as being one of the top three international cash management providers.

The Bank continues to extend comprehensive and global cash management solutions to corporate and institutional clients across Europe. Further investment in its European infrastructure complements investments by the HSBC Group in other regions of the world, and makes the HSBC Group one of the few international banks able to offer cash management solutions on a worldwide basis.

Electronic banking channels continue to be developed and enhanced, including the extension in 2002 of direct bank-to-customer connectivity. In 2003, a dedicated internet banking capability for corporate and institutional clients will be launched.

In the financial institutions sector, the Bank is the leading CHAPS bank and a recognised leader in payment services across a range of currencies. The Bank's treasury clearing proposition has been enhanced by the launch of Continuous Linked Settlement services in September 2002. The Bank took a lead position in this banking industry initiative and is actively using the system to launch new service propositions to institutional and corporate customers and reduce its own risk.

Global investor services ("GIS") – offers comprehensive international, European and UK custodian services and operates in 70 markets worldwide. GIS has over 1,400 contracted customers from the investment industry, with over £700 billion of assets under custody.

On this platform, GIS also engages in agency stocklending of both fixed income and equity instruments and offers corporate trust services worldwide for the issuing and paying of debt instruments. The strength in such value-added services has seen GIS well positioned to withstand the difficult trading conditions experienced in the investment markets in 2002.

GIS also maintains a key role in the HSBC Group's wealth management strategy, acting as custodian to both HSBC Asset Management and the HSBC Group's private client business. GIS has invested heavily in developing the HSBC Group's new core custody system, which is due to be implemented in 2005.

Global funds services – provides a wide range of investment administration and performance consultancy services for owners and managers of investment funds with over 80 now using them since their launch in 2000. The investment administration includes daily processing and pricing for both onshore and offshore funds. Performance consultancy covers both relative fund performance analysis and Global Investment Performance Standards verification.

Lending – this continues to be a core product for the corporate market and the Bank's client-focused approach allows it to deliver the most appropriate lending product to meet the needs of these international clients. This may be vanilla overdraft or term debt although, increasingly, much business is done through the Bank's debt capital markets team where the Bank is ranked first in bond issuance in all currencies for UK and French corporations.

A wide range of specialist products is also provided, which meet the short-, medium- and long-term financing requirements of clients. The Bank's prudent credit management policy, together with its industry specialist relationship approach, has enabled it to better support clients and strengthen relationships in difficult market conditions.

Structured finance – provides a selection of finance and operating lease products to support corporate clients' investment in large-scale, long-term assets. The business is primarily focused on clients in the transport and industrial sectors, with the bulk of the assets financed being railway rolling stock, passenger aircraft, cargo shipping and industrial plant.

# UK Treasury and Capital Markets

The Bank's major dealing room in London serves as the hub for the HSBC Group's European network of treasury and capital markets activities. It delivers a high-quality tailored service to the HSBC Group's corporate, commercial and institutional clients. The major product areas are money markets, foreign exchange and fixed income. These are complemented by activities in exchange-traded futures, precious metals and banknotes.

Money markets – this business is a conduit for personal and corporate deposits in all principal currencies. The Bank is a major participant in the professional money markets, taking institutional deposits and managing the Bank's retail bank clearing operations. In the past two years, the Bank has reduced its reliance on the interbank market for the application of surplus liquidity, with the establishment of a highly rated corporate bond portfolio, which now stands at £4.9 billion.

Foreign exchange (FX) and foreign exchange derivative markets – the HSBC Group is a leading participant in the global foreign exchange markets and continues to rank highly in a number of international polls. The Bank provides its customers with sophisticated, round-the-clock coverage in all of the world's major currencies. Moreover, the extensive geographical reach of the HSBC Group enables the Bank to provide its customers with detailed knowledge and support in less liquid and emerging markets to cater for their execution and hedging needs.

FXall, of which the HSBC Group is a founder member, has re-affirmed its position as the leading multi-contributor FX e-trading platform, winning awards in *Euromoney* and *FXWeek* in 2002. The HSBC Group has also launched www.markets.hsbc.com which was recently voted number one "single bank internet trading site for FX" by the corporate survey in *FX Week's* annual poll. There has been significant growth in these distribution channels over the past year, with 15 per cent of the Bank's customer FX activity now executed electronically.

Fixed income – this area includes the HSBC Group's debt capital markets and interest rate derivative activities. The HSBC Group is a leading originator and underwriter, having particular strengths in sterling, euros and Hong Kong dollars. It serves a diverse customer base: sovereign governments and agencies, supranational agencies, financial institutions and major corporations. Specialised capital market solutions are provided for project and asset-backed financing. In the secondary markets, the HSBC Group is a major market maker, both in the government and non-government bond markets. Risk management advisory services are provided to assist clients in managing their interest rate and

currency risks through the use of derivative products. The pan-European debt platform created with the acquisition of CCF is now bringing rewards in debt origination and bond issuance.

The importance of electronic platforms continues to grow in the fixed income arena, with new e-channels in support of debt origination activities. During 2003, it is intended to launch an e-syndications book building application across the HSBC Group and to selected clients. Secondary market activities are aided by giving clients access to the multi-dealer TradeWeb platform.

Exchange-traded futures and options – Treasury and Capital Markets offers an international execution, research and clearing service for key currency, interest rate, bond and equity futures and options, with innovative and flexible account structures and a sophisticated online interface.

# Investment Banking

There are three main components of investment banking:

Corporate finance and equities – this business provides corporate and institutional clients with advisory services in connection with mergers and acquisitions, asset disposal, equity capital, stock market listings, privatisation and capital restructuring. The equity business focuses on the core sectors relevant to the Bank's clients offering a wide variety of equity research, sales and trading services to institutional, corporate and retail clients as well as providing an integrated service in equity derivatives, convertibles and portfolio trading.

Merchant banking – this business encompasses project and export finance, aviation and structured finance, syndicated finance, HSBC Equator and Amanah Finance. Project and export finance offers non-recourse financing to exporters, importers and financial institutions, working closely with all major credit export agencies. Aviation and structured finance provides advice and financing for complex and tax efficient investment facilities, utilising international operations to facilitate cross-border transactions. Syndicated finance is integrated into the Bank's debt financing and advisory platform and draws together structured finance, syndicated finance, debt capital and advisory services. HSBC Equator provides merchant, investment banking and commercial banking services throughout sub-Saharan Africa. Amanah Finance develops and structures products that are consistent with Islamic laws for its private client, institutional and corporate customers.

Private equity – the HSBC Group offers institutional investors in Europe, Asia and the Americas the opportunity to invest in unlisted equities, including corporate restructurings, acquisition finance and development capital. Terms have been agreed to sell the fund management activities of HSBC Private Equity Limited to its management. The Bank will retain a 19.9 per cent interest in the company which will be renamed Montagu Private Equity Limited. It is anticipated that the transaction will be completed by the end of the first quarter of 2003.

# International Banking

International Banking provides financial services, primarily across Europe, including wealth management (personal and private banking, retail stockbroking and funds management) to local and expatriate customers, and wholesale banking (corporate, small commercial and investment banking, trade finance, payments and cash management and treasury services) to corporate and institutional clients. At the end of 2002, it had offices in 25 countries and territories.

Turkey – the Bank acquired Demirbank TAS in October 2001 and, for the first time, the full year results of this business are reflected in the accounts. During 2002, the operations and business activities of Demirbank were successfully integrated and merged with those of HSBC Bank A.S. The combined operation now serves customers through a variety of channels: 163 branches, call centres, ATMs and internet banking.

On 19 September 2002, HSBC Bank A.S. completed the purchase of Turkey's largest independent consumer finance and card services company, Benkar, and its high-profile "Advantage" brand. At the time of acquisition, Benkar had over 280 participating merchant firms and over one million Advantage

card holders. The Advantage card can be used at over 5,000 points-of-sale in Turkey. The customer base has now been integrated into HSBC Bank A.S.

Offshore – HSBC Bank International Limited is the HSBC Group's dedicated provider of offshore financial and wealth management services for expatriate customers worldwide. The value of the HSBC Group offshore proposition to customers has been evidenced by a year-on-year growth in investment transactions achieved in difficult investment market conditions. To cater exclusively for the needs of expatriates and customers with international banking and investment requirements, HSBC Bank International Limited established a branch in the Hong Kong SAR and implant operations within the HSBC Group branches in Singapore and South Africa. Working in close co-operation with local HSBC Group entities, these offices service existing customers and also advise potential customers on offshore banking and investment products.

The business has recently received three highly commended awards from the *International Investment* magazine, in association with Standard and Poor's, in the categories of "Best Offshore Banking Group", "Best Technology Service" and "Best Offshore Fund".

Wealth management sales, including funds, investments, life and pension products and services continue to be a key strategic aim. The international funds distribution team has facilitated sales of over £650 million into a broad spectrum of offshore investment products, across 65 HSBC Group entities in 50 countries and territories.

Malta – several new products were launched including a world growth fund, an international bond fund, an equity-linked deposit account and a new home loan product "Homestart", specifically targeted at first time buyers.

A number of initiatives have taken place to improve operational efficiencies, including the centralisation of back office credit administration and the processing of trade services products and activities.

Greece – HSBC Gold and Classic Visa credit cards were launched during the year, extending the product offering to the enlarged personal customer base following the acquisition of the Barclays branch network in 2001.

Russia – following a strategic review of the Bank's operations in Moscow, additional capital has been injected and new staff recruited to support growth in corporate business.

Central Asia – Kazakhstan continued to grow its business with both multinational and local companies, resulting in an increased balance sheet and improved financial results.

# CCF

Retail and commercial banking operations of CCF comprise the parent company with 226 branches and a network of 10 regional banks, with a total of 556 branches. Each regional bank operates in a specific geographical area with very strong local market representation under its own brand name. These include Banque Hervet (Paris and central France), Société Marseillaise de Crédit (Provence and south of France) and Union de Banques à Paris.

CCF offers retail products and services through a number of complementary distribution channels, such as online (www.ccf.fr), telephone and mobile phone banking. CCF's online brokerage service was launched in 1999, providing customers and non-customers alike with trading opportunities on the Paris Bourse. In addition, financial information including stock quotes, French and international newswires and research is also available. CCF's online credit company, Netvalor, offers credit for large household purchases directly to consumers through its dedicated consumer credit site (www.123credit.com).

The CCF networks also offer high-quality products and services to medium-sized French corporates and, in the regional subsidiaries, to entrepreneurs. CCF provides a number of online account management products and services, comprising trade account management, business intelligence, centralised corporate treasury management, electronic payments systems and the recovery of unpaid receivables, all branded under its "Elys" product line. In addition, CCF delivers secure payment

facilities that permit merchants to manage order and inventory functions and conduct bank transactions simultaneously.

CCF offers equity and corporate finance services, with teams integrated within the group. It advises on transactions involving notably French, British and international clients across a wide range of industries including retailing, chemicals, pharmaceuticals, banking, finance and insurance and entertainment. CCF has been one of the most active French banks advising on privatisations in France, where it has built a strong reputation. CCF is actively involved in significant debt and equity issues, including initial public offerings on the Paris Bourse. It also provides asset financing as well as structured financing for many well-known corporates. Through a specialised subsidiary, Sinopia, CCF gives investment advice and third-party fund management in connection with commercial and residential real estate investment.

CCF supplies asset management services, primarily through three full-service fund management firms that serve institutional clients, as well as retail networks, with proprietary or non-proprietary products. HSBC Asset Management (Europe) SA is a major global mainstream discretionary manager; Sinopia specialises in active quantitative management together with guaranteed and structured products. HSBC Multimanager (Europe) is an independent service provider for fund selection and multi-management.

Elysées Fonds is a subsidiary that has a strong presence in the corporate savings plan market.

CCF offers a wide range of insurance products, including comprehensive health insurance, personal property casualty insurance and homeowners' insurance through its associated companies Erisa and Erisa IARD.

The private banking business has grown both organically and through the selective acquisition of a number of specialist institutions, including Banque du Louvre, Banque Eurofin and Banque Dewaay (in Brussels) and through the transfer of HSBC Bank France S.A. in July 2002 from Private Banking.

# Private Banking

The group's principal private banking activities are grouped under a Swiss holding company, HSBC Private Banking Holdings (Suisse) SA. As at 31 December 2002, subsidiary banks comprised HSBC Guyerzeller Bank AG and the international private banking operations of HSBC Republic located in Guernsey, the Hong Kong SAR, Jersey, London, Luxembourg, Monaco, Nassau, Singapore and Switzerland.

Client services include advisory portfolio management, discretionary asset management, tax, trust and estate planning, mutual funds and currency and securities transactions, as well as lending on a collateralised basis.

Private banking activities achieved a 10 per cent growth in funds under management in 2002, despite the fall in world stock markets.

Considerable progress was made during the year in regrouping the HSBC Group's private banking activities under HSBC Private Banking Holdings (Suisse) SA. This coherent ownership structure brings together the full range of both onshore and offshore private banking services to a growing customer base of predominantly European, Middle Eastern and Latin American high net worth individuals and their families.

The reorganisation of private banking operations in Asia under HSBC Republic Bank (Suisse) was completed in 2002 and HSBC Republic is now one of the region's three largest private banks. The operations infrastructure was rationalised to take advantage of scale efficiencies and clients were segmented according to both their needs and size of portfolio.

As part of a strategic objective to align onshore and offshore private banking operations, domestic and international private banking operations in the United Kingdom were successfully unified. The combined business of HSBC Republic Bank (UK) Limited was transferred to HSBC Private Banking Holdings (Suisse) SA, effective from 1 July 2002.

In June 2002, HSBC Guyerzeller Bank AG, which focuses on discretionary management and trustee services, completed the integration of Handelsfinanz-CCF Bank SA and Crédit Commercial de France

(Suisse) SA. This initiative greatly strengthens Private Banking's presence in Geneva and provides important synergies and long-term cost savings.

During 2002, HSBC Private Banking Holdings (Suisse) SA also acquired HSBC Republic Holdings (C.I.) Limited, HSBC International Trustee Limited and HSBC Financial Services (Cayman) Limited, adding a further £39 billion in total client assets under management.

Private Banking has actively sought to increase credit services to clients and has succeeded in growing the lending book by 22 per cent. The trust business in Asia and the Channel Islands has been expanded and, working closely with HSBC Group Insurance, new tax efficient insurance products have been launched. Private Banking's range of investment funds continued to expand, especially in the alternative and hedge fund sector. The Hermitage Fund, the largest public equity fund dedicated to Russia, continues to be rated as one of the best performing equity funds in emerging markets.

Following successful trials in Asia during 2001, the roll-out of internet banking services to clients in the United Kingdom and Switzerland was completed in 2002. There are now over 5,400 registered clients. This facility will be extended to other Private Banking locations during 2003.

Working closely with HSBC Bank plc's retail banking operations has led to a significant increase in client referrals and to the introduction of business to other areas of the HSBC Group.

#### HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt

HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt KGaA (HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt) based in Düsseldorf, Germany has branches in seven major German cities and has a subsidiary bank, HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt (International) SA, in Luxembourg.

A partnership limited by shares, quoted on German stock exchanges, HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt is directed by five personally liable managing partners. It preserves the 200-year heritage of a private bank, with the great flexibility and creativity that its size and structure fosters, while leveraging the advantages of the HSBC Group's worldwide reach and capabilities.

HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt offers a comprehensive range of services to wealthy private clients, largeand medium-size enterprises, institutional investors, public corporations and financial institutions. Its particular strengths lie in portfolio management, international business, interest rate and currency management, new issues on the debt and capital markets, corporate finance and mergers and acquisitions advisory. It has built a considerable reputation for innovative new issues, and for the delivery of well-designed products and services tailored to clients' distinctive requirements. Client business is strongly underpinned by trading activities in foreign exchange and interest rate products, and with leading positions through market-making in equities and equities derivatives trading.

HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt increased its stake in the funds management company Internationale Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH from 60 per cent to 100 per cent during 2002, recognising the strategic importance of developments in securities markets in Germany. Other subsidiaries include HSBC Trinkaus Capital Management GmbH, which provides investment advisory services, and HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt Immobilien GmbH, which primarily manages investments in closed-end property funds.

Funds under management at 31 December 2002 totalled £18 billion, more than double the size of the consolidated balance sheet of £7.2 billion.

In November 2002, HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt successfully implemented a new securities back office system, Geos, which delivers state-of-the-art processing and will enable the in-sourcing of back office processing in 2003.

# **Recent Developments**

On 17 March 2003, the Bank sold a majority stake of 80.1 per cent in its European private equity business to its existing management team.

# DIRECTORS OF HSBC BANK PLC

At the date of this document, the Directors of the Bank, their functions and their principal outside activities (if any) of significance to the Bank, are as follows:

| Name              | Function within the Bank | Principal Outside Activity  |
|-------------------|--------------------------|---|
| Sir John Bond     | Chairman                 | Group Chairman<br>HSBC Holdings plc                                   |
| S K Green         | Deputy Chairman          | Group Chief Executive<br>HSBC Holdings plc                            |
| W R P Dalton      | Chief Executive          |   |
| D D J John        | Chief Operating Officer  |   |
| C F W de Croisset | Director                 | Chairman and Chief Executive Officer CCF S.A.                         |
| C-H Filippi       | Director                 | Global Head of Corporate and Institutional Banking for the HSBC Group |
| J D Fishburn*     | Director                 | Chairman<br>HFC Bank plc  |
| C M S Jones*      | Director                 | Chairman and Managing Director James Beattie PLC                      |
| A C Reed (Mrs)*   | Director                 | Finance Director Marks and Spencer Group plc                          |
| H A Rose*         | Director                 |   |
| J Singh*          | Director                 | Chairman and Chief Executive Officer<br>Edwardian Group Limited       |

#### Note:

The business address for all the Directors of the Bank is 8 Canada Square, London E14 5HQ.

<sup>\*</sup> Independent Non-Executive Director

# CONSOLIDATED CAPITALISATION AND INDEBTEDNESS OF HSBC BANK PLC

The following shows the unaudited consolidated capitalisation and indebtedness of HSBC Bank plc as at 31 March 2003:

| at 3      | l Marc       | n 2003:  |            |            |                   |
|-----------|--------------|--|------------|------------|-------------------|
|           |              |  | Authorised | Authorised | Issued and        |
|           |              |  | £m         | US\$m      | fully paid<br>£m  |
|           |              | Ordinary Share Capital of HSBC Bank plc  |            |            |                   |
|           |              | Ordinary shares (of nominal value £1 each)   | 1,000      | -          | <del>797</del>    |
|           |              |  |            |            | Proceeds          |
|           |              |  |            |            | of Issue          |
|           |              |  |            |            | £m                |
|           |              | Preference Share Capital of HSBC Bank plc  |            |            |                   |
|           |              | Sterling preference shares (of nominal value £1 each)  | 150        |            | _                 |
|           |              | U.S. Dollar preference shares (of nominal value US\$0.01 each)   | _          | 2          | 554               |
|           |              |  |            |            |                   |
|           |              |  |            |            | Amount            |
|           |              |  |            |            | Outstanding<br>£m |
|           |              | Minority Interests - Non Equity  |            |            |                   |
| €         | 1,900m       | Capital contribution   |            |            | 1,311             |
|           |              |  |            |            |                   |
|           |              | Consolidated Loan Capital  |            |            |                   |
|           |              | Undated subordinated loan capital of HSBC Bank plc   |            |            |                   |
| US\$      | 750m         | Undated Floating Rate Primary Capital Notes  |            |            | 475               |
| US\$      | 500m         | Undated Floating Rate Primary Capital Notes  |            |            | 316               |
| US\$      | 300m         | Undated Floating Rate Primary Capital Notes (Series 3)   |            |            | 190               |
| £         | 150m         | 9.25% Step-up Undated Subordinated Notes   |            |            | 150               |
| £         | 150m         | 8.625% Step-up Undated Subordinated Notes  |            |            | 150               |
|           |              |  |            |            | 1,281             |
| ¥ 10.000m |              | Undated subordinated loan capital of subsidiary undertaking<br>Undated Subordinated Variable Rate Medium Term Notes  | S          |            | 53                |
| т         | 0,000m       | Other undated subordinated liabilities individually less than £50  | million    |            | 53                |
|           |              | o with an area baconamiana mannara mannarany isos man acc  |            |            | 106               |
|           |              | Detect subscudingers have conitated of HSDC Deals also   |            |            |                   |
| US\$      | 400m         | Dated subordinated loan capital of HSBC Bank plc<br>8.625% Subordinated Notes 2004   |            |            | 253               |
| £         | 200m         | 9% Subordinated Notes 2005   |            |            | 200               |
| US\$      | 500m         | 7.625% Subordinated Notes 2006   |            |            | 316               |
| US\$      | 375m         | Subordinated Step-up Coupon Floating Rate Notes 2009   |            |            | 237               |
| US\$      | 300m         | 6.95% Subordinated Notes 2011  |            |            | 190               |
| €         | 250m<br>600m | Floating Rate Subordinated Loan 2015<br>4.25% Callable Subordinated Notes 2016   |            |            | 172<br>414        |
| £         | 350m         | Callable Subordinated Variable Coupon Notes 2017   |            |            | 350               |
| £         | 350m         | 5% Callable Subordinated Notes 2023  |            |            | 350               |
| £         | 300m         | 6.5% Subordinated Notes 2023   |            |            | 298               |
| US\$      | 300m         | 7.65% Subordinated Notes 2025  |            |            | 189               |
| £         | 225m         | 6.25% Subordinated Notes 2041  |            |            | 223               |
|           |              |  |            |            | 3,192             |
| 1100      | 01           | Dated subordinated loan capital of subsidiary undertakings   |            |            | £ 1               |
| US\$<br>€ | 81m          | Subordinated Floating Rate Notes 2005 Subordinated Callable Floating Rate Notes 2008   |            |            | 51<br>105         |
| £         | 152m         | Subordinated Callable Floating Rate Notes 2008 Other dated subordinated liabilities individually less than £50 mi  | llion      |            | 268               |
|           |              | The second secon |            |            | 424               |
|           |              | Total Consolidated Loan Capital  |            |            | 5,003             |
|           |              | Total Constitution Double Capital  |            |            | 3,003             |

#### Notes:

<sup>(1)</sup> The authorised share capital of HSBC Bank plc comprises 999,999,999 ordinary shares of nominal value £1 each; 150,000,000 Sterling preference shares of nominal value £1 each; 244,000,000 U.S. Dollar preference shares of nominal value US\$0.01 each; and one preferred ordinary share of nominal value £1.

- (2) The issued, allotted and fully paid share capital of HSBC Bank plc comprises 796,969,095 ordinary shares of nominal value £1 each; 35,000,000 non-cumulative U.S. Dollar preference shares of nominal value US\$0.01 each; and one preferred ordinary share of nominal value £1, all of which are beneficially owned by HSBC Holdings plc.
- (3) The proceeds of the capital contribution were on-lent by HSBC Capital Funding 1 (UK) Limited Partnership (a subsidiary undertaking of the Bank) to the Bank's Paris branch by issue of €900 million 7.75% Non-cumulative Subordinated Notes 2040 and €1,000 million Floating Rate Subordinated Loan 2012.
- (4) None of the above Consolidated Loan Capital is secured or guaranteed.

As at 31 March 2003, HSBC Bank plc had other indebtedness of £213,494 million (including deposits by banks of £28,316 million, customer accounts of £141,323 million, debt securities in issue of £9,900 million and other liabilities of £33,955 million) and contingent liabilities of £15,576 million (comprising acceptances and endorsements of £756 million, guarantees and assets pledged as collateral security of £14,815 million and other contingent liabilities of £5 million). In addition, as at 31 March 2003, HSBC Bank plc had pledged assets of £13,139 million as security for liabilities of £4,550 million.

#### UNITED KINGDOM TAXATION

The following is a summary of the United Kingdom withholding taxation treatment at the date hereof in relation to payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes. The comments do not deal with other United Kingdom tax aspects of acquiring, holding or disposing of Notes. The comments relate only to the position of persons who are absolute beneficial owners of the Notes. Prospective Noteholders should be aware that the particular terms of issue of any series of Notes as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement may affect the tax treatment of that and other series of Notes. The following is a general guide and should be treated with appropriate caution. Noteholders who are in any doubt as to their tax position should consult their professional advisers. Noteholders who may be liable to taxation in jurisdictions other than the United Kingdom in respect of their acquisition, holding or disposal of the Notes are particularly advised to consult their professional advisers as to whether they are so liable (and if so under the laws of which jurisdictions), since the following comments relate only to certain United Kingdom taxation aspects of payments in respect of the Notes. In particular, Noteholders should be aware that they may be liable to taxation under the laws of other jurisdictions in relation to payments in respect of the Notes even if such payments may be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of taxation under the laws of the United Kingdom.

# A. United Kingdom Withholding Tax

- 1. Interest on Notes issued for a term of less than one year (and which are not issued under arrangements the effect of which is to render the Notes part of a borrowing with a total term of one year or more) may be paid by the Issuer without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax.
- 2. Notes issued by the Issuer which carry a right to interest will constitute "quoted Eurobonds" provided they are and continue to be listed on a recognised stock exchange. On the basis of the United Kingdom Inland Revenue's published interpretation of the relevant legislation, securities which are to be listed on a stock exchange in a country which is a member state of the European Union or which is part of the European Economic Area will satisfy this requirement if they are listed by a competent authority in that country and are admitted to trading on a recognised stock exchange in that country; securities which are to be listed on a stock exchange in any other country will satisfy this requirement if they are admitted to trading on a recognised stock exchange in that country. The London Stock Exchange is a recognised stock exchange for these purposes. Whilst the Notes are and continue to be quoted Eurobonds, payments of interest on such Notes may be made without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax.
- 3. In addition to the exemption set out in paragraph 2 above, interest on the Notes may be paid without withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax so long as the Issuer is a "bank" for the purposes of section 349 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and so long as such payments are made by the Issuer in the ordinary course of its business. In accordance with the published practice of the United Kingdom Inland Revenue, such payments will be accepted as being made by the Issuer in the ordinary course of its business unless either:
  - (a) the borrowing in question conforms to any of the definitions of tier 1, 2 or 3 capital adopted by the Financial Services Authority whether or not it actually counts towards tier 1, 2 or 3 capital for regulatory purposes; or
  - (b) the characteristics of the transaction giving rise to the interest are primarily attributable to an intention to avoid United Kingdom tax.
- 4. In all other cases, falling outside the exemptions described in A.-1, A.-2 and A.-3 above, interest on the Notes may fall to be paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax at the lower rate (currently 20 per cent) subject to such relief as may be available under the provisions of any applicable double taxation treaty.

#### B. Provision of information

- 5. Noteholders or Couponholders should note that where any interest on Notes is paid to them (or to any person acting on their behalf) by the Issuer or any person in the United Kingdom acting on behalf of the Issuer (a "paying agent"), or is received by any person in the United Kingdom acting on behalf of the relevant Noteholder or Couponholder (other than solely by clearing or arranging the clearing of a cheque) (a "collecting agent"), then the Issuer, the paying agent or the collecting agent (as the case may be) may, in certain cases, be required to supply to the United Kingdom Inland Revenue details of the payment and certain details relating to the Noteholder or the Couponholder (including the Noteholder's or the Couponholder's name and address). These provisions will apply whether or not the interest has been paid subject to withholding or deduction for or on account of United Kingdom income tax and whether or not the Noteholder or Couponholder is resident in the United Kingdom for United Kingdom taxation purposes. Where the Noteholder or Couponholder is not so resident, the details provided to the United Kingdom Inland Revenue may, in certain cases, be passed by the United Kingdom Inland Revenue to the tax authorities of the jurisdiction in which the Noteholder or Couponholder is resident for taxation purposes.
- 6. The provisions referred to above may also apply, in certain circumstances, to payments made on redemption of any Notes where the amount payable on redemption is greater than the issue price of the Notes.

# C. Proposed EU Savings Directive

7. On 21 January 2003 the EU Council of Economic and Finance Ministers agreed to adopt a new directive regarding the taxation of savings income. It is proposed that each Member State will be required to provide to the tax authorities of another Member State details of payments of interest or other similar income paid by a person within its jurisdiction to an individual resident in that other Member State; however, Austria, Belgium and Luxembourg will instead apply a withholding system for a transitional period in relation to such payments. The proposed directive may be subject to further amendment and/or clarification.

# D. Other Rules Relating to United Kingdom Withholding Tax

- 8. Notes may be issued at an issue price of less than 100 per cent of their principal amount. Any discount element on any such Notes will not be subject to any United Kingdom withholding tax pursuant to the provisions outlined above, but may be subject to reporting requirements as outlined above.
- 9. Where Notes are to be, or may fall to be, redeemed at a premium, as opposed to being issued at a discount, then any such element of premium may constitute a payment of interest. Payments of interest are subject to both the United Kingdom withholding tax provisions and the reporting requirements outlined above.
- 10. Where interest has been paid under deduction of United Kingdom income tax, Noteholders or Couponholders who are not resident in the United Kingdom may be able to recover all or part of the tax deducted if there is an appropriate provision in any applicable double taxation treaty.
- 11. The references to "interest" above mean "interest" as understood in United Kingdom tax law. The statements above do not take any account of any different definitions of "interest" or "principal" which may prevail under any other law or which may be created by the terms and conditions of the Notes or any related documentation.
- 12. The above summary under the heading of the United Kingdom Taxation assumes that there will be no substitution of the Issuer pursuant to Condition 15 of the Notes and does not consider the tax consequences of any such substitution.

#### UNITED STATES TAXATION

Notwithstanding any provision herein, every person (and each employee, representative or other agent of such person) may disclose to any and all other persons, without limitation of any kind, any information provided to him by or on behalf of the Issuer relating to the U.S. tax treatment and U.S. tax structure of transactions under the Programme and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that are provided by or on behalf of the Issuer to that person relating to such U.S. tax treatment and U.S. tax structure.

The following summary describes certain of the principal United States federal income tax consequences resulting from the purchase, ownership and disposition of Notes. This summary does not purport to consider all the possible United States federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes and is not intended to reflect the individual tax position of any beneficial owner of Notes. The summary is based upon the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), its legislative history, existing and proposed U.S. Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, published rulings by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and court decisions, all in effect as of the date hereof, all of which authorities are subject to change or differing interpretations, which changes or differing interpretations could apply retroactively. This summary is limited to investors who purchase the Notes at initial issuance and hold the Notes as "capital assets" within the meaning of section 1221 of the Code (i.e., generally, property held for investment) and does not purport to deal with investors in special tax situations, such as financial institutions, tax exempt organisations, insurance companies, regulated investment companies, dealers in securities or currencies, persons purchasing Notes other than at original issuance, persons holding notes as a hedge against currency risks or as a position in a "straddle," "conversion transaction," or "constructive sale" transaction for tax purposes, or persons whose functional currency (as defined in section 985 of the Code) is not the U.S. dollar. The summary does not include any description of the tax laws of any state, local or foreign governments that may be applicable to the Notes or the holders thereof.

Prospective purchasers of the Notes should consult their own tax advisers concerning the application of United States federal income tax laws to their particular situations as well as any consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Notes arising under the laws of any other taxing jurisdiction.

As used herein, the term "U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of a Note who or which is (i) an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation created or organised in or under the laws of the United States or of any state thereof (including the District of Columbia), or (iii) any other person who is subject to United States federal income taxation on a net income basis with respect to the Notes. As used herein, the term "Non-U.S. Holder" means a beneficial owner of a Note that is not a U.S. Holder. In the case of a holder of Notes that is a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes, each partner will take into account its allocable share of income or loss from the Notes, and will take such income or loss into account under the rules of taxation applicable to such partner, taking into account the activities of the partnership and the partner.

# Treatment of Notes

Except as may be otherwise provided in a Pricing Supplement or Supplemental Information Memorandum, each Note that is offered to prospective investors within the United States will be issued in a manner consistent with, and with characteristics that are typical of, indebtedness for U.S federal income tax purposes.

#### U.S. Holders of Notes

# **Payments of Interest**

Generally, payments of interest on a Note will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary interest income at the time such payments are accrued or are received, in accordance with the U.S. Holder's regular method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes.

# Original Issue Discount

#### General

The following summary is a general discussion of the United States federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders of the purchase, ownership and disposition of a Note issued with original issue discount "OID" (a "Discount Note"). Special rules apply to OID on a Discount Note that is denominated in a Foreign Currency. See "- Foreign Currency Notes - OID."

For United States federal income tax purposes, OID is the excess of the stated redemption price at maturity of a Note over its issue price, if such excess equals or exceeds a de minimis amount (generally defined as ¼ of 1-per cent of the Note's stated redemption price at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to its maturity from its issue date). The issue price of each Note in an issue of Notes is the first price at which a substantial amount of such issue of Notes has been sold (ignoring sales to bond houses, broker-dealers, or similar persons or organisations acting in the capacity of underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers). The stated redemption price at maturity of a Note generally is the sum of all payments provided for by the Note other than qualified stated interest payments. The term "qualified stated interest" generally means stated interest that is unconditionally payable in cash or property (other than debt instruments of the issuer) at least annually at a single fixed rate.

Payments of qualified stated interest on a Note are taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary interest income at the time such payments are accrued or are received, in accordance with the U.S. Holder's regular method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes. A U.S. Holder of a Discount Note having a maturity of more than one year from the date of issue must include OID in income as ordinary interest income for United States federal income tax purposes as it accrues under a constant yield method in advance of receipt of the cash payments attributable to such income, regardless of such U.S. Holder's regular method of tax accounting. In general, the amount of OID included in income by the initial U.S. Holder of a Discount Note is the sum of the daily portions of OID with respect to such Discount Note for each day during the taxable year on which such U.S. Holder held such Discount Note. The "daily portions" of OID on any Discount Note are determined by allocating to each day in an accrual period a rateable portion of the OID allocable to that accrual period. An "accrual period" may be of any length and the accrual periods may vary in length over the term of the Discount Note as long as (i) each accrual period is no longer than one year, and (ii) each scheduled payment of principal and interest occurs either on the final day of an accrual period or on the first day of an accrual period. The amount of OID allocable to each accrual period is generally equal to the excess of (i) the product of the Discount Note's adjusted issue price at the beginning of such accrual period and its yield to maturity (determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and appropriately adjusted to take into account the length of the particular accrual period) over (ii) the amount of any qualified stated interest payments allocable to such accrual period. The "adjusted issue price" of a Discount Note at the beginning of the first accrual period is its issue price of the Discount Note. Thereafter, the "adjusted issue price" of a Discount Note is the sum of the issue price of the Discount Note plus the amount of OID previously includable in the gross income of the holder reduced by the amount of any payments previously made on the Discount Note other than payments of qualified stated interest. Under these rules, U.S. Holders generally will have to include in income increasingly greater amounts of OID in successive accrual periods.

#### Election to Treat all Interest as OID

A U.S. Holder of a Note may elect to include in gross income all interest that accrues on the Note by using the constant yield method described in "- Original Issue Discount - General" with certain modifications. The election must be made for the taxable year in which the U.S. Holder acquires the

Note and will generally apply only to the Note (or Notes) identified by the U.S. Holder in a statement attached to the U.S. Holder's timely filed United States federal income tax return. The election may not be revoked without the consent of the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS"). If a U.S. Holder makes the election with respect to a Note with "amortisable bond premium" (as described in "— Amortisable Bond Premium"), then the electing U.S. Holder is deemed to have elected to apply amortisable bond premium against interest with respect to all debt instruments with amortisable bond premium (other than debt instruments the interest on which is excludible from gross income) held by the electing U.S. Holder as of the beginning of the taxable year in which any Note (with respect to which the election is made) is acquired and any such debt instrument thereafter acquired. The deemed election with respect to amortisable bond premium may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS.

#### **Short-Term Notes**

Generally, an individual or other-cash basis U.S. Holder of Notes having a fixed maturity date not more than 1 year from the date of issue ("Short-Term Notes") is not required to accrue OID for United States federal income tax purposes unless it elects to do so. An election by a cash basis U.S. Holder applies to all short-term obligations acquired on or after the beginning of the first taxable year to which the election applies, and for all subsequent taxable years unless the consent is secured from the IRS to revoke the election. Accrual-basis U.S. Holders and certain other U.S. Holders, including banks, regulated investment companies, dealers in securities, common trust funds, U.S. Holders who hold Short-Term Notes as part of certain identified hedging transactions, certain pass-through entities and cash-basis U.S. Holders who so elect, are required to accrue OID on Short-Term Notes on either a straight-line basis or, at the election of the U.S. Holder, under the constant yield method (based on daily compounding). In the case of a U.S. Holder not required and not electing to include OID in income currently, any gain realised on the sale or retirement of the Short-Term Notes will be ordinary income to the extent of the OID accrued on a straight-line basis (unless an election is made to accrue the OID under the constant yield method) through the date of sale or retirement. U.S. Holders who are not required and do not elect to accrue OID on Short-Term Notes will be required to defer deductions for interest on borrowings allocable to Short-Term Notes in an amount not exceeding the deferred income until the deferred income is realised.

# Variable Rate Debt Instruments

Generally, Notes that are issued with a variable rate of interest (a "Floating Rate Note") are subject to special rules whereby a Floating Rate Note will qualify as a "variable rate debt instrument" if (a) its issue price does not exceed the total noncontingent principal payments due under the Floating Rate Notes by more than an amount equal to the lesser of (i) 0.015 multiplied by the product of the total noncontingent principal payments and the number of complete years to maturity from the issue date or (ii) 15 per cent of the total noncontingent principal payments, (b) it does not provide for any stated interest other than stated interest, paid or compounded at least annually, at (i) one or more qualified floating rates, (ii) a single fixed rate and one or more qualified floating rates, (iii) a single objective rate, or (iv) a single fixed rate and a single objective rate that is a qualified inverse floating rate, and (c) it provides that a qualified floating rate or objective rate in effect at any time during the term of the Note is set at a current value of that rate (i.e., the value of the rate on any day that is no earlier than three months prior to the first rate day on which the value is in effect and no later than one year following that first day).

A "qualified floating rate" is any variable rate where variations in the value of such rate can reasonably be expected to measure contemporaneous variations in the cost of newly borrowed funds in the currency in which the Floating Rate Notes are denominated. Although a multiple of a qualified floating rate will generally not itself constitute a qualified floating rate, a variable rate equal to the product of a qualified floating rate and a fixed multiple that is greater than 0.65 but not more than 1.35 will constitute a qualified floating rate. A variable rate equal to the product of a qualified floating rate and a fixed multiple that is greater than 0.65 but not more than 1.35, increased or decreased by a fixed rate, will also constitute a qualified floating rate. In addition, two or more qualified floating rates that can reasonably be expected to have approximately the same values throughout the term of the Floating Rate

Notes together will constitute a single qualified floating rate. Two or more qualified floating rates will be conclusively presumed to meet the requirements of the previous sentence if the values of all rates on the issue date are within 25 basis points of each other. A variable rate is not a qualified floating rate if it is subject to certain restrictions (including caps floors, governors, or other similar restrictions) unless such restrictions are fixed throughout the term of the Floating Rate Note or are not reasonably expected to significantly affect the yield on the Floating Rate Note.

An "objective rate" is a rate other than a qualified floating rate that is determined using a single fixed formula and that is based upon objective financial or economic information, other than information that is within the control of the issuer or a related party, or that is unique to the circumstances of the issuer or a related party such as dividends, profits or the value of the issuer's (or related party's) stock (but not the issuer's credit quality). Despite the foregoing, a variable rate of interest on Floating Rate Notes will not constitute an objective rate if it is reasonably expected that the average value of such rate during the first half of the Floating Rate Notes term will be either significantly less than or significantly greater than the average value of the rate during the final half of the Floating Rate Notes' term. A "qualified inverse floating rate" is any objective rate where such rate is equal to a fixed rate minus a qualified floating rate, as long as variations in the rate can reasonably be expected to reflect inversely contemporaneous variations in the qualified floating rate (disregarding any caps, floors, governors or other restrictions that are fixed throughout the term of the Floating Rate Notes or are not reasonably expected to significantly affect the yield on the Floating Rate Notes).

Generally, if a Floating Rate Note provides for stated interest at a fixed rate for an initial period of one year or less followed by a variable rate that is either a qualified floating rate or an objective rate for a subsequent period, and the value of the variable rate on the Floating Rate Notes' issue date is intended to approximate the fixed rate, then the fixed rate and the variable rate together will constitute either a single qualified floating rate or objective rate, as the case may be. A fixed rate and a variable rate will be conclusively presumed to meet the previous requirements if the value of the variable rate on the issue date of the Floating Rate Notes does not differ from the value of the fixed rate by more than 25 basis points.

If a Floating Rate Note provides for stated interest at a single qualified floating rate or objective rate that is unconditionally payable in cash or in property (other than debt instruments of the issuer) or that will be constructively received by the U.S. Holder at least annually, then (a) all stated interest with respect to the Note is qualified stated interest, (b) the amount of qualified stated interest and the amount of OID, if any, is determined by assuming that the variable rate is a fixed rate equal to (i) in the case of a qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate, the value, as of the issue date, of the qualified floating rate or qualified inverse floating rate, (ii) in the case of an objective rate (other than a qualified inverse floating rate), a fixed rate that reflects the yield that is reasonably expected for the Note, and (c) the qualified stated interest allocable to an accrual period is increased (or decreased) if the interest actually paid during an accrual period exceeds (or is less than) the interest assumed to be paid during the accrual period under the foregoing rules.

If a Floating Rate Note does not provide for stated interest at a single qualified floating rate or objective rate, or at a single fixed rate (other than at a single fixed rate for an initial period of one year or less), the amount of qualified stated interest and OID on the Note are generally determined by (i) determining a fixed rate substitute for each variable rate provided under the Floating Rate Note (generally, the value of each variable rate as of the issue date or, in the case of an objective rate that is not a qualified inverse floating rate, a rate that reflects the yield that is reasonably expected for the Note), (ii) constructing the equivalent fixed rate debt instrument (using the fixed rate substitutes described above), (iii) determining the amount of qualified stated interest and OID with respect to the equivalent fixed rate debt instrument (by applying the general OID rules as described in "— Original Issue Discount — General"), and (iv) making the appropriate adjustments for actual variable rates during the applicable accrual period.

If a Floating Rate Note provides for stated interest either at one or more qualified floating rates or at a qualified inverse floating rate and in addition provides for stated interest at a single fixed rate (other than a single fixed rate for an initial period), the amount of interest and OID is determined as in the immediately preceding paragraph with the modification that the Floating Rate Note is treated, for

purposes of the first three steps of the determination, as if it provided for a qualified floating rate (or qualified inverse floating rate, if the Note provides for a qualified inverse floating rate) rather than the fixed rate. The qualified floating rate (or qualified inverse floating rate) replacing the fixed rate must be such that the fair market value of the Note as of the issue date would be approximately the same as the fair market value of an otherwise identical debt instrument that provides for a qualified floating rate (or qualified inverse floating rate) rather than a fixed rate.

#### **Amortisable Bond Premium**

Generally, a U.S. Holder that purchases a Note for an amount that is in excess of the sum of all amounts payable on the Note after its acquisition date (other than payments of qualified stated interest) will be considered to have purchased the Note with "amortisable bond premium" equal to such excess. A U.S. Holder of such a Note will not be subject to OID and may elect to amortise such premium using a constant yield method over the remaining term of the Note and may offset qualified stated interest otherwise required to be included in respect of the Note with respect to an accrual period by the bond premium allocable to the accrual period. If the bond premium allocable to the accrual period exceeds the qualified stated interest allocable to the accrual period, the excess is treated as a bond premium deduction for the accrual period. However, the amount treated as a bond premium deduction is limited to the amount by which the U.S. Holder's total interest inclusions on the Note in prior accrual periods exceed the total amount treated by the U.S. Holder as a bond premium deduction on the Note in prior accrual periods. If the bond premium allocable to an accrual period exceeds the sum of the qualified stated interest allocable to the accrual period and the amount treated as a bond premium deduction for the accrual period as described above, the excess is carried forward to the next accrual period and is treated as bond premium allocable to that period. Special rules apply for determining the amortisation of bond premium on Notes that are classified as "variable rate debt instruments", Notes that provide for certain alternative payment schedules, and Notes that provide for certain contingencies. Any election to amortise bond premium with respect to any Note (or other general debt obligations) applies to all taxable debt obligations held by the U.S. Holder at the beginning of the first taxable year to which the election applies and to all debt obligations thereafter acquired in such taxable year and all subsequent tax years. The election may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS.

# Sale, Exchange or Retirement of a Note

Except as discussed above, upon the sale, exchange or retirement of a Note, a U.S. Holder generally will recognise taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realised on the sale, exchange or retirement (other than amounts representing accrued and unpaid interest, which amounts will be taxable as ordinary income) and such U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the Note. A U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in a Note generally will equal such U.S. Holder's initial investment in the Note increased by any OID included in income, decreased by the amount of any payments and any amortisable bond premium applied to reduce interest income with respect to such Note. Such gain or loss generally will be long-term capital gain or loss if the Note has been held by such U.S. Holder for more than one year at the time of such sale, exchange or retirement.

Certain of the Notes may be redeemable at the option of the Issuer prior to their stated maturity and/or may be repayable at the option of the holder prior to their stated maturity. Notes containing such features may be subject to the rules that differ from the general rules discussed above. U.S. Holders intending to purchase Notes with such features should consult their own tax advisors regarding the United States federal income tax consequences to them of the purchase, holding and disposition of such Notes, since the OID consequences will depend, in part, on the particular terms and features of such Notes.

# Foreign Currency Notes

The following summary relates to Notes that are denominated in a currency or basket of currencies other than the U.S. dollar ("Foreign Currency Notes"). It does not apply to U.S. Holders whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar.

Payments of Interest In a Foreign Currency

Cash Method

A U.S. Holder who uses the cash method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes and who receives a payment of interest on a Note (other than OID) will be required to include in income the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency payment (determined on the date such payment is received) regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted to U.S. dollars at that time, and such U.S. dollar value will be the U.S. Holder's tax basis in such Foreign Currency.

# Accrual Method

A U.S. Holder who uses the accrual method of accounting for United States federal income tax purposes, or who otherwise is required to accrue interest prior to receipt, will be required to include in income the U.S. dollar value of the amount of interest income (including OID and reduced by amortisable bond premium to the extent applicable) that has accrued and is otherwise required to be taken into account with respect to a Note during an accrual period. The U.S. dollar value of such accrued income will be determined by translating such income at the average rate of exchange for the accrual period or, with respect to an accrual period that spans two taxable years, at the average rate for the partial period within each taxable year. A U.S. Holder may elect, however, to translate such accrued interest income using the rate of exchange on the last day of the accrual period or, with respect to an accrual period that spans two taxable years, using the rate of exchange on the last day of the first taxable year. If the last day of an accrual period is within five business days of the date of receipt of the accrued interest, a U.S. Holder may translate such interest using the rate of exchange on the date of receipt. The above election will apply to other obligations held by the U.S. Holder and may not be revoked without the consent of the IRS. Prior to making such an election, a U.S. Holder of Notes should consult his own tax advisor as to the consequences resulting from such an election with respect to his own particular situation.

A U.S. Holder will recognise exchange gain or loss (which will be treated as ordinary income or loss) with respect to accrued interest income on the date such income is received. The amount of ordinary income or loss recognised will equal the difference, if any, between the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency payment received (determined on the date such payment is received) in respect of such accrual period and the U.S. dollar value of interest income that has accrued during such accrual period (as determined above).

# Purchase, Sale, Exchange and Retirement of Notes

A U.S. Holder who purchases a Note with previously owned Foreign Currency will recognise ordinary income or loss in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between such U.S. Holder's tax basis in the Foreign Currency and the U.S. dollar fair market value of the Foreign Currency used to purchase the Note, determined on the date of purchase.

Generally, upon the sale, exchange or retirement of a Note, a U.S. Holder will recognise taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realised on the sale, exchange or retirement and such U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the Note. Such gain or loss generally will be capital gain or loss and will be long-term capital gain or loss if at the time of sale, exchange or retirement the Note has been held by such U.S. Holder for more than one year. To the extent the amount realised represents accrued but unpaid interest, however, such amounts must be taken into account as ordinary interest income, with exchange gain or loss computed as described in "— Payments of Interest In a Foreign Currency" above. If a U.S. Holder receives Foreign Currency on such a sale, exchange or retirement the amount realised will be based on the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency on the date the payment is received or the instrument is disposed of (or deemed disposed of). A U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in a Note will equal the cost of the Note to such U.S. Holder, increased by the amounts of any OID previously included in income by the U.S. Holder with respect to such Note and reduced by any amortised acquisition or other premium and any principal payments received by the U.S. Holder. A U.S. Holder's tax basis in a Note, and the amount of any subsequent adjustments to such holder's tax

basis, will be the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency amount paid for such Note, or of the Foreign Currency amount of the adjustment, determined on the date of such purchase or adjustment.

Gain or loss realised upon the sale, exchange or retirement of a Note that is attributable to fluctuations in currency exchange rates will be ordinary income or loss which will not be treated as interest income or expense. Gain or loss attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates will equal the difference between the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency principal amount of the Note, determined on the date such payment is received or the Note is disposed of, and the U.S. dollar value of the Foreign Currency principal amount of the Note, determined on the date the U.S. Holder acquired the Note. Such Foreign Currency gain or loss will be recognised only to the extent of the total gain or loss realised by the U.S. Holder on the sale, exchange or retirement of the Note.

#### OID

In the case of a Discount Note or Short-Term Note, (i) OID is determined in units of the Foreign Currency, (ii) accrued OID is translated into U.S. dollars as described in "- Payments of Interest In a Foreign Currency - Accrual Method" above and (iii) the amount of Foreign Currency gain or loss on the accrued OID is determined by comparing the amount of income received attributable to the discount (either upon payment, maturity or an earlier disposition), as translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange on the date of such receipt, with the amount of OID accrued, as translated above.

#### Amortisable Bond Premium

Amortisable bond premium on a Note will be computed in the units of the Foreign Currency in which the Note is denominated (or in which the payments are determined). Amortisable bond premium properly taken into account will reduce the interest income in units of the Foreign Currency. Exchange gain or loss is realised with respect to the bond premium with respect to a Note issued with amortisable bond premium by treating the portion of premium amortised with respect to any period as a return of principal. With respect to any U.S. Holder that does not elect to amortise bond premium, the amount of bond premium will constitute a market loss when the bond matures.

# Exchange of Foreign Currencies

A U.S. Holder will have a tax basis in any Foreign Currency received as interest or on the sale, exchange or retirement of a Note equal to the U.S. dollar value of such Foreign Currency, determined at the time the interest is received or at the time of the sale, exchange or retirement. Any gain or loss realised by a U.S. Holder on a sale or other disposition of Foreign Currency (including its exchange for U.S. dollars or other use) will be ordinary income or loss.

# Foreign Tax Credit

The total gross amount of interest, OID, plus any additional amounts (pursuant to Condition 7 of the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes") with respect thereto, will constitute interest income subject to United States federal income tax. This amount will be considered income from sources outside the United States, and, with certain exceptions, will be grouped together with other items of "passive" income for purposes of computing the foreign tax credit allowable to a U.S. Holder. If the interest or OID is subject to a withholding tax imposed by a foreign country at a rate of 5 per cent or more, the interest or OID may be considered "high withholding tax interest" for purposes of computing the foreign tax credit. If a U.S. Holder is predominantly engaged in the active conduct of a banking, insurance, financing or similar business, the interest or OID may be considered "financial services income" for purposes of computing the foreign tax credit.

The amount of foreign tax withheld on this gross amount will be considered to be a foreign income tax that may either be deducted when computing U.S. federal taxable income or, subject to limitations personal to the U.S. Holder, claimed as a credit against U.S. federal income tax liability. A U.S. Holder may be required to provide the IRS with a certified copy of the receipt evidencing payment of withholding tax imposed in respect of payments on a Note in order to claim a foreign tax credit in respect of such foreign withholding tax.

Potential purchasers of Notes should carefully consider the applicable Pricing Supplement for information regarding the United States federal income tax consequences of payments by the Issuer of other taxes and of additional amounts.

#### Non-U.S. Holders of Notes

Subject to the discussion of certain Non-U.S. Holders and the discussion of backup withholding below, (a) payment of principal, premium, redemption amount and interest by the Issuer or any paying agent to a Non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to United States federal income or withholding tax, provided that such Non-U.S. Holder provides the Issuer, when necessary, appropriate documentation evidencing its status as a Non-U.S. Holder, (b) gain realised by a Non-U.S. Holder on the sale or redemption of the Notes is not subject to United States federal income tax or withholding tax and (c) the Notes are not subject to United States federal estate tax if held by an individual who was a Non-U.S. Holder at the time of his death. Special rules may apply in the case of Non-U.S. Holders (i) that are engaged in a U.S. trade or business, (ii) that are former citizens or long-term residents of the United States, "controlled foreign corporations," "foreign personal holding companies," "passive foreign investment companies," corporations which accumulate earnings to avoid U.S. federal income tax, and certain foreign charitable organisations, each within the meaning of the Code, or (iii) certain non-resident alien individuals who are present in the United States for 183 days or more during a taxable year. Such persons are urged to consult their U.S. tax advisors before purchasing Notes.

# Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

For each calendar year in which the Notes are outstanding, each DTC participant or indirect participant holding an interest in a Note on behalf of a beneficial owner of a Note and each paying agent making payments in respect of a Registered Note will generally be required to provide the IRS with certain information, including such beneficial owner's name, address, taxpayer identification number (either such beneficial owner's Social Security number, its employer identification number or its IRS individual taxpayer identification number, as the case may be), and the aggregate amount of interest (including OID) and principal paid to such beneficial owner during the calendar year. These reporting requirements, however, do not apply with respect to certain beneficial owners, including corporations, securities broker-dealers, other financial institutions, tax-exempt organisations, qualified pension and profit sharing trusts and individual retirement accounts.

In the event that a beneficial owner of a Note fails to establish its exemption from such information reporting requirements or is subject to the reporting requirements described above and fails to supply its correct taxpayer identification number in the manner required by applicable law, or underreports its tax liability, as the case may be, the DTC participant or indirect participant holding such interest on behalf of such beneficial owner or paying agent making payments in respect of a Note may be required to "backup" withhold a tax at a current rate of 30 per cent (subject to reduction in future years) of each payment of interest and principal with respect to Notes. This backup withholding tax is not an additional tax and may be credited against the beneficial owner's United States federal income tax liability if the required information is furnished to the IRS. Compliance with the certification procedures contained in IRS Forms W-8BEN, W-8ECI or W-8EXP as appropriate will establish an exemption from information reporting and backup withholding for those Non-U.S. Holders who are not otherwise exempt recipients.

# NOTICE TO PURCHASERS OF 144A NOTES AND TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

Because of the following restrictions, purchasers of Notes offered in the United States in reliance on Rule 144A are advised to consult legal counsel prior to making any offer, resale, pledge or transfer of such Notes.

Each prospective purchaser of Notes offered in reliance on Rule 144A (a "144A Offeree"), by accepting delivery of this Information Memorandum, will be deemed to have represented and agreed with respect to such Notes as follows:

- (a) such 144A Offeree acknowledges that this Information Memorandum is personal to such 144A Offeree and does not constitute an offer to any other person or to the public generally to subscribe for or otherwise acquire Notes other than pursuant to Rule 144A or in offshore transactions in accordance with Regulation S. Distribution of this Information Memorandum, or disclosure of any of its contents, to any person other than such 144A Offeree and those persons, if any, retained to advise such 144A Offeree with respect thereto and other persons meeting the requirements of Rule 144A or Regulation S is unauthorised, and any disclosure of any of its contents, without the prior written consent of the Issuer, is prohibited; and
- (b) such 144A Offeree agrees to make no photocopies of this Information Memorandum or any documents referred to herein.

Each purchaser of Notes in reliance on Rule 144A ("Restricted Notes") will be deemed to have represented and agreed as follows (terms used in this paragraph that are defined in Rule 144A are used herein as defined therein):

- (1) The purchaser (A) is a qualified institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A, (B) is acquiring the Notes for its own account or for the account of such a qualified institutional buyer, and (C) such person is aware that the sale of the Notes to it is being made in reliance on Rule 144A.
- (2) The purchaser understands that the Rule 144A Notes are being offered only in a transaction not involving any public offering in the United States within the meaning of the Securities Act, and the Notes offered hereby have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be reoffered, resold, pledged or otherwise transferred except in accordance with the legend set forth below.
- (3) The purchaser understands that the Rule 144A Global Registered Notes, the Restricted Global Registered Notes and any U.S. Definitive Registered Notes issued in exchange for interests therein will bear a legend (the "Rule 144A Legend") to the following effect, unless the Issuer determines otherwise in accordance with applicable law:
  - "THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933 AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAWS. THE HOLDER HEREOF, BY PURCHASING THIS NOTE, AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE ISSUER THAT THIS NOTE MAY BE REOFFERED, RESOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED ONLY IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE SECURITIES ACT AND OTHER APPLICABLE LAWS AND ONLY (1) PURSUANT TO RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT TO A PERSON THAT THE HOLDER REASONABLY BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A PURCHASING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR A PERSON PURCHASING FOR THE ACCOUNT OF A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER WHOM THE HOLDER HAS INFORMED, IN EACH CASE, THAT THE REOFFER, RESALE, PLEDGE OR OTHER TRANSFER IS BEING MADE IN RELIANCE ON RULE 144A, (2) IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 903 OR 904 OF REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (3) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE), OR (4) TO THE ISSUER OR ITS AFFILIATES."

In addition, each purchaser of Restricted Notes acknowledges that the Issuer, the Registrar, the Dealers and their affiliates, and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements. If it is acquiring any Restricted Notes for the account of one or more qualified institutional buyers it represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each such account.

Before any interest in a Note represented by a Restricted Global Registered Note may be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in an Unrestricted Global Registered Note, it will be required to provide the Registrar with written certification (in the form scheduled to the Agency Agreement) as to compliance with the transfer restrictions referred to in sub-clause (2) and (3) of the legend set forth above. See "Forms of Notes; Summary of Provisions relating to the Notes while in Global Form".

#### SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

HSBC Bank plc has in a modified and restated dealer agreement dated 29 May 2003 (the "Dealer Agreement") agreed with the Issuer a basis upon which it may from time to time agree either as principal or agent of the Bank to subscribe for or purchase, to underwrite or, as the case may be, to procure subscribers or purchasers for Notes. When entering into any such agreement to subscribe for or purchase, to underwrite, or as the case may be, to procure subscribers for or purchasers for any particular Series of Notes, the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) will agree details relating to the form of such Notes and the Conditions relating to such Notes. The Dealer Agreement contains provisions for the Issuer to appoint other dealers (together with the Dealer, the "Dealers") from time to time either generally in respect of the Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes.

#### General

Save for having obtained the approval of the Information Memorandum by the UK Listing Authority and save for having procured the delivery of a copy of the Information Memorandum for registration to the Registrar of Companies in England and Wales, no action has been or will be taken in any country or jurisdiction by the Bank or the Dealers that would permit a public offering of Notes, or possession or distribution of any offering material in relation thereto, in any country or jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Persons into whose hands this Information Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which they subscribe for, purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or have in their possession or distribute such offering material, in all cases at their own expense.

The Dealer Agreement provides that the Dealers shall not be bound by any of the restrictions relating to any specific jurisdiction (set out below) to the extent that such restrictions shall, as a result of change(s) in, or change(s) in official interpretation of, after the date hereof, applicable laws and regulations, no longer be applicable but without prejudice to the obligations of the Dealers described in the first paragraph under the heading "General" above.

Selling restrictions may be supplemented or modified with the agreement of the Issuer. Any such supplement or modification will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement (in the case of a supplement or modification relevant only to a particular Tranche of Notes) or (in any other case) in a supplement to this Information Memorandum.

#### United States of America

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or any state securities laws, and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act) except in accordance with Regulation S or Rule 144A under the Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed, or will represent and agree, that it has not offered or sold any Notes and will not offer and sell any Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (i) as part of its distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the Tranche of which such Notes are a part (the "Distribution Compliance Period"), as determined and certified to the Principal Paying Agent or the Issuer by the relevant Dealer (or, in the case of a sale of a Tranche of the Notes to or through more than one Dealer, by each of such Dealers as to the Notes of such Tranche purchased by or through it, in which case the Principal Paying Agent or the Issuer shall notify each such Dealer when all such Dealers have so certified), except in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S or Rule 144A except as set forth below. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed that neither it, its affiliates nor any persons acting on its or their behalf have engaged or will engage in any directed selling efforts with respect to the Notes, and it and they have complied and will comply with the offering restrictions requirements of Regulation S. Each Dealer and its affiliates also have agreed that, at or prior to confirmation of sale of the Notes (other than sale of the Notes pursuant to Rule 144A), it will have sent to each Dealer, distributor or person receiving a selling concession, fee or other remuneration to which it sells Notes

during the Distribution Compliance Period (other than resales pursuant to 144A) a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons to substantially the following effect:

"The Notes covered hereby have not been registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and may not be offered or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (i) as part of their distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days after the completion of the distribution of the Tranche of Notes of which such Notes are a part, as determined and certified by the relevant Dealer or Dealers, except in either case in accordance with Regulation S under, or pursuant to an available exemption from the registration requirements of, the Securities Act. Terms used above have the meaning given to them by Regulation S of the Securities Act."

Terms used in the above paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S. The Dealer Agreement provides that the Dealers may directly or through their respective U.S. broker-dealer affiliates arrange for the offer and resale of Notes within the United States only to qualified institutional buyer in reliance on Rule 144A.

- (1) Each Dealer will agree that it will not, acting either as principal or agent, offer or sell any Notes in the United States other than Notes in registered form bearing a restrictive legend thereon, and it will not, acting either as principal or agent, offer, sell, reoffer or resell any of such Notes (or approve the resale of any such Notes):
  - (a) except (A) inside the United States through a U.S. broker dealer that is registered under the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") to institutional investors, each of which such Dealer reasonably believes is a "qualified institutional buyer" (as defined in Rule 144A thereunder), or a fiduciary or agent purchasing Notes for the account of one or more qualified institutional buyers or (B) otherwise in accordance with the restrictions on transfer set forth in such Notes, the Dealer Agreement, the Information Memorandum and the relevant Pricing Supplement; or
  - (b) by means of any form of general solicitation or general advertisement, including but not limited to (A) any advertisement, article, notice or other communication published in any newspaper, magazine or similar media or broadcast of television or radio and (B) any seminar or meeting whose attendees have been advised by any general solicitation or general advertising.

Prior to the sale of any Notes in registered form bearing a restrictive legend thereof, the selling Dealer shall have provided each offeree that is a U.S. person (as defined in Regulation S) with a copy of the Information Memorandum in the form the Issuer and Dealers shall have agreed most recently shall be used for offers and sales in the United States (the initial such form being the original Information Memorandum dated 23 June 2000).

(2) Each Dealer will represent and agree that in connection with each sale to a qualified institutional buyer it has taken or will take reasonable steps to ensure that the purchaser is aware that the Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and that transfers of Notes are restricted as set forth herein and, in the case of sales in reliance upon Rule 144A, that the selling Dealer may rely upon the exemption provided by Rule 144A under the Securities Act.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, each Dealer may, in accordance with the provisions of the Dealer Agreement, arrange for the offer and sale of Notes in the United States pursuant to Rule 144A. Each purchaser of such Notes is hereby notified that the offer and sale of such Notes may be made in reliance upon the exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. See "Notice to Purchasers of Rule 144A Notes and Transfer Restrictions".

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering of any Tranche of Notes, an offer or sale of Notes of such Tranche within the United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering of such Notes) may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with Rule 144A.

This Information Memorandum has been prepared by the Issuer for use in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes outside the United States to non-U.S. persons and for the resale of the Notes in the United States. The Issuer and the Dealers reserve the right to reject any offer to purchase, in whole or in part, for any reason, or to sell less than the number of Notes which may be offered pursuant to Rule 144A. This Information Memorandum does not constitute an offer to any person in the United States or to any U.S. person other than any qualified institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A to whom an offer has been made directly by one of the Dealers or an affiliate of one of the Dealers. Distribution of this Information Memorandum by any non-U.S. person outside the United States or by any qualified institutional buyer in the United States to any U.S. person or to any other person within the United States other than any qualified institutional buyer and those persons, if any, retained to advise such non-U.S. person or qualified institutional buyer with respect thereto, is unauthorised and any disclosure without the prior written consent of the Issuer of any of its contents to any such U.S. person or other person within the United States other than any qualified institutional buyer, is prohibited.

The Bearer Notes are also subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a U.S. person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the Code and regulations thereunder.

# **United Kingdom**

In relation to each Tranche of Notes, each Dealer subscribing for or purchasing such Notes has represented to, warranted and agreed with, or will represent to, warrant and agree with, the Issuer that:-

- (a) No offer to public listed Notes: in relation to Notes of any Tranche which have a maturity of one year or more and which are to be admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority, it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell Notes of any Tranche to persons in the United Kingdom prior to the admission of the Notes of such Tranche to listing in accordance with Part VI of the FSMA except to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in circumstances which have not resulted and will not result in an offer to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securities Regulations 1995 or the FSMA;
- (b) No offer to public unlisted Notes: in relation to Notes of any Tranche which have a maturity of one year or more and which are not to be admitted to the Official List of the UK Listing Authority, it has not offered or sold and, prior to the expiry of the period of six months from the Issue Date of the Notes of such Tranche, will not offer or sell any Notes of such Tranche to persons in the United Kingdom except to persons whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in circumstances which have not resulted and will not result in an offer to the public in the United Kingdom within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securities Regulations 1995;
- (c) Financial promotion: it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA would not, if it was not an authorised person, apply to the Issuer; and
- (d) General compliance: it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

#### **GENERAL INFORMATION**

The admission of the Programme to listing on the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and to trading on the London Stock Exchange is expected to take effect on or about 3 June 2003. The listing of each Series of Listed Notes will be expressed as a percentage of their principal amount (excluding accrued interest). Any Tranche of Notes intended to be admitted to listing on the Official List of the UK Listing Authority and admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange will be so admitted to listing and trading upon submission to the UK Listing Authority and the London Stock Exchange of the relevant Pricing Supplement and any other information required by the UK Listing Authority and the London Stock Exchange, subject in each case to the issue of the relevant Notes. Prior to official listing and acceptance of Notes to trading, dealings will be permitted by the London Stock Exchange in accordance with its rules. Transactions will normally be effected for delivery on the third working day in London after the date of the transaction.

However, Notes may be issued pursuant to the Programme which will not be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by the UK Listing Authority or the London Stock Exchange or any other listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system or which will be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by such listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system as the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree.

- 2. Save as disclosed herein, since 31 December 2002, there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position nor any material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the Bank and its subsidiary undertakings (taken as a whole).
- 3. Neither the Bank nor any of the Bank's subsidiary undertakings is or has been involved in any legal or arbitration proceedings (nor so far as the Bank is aware are legal or arbitration proceedings pending or threatened against the Bank or any of its subsidiary undertakings) which may have or have had during the previous 12 months a significant effect on the financial position of the Bank and its subsidiary undertakings (taken as a whole).
- 4. KPMG Audit Plc Chartered Accountants has audited without qualification the Financial Statements contained in the Annual Report and Accounts of HSBC Bank plc for the financial years ended 31 December 2000, 2001 and 2002.
- 5. The establishment and continuation of the Programme was authorised by resolutions of a Committee of the Board of Directors of the Bank passed on 25 May 1994, 29 June 1995, 28 June 1996, 25 June 1997, 24 June 1998, 23 June 1999, 23 June 2000, 6 June 2001, 30 May 2002 and 29 May 2003.
- 6. Where any Subordinated Notes or Undated Subordinated Notes form part of the regulatory capital of the Bank, no repayment of such Notes will be made without the prior consent of the Financial Services Authority (or any successor authority in its function as the supervisor of authorised institutions).
- 7. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Each Pricing Supplement shall specify any other clearing system as shall have accepted the relevant Notes for clearance. The appropriate common code and the International Securities Identification Number in relation to the Notes of each Series will be set out in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The relevant Pricing Supplement shall specify any other clearing system as shall have accepted the relevant Notes for clearance together with any further appropriate information.
- 8. Settlement arrangements will be agreed between the Issuer, the relevant Dealer and the Principal Paying Agent or, as the case may be, the Registrar in relation to each Tranche of Notes.
- 9. Only in the case of Unlisted Notes, Definitive Notes may not in all circumstances be printed from engraved steel plates. If they are not to be so printed, a statement to that effect will be made in the relevant Pricing Supplement.
- 10. In relation to the Bank, any transfer of, or payment in respect of, a Note or Coupon involving the government of any country which is at the relevant time the subject of United Nations sanctions,

any person or body resident in, incorporated in or constituted under the laws of any such country or exercising public functions in any such country or any person or body controlled by any of the foregoing or by any person acting on behalf of the foregoing may be subject to restrictions pursuant to such sanctions.

- 11. For so long as Notes are capable of being issued under the Programme, the following documents may be inspected during normal business hours at the registered office of the Issuer:
  - (a) the constitutional documents of the Issuer;
  - (b) the Dealer Agreement;
  - (c) the Agency Agreement;
  - (d) the Trust Deed (including the form of Notes, Coupons, Talons and Receipts);
  - (e) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Issuer for the years ended 31 December 2001 and 31 December 2002, together with all other audited consolidated annual financial statements of the Issuer subsequent to 31 December 2002;
  - (f) the Information Memorandum and any document incorporated by reference therein prepared in relation to the Programme;
  - (g) any Pricing Supplement, save that a Pricing Supplement relating to an Unlisted Note will only be available for inspection by a holder of such Note and such holder must provide evidence satisfactory to the Issuer as to the identity of such holder; and
  - (h) in the case of any issue of Listed Notes subscribed pursuant to a subscription agreement, the subscription agreement (or equivalent document).
- 12. The Trust Deed provides that the Trustee may rely on certificates or reports from the Auditors (as defined in the Trust Deed) and/or any other expert in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed whether or not any such certificate or report or engagement letter or other document entered into by the Trustee and the Auditors or such other expert in connection therewith contains any limit on liability (monetary or otherwise) of the Auditors or such other expert.

# HEAD AND REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE ISSUER

HSBC Bank plc

8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ

### TRUSTEE

# The Law Debenture Trust Corporation p.l.c.

Fifth Floor 100 Wood Street London EC2V 7EX

# PRINCIPAL PAYING AGENT, REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT

**HSBC** Bank plc

Mariner House Pepys Street London EC3N 4DA

# AGENT BANK

**HSBC** Bank plc

Mariner House Pepys Street London EC3N 4DA

# **AUTHORISED ADVISOR**

**HSBC** Bank plc

8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ

# PROGRAMME ARRANGER AND DEALER

HSBC Bank ple

8 Canada Square London E14 5HQ

# LEGAL ADVISERS TO THE ISSUER

LEGAL ADVISERS TO THE TRUSTEE

As to English law

as to English law

Clifford Chance Limited Liability Partnership

200 Aldersgate Street London EC1A 4JJ Allen & Overy
One New Change
London EC4M 9QQ

# AUDITORS TO THE ISSUER

**KPMG** Audit Plc

1 Canada Square London E14 5AG